Decision-support for decommissioning offshore platforms.

EKE, E.C.

2023

The author of this thesis retains the right to be identified as such on any occasion in which content from this thesis is referenced or re-used. The licence under which this thesis is distributed applies to the text and any original images only – re-use of any third-party content must still be cleared with the original copyright holder.



This document was downloaded from https://openair.rgu.ac.uk



DECISION-SUPPORT FOR DECOMMISSIONING OFFSHORE PLATFORMS

EMMANUEL CHIBUDIKE EKE

DECISION-SUPPORT FOR DECOMMISSIONING OFFSHORE PLATFORMS

EMMANUEL CHIBUDIKE EKE

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the

requirements of

Robert Gordon University

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

September 2023

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My heartfelt gratitude goes to my principal supervisor, Dr Ibiye Iyalla, for patiently providing me with the support and guidance which facilitated the completion of this research. I am grateful to my secondary supervisors, Professor Radhakrishna Prabhu, and Dr Jesse Andrawus, for their insightful counsel and technical inputs to this work. Relatedly, I would like to thank the School of Engineering, RGU for awarding me a tuition-waver scholarship for this research project.

Words fail me to express my full appreciation to my loving wife Mrs Oluchi Eke, my parents, and my siblings for their immense support and encouragement which kept me going against all odds. And to my dear son, Tobechukwu for his cooperation.

This section would be incomplete if I failed to acknowledge Mr and Mrs Prince Okeke for being instrumental in the inception of this journey. I am also grateful for the invaluable support from my friends and colleagues including Professor Robert Byrd, Dr Yakubu Balogun, Dr Mutiu Adegboye, Dr Richard, Dr Maryam, Sam Awuku, Vinooth and many others too numerous to mention.

Above all, I am grateful to God whose grace enabled me to bring this great work to a successful end.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to the memory of my late sister Mrs Victoria Onyinyechi Okeke, who was called to eternity before the realization of a doctorate dream that she unwaveringly believed in.

ABSTRACT

An estimated 2,500 offshore decommissioning projects are expected to be completed between 2018 and 2040 with significant accompanying challenges.

In this research, a decision model for decommissioning offshore platforms is developed. The decommissioning decision model (DDM) aids logical determination of the optimal option for decommissioning a platform through a multicriteria decision analysis of the considered options with respect to safety, cost, environmental impact, technical feasibility, and public perception. It synthesizes information about a platform's features with expert opinion to identify the best option for decommissioning the platform from a list of available options. It also facilitates the progressive integration of historical data to replace subjective human opinion and improve the quality of decision-making as this becomes available.

A case-study approach was used to demonstrate the DDM's applicability with information from an industry survey of decommissioning practitioners. Five decommissioning options were considered for the case study platform, and these were evaluated with a hybrid of Likert scale and Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP). Using this technique, the optimal option for decommissioning the case study was determined with a 60% efficiency savings in time taken to complete the analysis as compared to the traditional AHP process. Results showed that partial removal is the preferred option for the case study, and the platform features with high relevance to options selection are substructure weight, water depth and age. Moreso, respondents from the North Sea were observed to be more averse to leaving platform materials in place as compared to people from Offshore USA, Africa, and Asian Seas. These findings were seen to agree with literature and industry practice through a comprehensive validation process. Thus, evidencing the DDM's flexibility and robustness and making a case for its industry adoption.

After its validation, the DDM's capability to support integration of historical data was investigated with the aid of a prediction model for estimating the costs of using different options for decommissioning offshore platforms. This

costing model was developed by applying machine learning regression to historical decommissioning cost data. The model predicts decommissioning options costs for five different scenarios with reasonable accuracy as indicated by an r-squared value of 0.935, implying that it is reliable for predicting decommissioning costs. It was used to predict decommissioning options costs for the case study. These costs were then integrated into the DDM to replace the input data for cost criterion as obtained from the survey.

The models developed in this research improve upon the existing works in decommissioning optimisation. Industry adoption of the decision model will result to significant reduction of time, resources and efforts spent in decision-making during decommissioning. By acting as an unbiased basis for justifying the choice of a decommissioning option for an offshore asset, the DDM mitigates the traditional conflict between stakeholders of decommissioning projects. The costing model aids early estimation of decommissioning costs for budgeting, asset trading and other preliminary cost evaluation purposes prior to detailed engineering cost estimation. Therefore, both models represent a significant contribution towards the advancement of the current offshore decommissioning practice.

Keywords: Decommissioning, Offshore platforms, AHP, Multicriteria decision analysis, Option selection, Decision model, Costing model, Machine learning.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOV	VLEDGEMENTS III
DEDICA	TIONIV
ABSTRA	стv
TABLE C	F CONTENTSVII
LIST OF	FIGURESXIV
LIST OF	TABLESXVIII
Chapter	1 : INTRODUCTION1
1.1.	Background 1
1.2.	Research Justification
1.3.	Aim and Objectives
1.4.	Research Context
1.5.	Ethical Considerations
1.6.	Thesis Structure and Organisation10
Chapter	2 : LITERATURE REVIEW13
2.1.	Offshore Structures13
2.1.1	. Types of Offshore Platforms 13
2.1	.1.1. Topsides15
2.1	.1.2. Substructure16
2.2.	Offshore Decommissioning Procedure18
2.3.	Decommissioning Regulations20
2.3.1	. International Maritime Organisation (IMO) Guidelines and Standards 20
2.3.2	. Oslo and Paris (OSPAR) Convention
2.3.3	. The United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) 23
2.4.	Decommissioning Options25
2.4.1	Complete Removal25

2.4.2. Partial Removal
2.4.3. Leave in Place
2.5. Review of Decommissioning Options Evaluation
2.6. Decommissioning Options Assessment Frameworks
2.6.1. Best Practical Environmental Option
2.6.2. Net Environmental Benefit Analysis
2.6.3. Comparative Assessment
2.7. Decision Criteria
2.7.1. Safety
2.7.2. Environmental Impact
2.7.3. Technical Feasibility
2.7.4. Public Perception
2.7.4.1. Management of Public Opinion During Decommissioning39
2.7.5. Cost
2.7.5.1. Existing Works in Decommissioning Cost Analysis41
2.8. Review of Approaches to Optimising Decommissioning Options
Evaluation
<i>2.8.1.</i> Quantitative Approaches
2.8.1.1. Ecosystem-Based Management Assessment
2.8.1.2. Building Information Model48
2.8.2. Mixed Approaches
2.8.2.1. Material and Energy Flow Analysis
2.8.2.2. Net Present Value Analysis and Weighted Evaluation49
2.8.2.3. Multi-Criteria Approval51
2.8.2.4. Multi-Attribute Utility Theory52
2.8.2.5. Analytic Hierarchy Process53
2.9 Survey Application to Offshore Decommissioning 58

2.10.	Multi-	Criteria Decision Analysis	59
2.10.	1. Ar	nalytic Hierarchy Process	60
2.1	0.1.1.	Application of AHP to Multicriteria Decision-Making Pr 63	oblems
2.1	.0.1.2.	Application of AHP to Offshore Decommissioning	64
2.11.	Summ	nary	67
Chapter	3 : RE	SEARCH METHODOLOGY	68
3.1.	Resea	rch Approach	68
3.2.	Resea	rch Design	69
3.3.	Resea	rch Methodology	72
3.3.1	. Case	e Study	74
3.3.2	. Surv	/ey	74
3.3	8.2.1.	Survey Questionnaire Design	74
3.3	3.2.2.	Distribution of Survey Questionnaire	78
3.3	3.2.3.	Pilot Survey	79
3.4.	Data A	Analysis Techniques	81
3.4.1	. AHP	Methodology	81
3.4.2	. Inte	gration of Likert Scale with AHP (Likert-AHP)	84
3.4.3	. Sens	sitivity Analysis	87
3.4.4	. Macł	nine Learning	88
3.4.5	. Data	Scaling	89
3.5.	Summ	nary	91
Chapter	4 : DE	VELOPMENT OF DECOMMISSIONING DECISION I	MODEL
•••••			92
4.1.	Gener	al Framework	92
4.2.	Detail	ed Design	93
4.2.1	. Phas	e I: Pre-Assessment	93

	4.2.2.	Pha	ase II: Data Gathering	95
	4.2.3.	Pha	ase III: Alternatives Evaluation	96
	4.2.4.	Pha	ase IV: Results Interpretation	97
4	.3.	Deco	mmissioning Decision Model	98
4	.4.	Bene	fits of the Decision Model	100
4	.5.	Sumr	mary	101
Cha	apter	5 : M	ODEL APPLICATION TO A CASE STUDY PLATFOR	M AND
PR	ESEN	ΓΑΤΙΟ	ON OF SURVEY RESULTS	102
5	.1.	Regio	onal Context of Case Study	102
	5.1.1.	Dec	commissioning in California, USA	102
5	.2.	Case	Study Platform Description	107
5	.3.	Deco	mmissioning Options Considered for Case Study	108
5	.4.	Appli	cation of Decommissioning Decision Model to Case Stud	dy.110
5	.5.	Prese	entation of Survey Results	114
	5.5.1.	Der	mographics	114
	5.5.2.	Dec	commissioning Options Evaluation for Case Study	117
	5.5	.2.1.	Hierarchy Structure for the Case Study	117
	5.5	.2.2.	Criteria Weighting	118
	5.5	.2.3.	Decommissioning Options Scoring	120
	5.5	.2.4.	Aggregation of Results and Ranking of Decommis	sioning
	Opt	ions f	or the Case Study	123
	5.5	.2.5.	Results Interpretation	125
	5.5.3.	Add	ditional Information	127
	5.5	.3.1.	Suggested Additional Sub-Criteria	127
	5.5	.3.2.	Platform Features Prioritisation	127
5	.6.	Sumr	mary	128

Chapter	6 : VALIDATION OF THE DEVELOPED DECOMMISSIONING
DECISIO	N MODEL 130
6.1.	Background to Model Validation130
6.2.	Adopted Techniques for Validating the Decommissioning Decision
Model	131
6.3.	Validation of Model Input Data by Sensitivity Analysis132
6.3.1.	Sensitivity to Safety Criterion132
6.3.2.	Sensitivity to Environmental Impact Criterion
6.3.3.	Sensitivity to Technical Feasibility Criterion134
6.3.4.	Sensitivity to Cost Criterion
6.3.5.	Sensitivity to Public Perception Criterion
6.3.6.	Summary of Sensitivity Analysis Results
6.4.	Validation of DDM Results by Comparison to Similar Studies in
Literatu	ıre138
6.4.1.	Comparison to TSB (2000) 143
6.4.2.	Comparison to Bernstein et al. (2010)144
6.4.3.	Comparison to Andrawus, Steel and Watson (2009)
6.4.4.	Comparison to UK Government Guidelines for Decommissioning 146
6.5.	Validation of DDM Logical Structure using Expert Opinion146
6.5.1.	Analysis of the DDM Logical Structure Validation Results 147
6.6.	Summary
Chapter	7 : MATHEMATICAL MODELLING APPLICATION TO
HISTORI	CAL DATA OF OFFSHORE DECOMMISSIONING
7.1.	Historical Data of Offshore Decommissioning151
7.2.	Mathematical Modelling152
7.3.	Modelling the Relationship Between Decommissioning Options Costs
and Pla	tform Features154

7.3.1. Modellii	Machine Learning Regression Analysis for Decommissioning Options Cost
7.3.2.	Cross Validation
7.4. [Decommissioning Cost Estimation and Analysis159
7.5. 0	Cost Analysis for Decommissioning Case Study Platform160
7.6. 9	Summary
Chapter 8	B : INTEGRATION OF DECOMMISSIONING COST DATA INTO
DEVELOP	ED DECISION MODEL 163
8.1. 1	Normalizing Existing Decommissioning Cost Data163
8.2. [Removal	Derivation of Other Decommissioning Options Costs from Complete Cost
8.3. N and Platf	Modelling the Relationship Between Decommissioning Options Costs form Features
8.3.1.	Developed Decommissioning Options Cost Models 171
8.3.2.	Performance Evaluation of Developed Machine Learning Models 171
8.3.2 Perfo	2.1. Graphical Evaluation of Machine Learning Regression Models' prmance using Cross-Plots
8.3.2 Mode	2.2. Quantitative Evaluation of Machine Learning Regression els' Performance using Accuracy Metrics
8.4. F	Predicting Decommissioning Options Costs for the Case Study using
the Cost	Ing Model
8.4.1. Study	Data Scaling of Forecasted Decommissioning Options Costs for the Case 186
8.5. 9	Summary
Chapter 9	: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 188
9.1. 0	Conclusion and Findings188
9.2. \	Wider Impact of Research190
9.3. (Critical Appraisal of Completed Work192

9.4. Recommendations for Future Research
REFERENCES197
APPENDICES
Appendix 1: Dataset for Derivation of the Features of the Case Study Platform from Features of Platforms in Pacific Outer Continental Shelf, California
Appendix 2: Questionnaire for Application of the Decommissioning Decision Model to Case Study Platform225
Appendix 3: Likert-AHP Calculations237
Appendix 4: Calculated Sub-Criteria Weights for the Case Study242
Appendix 5: Questionnaire for Validation of Decommissioning Decision Model Logical Structure243
Appendix 6: Decommissioning Options Costs for Platforms in Pacific Outer Continental Shelf, California245
Appendix 7: Python Script for Machine Learning Model Development from
Cost Data with Gradient Boosting Algorithm246
Appendix 8: Glossary248
Appendix 9: Publications250

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Worldwide distribution of major* offshore oil and gas structures.
(Sommer et al. 2019) 1
Figure 1.2: Typical stages in the life cycle of an oil and gas field (Adapted from
Lakhal et al. 2009)5
Figure 2.1: Types of offshore platforms (Adapted from Strukts 2012)14
Figure 2.2: Components of an offshore platform (Adapted from Rachain 2017)
Figure 2.3: Removal of the Welland platform topsides (Nixon 2019)16
Figure 2.4: Schematics of Murchison platform (Adapted from CNRI 2013) .18
Figure 2.5: Distribution of offshore installations in the OSPAR region (OSPAR
2019)22
Figure 2.6: Status of countries with respect to UNCLOS adoption (IOGP 2017)
Figure 2.7: Global public trust levels for different commercial sectors (Adapted
from Edelman Intelligence 2019)
Figure 2.8: Complete removal cost variation with depth for a platform
(Adapted from Byrd, Miller and Wiese 2014)43
Figure 2.9: Decommissioning options evaluation for Hidalgo platform
(Andrawus et al. 2009)50
Figure 2.10: Weights of decommissioning decision criteria and sub-criteria (Na
et al. 2017)53
Figure 2.11: Prevalence of the use of expert opinion in evaluating
decommissioning options57
Figure 2.12: AHP decision hierarchy structure (Adapted from Mu and Pereyra-
Rojas 2018)61
Figure 2.13: Modification of AHP hierarchy to incorporate decision sub-criteria.
Figure 2.14: Main documents and supporting studies for Murchison
decommissioning (CNRI 2012)66

Figure 3.2: Comparison of the number of required judgements for the
traditional AHP approach and the Likert-AHP approach86
Figure 3.3: Likert-AHP procedure
Figure 3.4: Workflow of supervised learning
Figure 4.1: Framework of Decommissioning Decision Model93
Figure 4.2: Pre-Assessment Phase of the DDM94
Figure 4.3: Data Gathering Phase of the DDM96
Figure 4.4: Alternatives Evaluation Phase of the DDM97
Figure 4.5: Results Interpretation Phase of the DDM98
Figure 4.6: Decommissioning Decision Model
Figure 5.1: Geographical location of the offshore oil and gas facilities in
california (MRS Environmental Inc 2019 p. 11)103
Figure 5.2: Size comparison of platform harmony with some of the world's
megastructures (Adapted from Mount and Voskanian 2005)106
Figure 5.3: Decommissioning options considered for the case study $\dots 109$
Figure 5.4: Illustration of decommissioning options considered for the case
study110
Figure 5.5: Demographics of survey participants showing the distribution of
Offshore region, Level of Education, Work Experience, Affiliation to
Decommissioning, and Specific Knowledge area115
Figure 5.6: Hierarchy structure of decommissioning option selection for the
case study117
Figure 5.7: Calculated weights of importance for the decision criteria $\dots 120$
Figure 5.8: Decommissioning options performance scores for safety,
environmental impact, technical feasibility, cost, and public perception
criterion121
Figure 5.9: Performance of decommissioning options with respect to each
decision criteria for the case study125
Figure 5.10: Ranking of decommissioning options for the case study $\dots 126$
Figure 6.1: Sensitivity of decommissioning options ranking to the weight of
safety criterion

Figure 6.2: Sensitivity of decommissioning options ranking to the weight of
environmental impact criterion133
Figure 6.3: Sensitivity of decommissioning options ranking to the weight of
technical feasibility criterion134
Figure 6.4: Sensitivity of decommissioning options ranking to the weight of
cost criterion
Figure 6.5: Sensitivity of options ranking to the weight of public perception
criterion136
Figure 6.6: Results from evaluating decommissioning options for the case
study (North Sea, n=45)
Figure 6.7: Results from evaluating decommissioning options for the case
study (Offshore USA, n=10)140
Figure 6.8: Results from evaluating decommissioning options for the case
study (Others, n=23)141
Figure 6.9: Decommissioning options ranking for case study based on location
of survey participants142
Figure 7.1: Adaptation of historical data into a decision support model 152
Figure 7.2: Input/Output variables relationship for decommissioning costing
model
Figure 7.3: Methodology for forecasting decommissioning costs for case study
platform from historical cost data161
Figure 8.1: Variations in costs of project phases for different decommissioning
options
Figure 8.2: Costs of decommissioning POCS platforms using different options.
Figure 8.3: Costs of decommissioning all POCS platforms using different
options
Figure 8.4: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS
platforms (decision tree regression)
Figure 8.5: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS
platforms (elastic net regression)

Figure 8.6: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS
platforms (gradient boost regression)175
Figure 8.7: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS
platforms (k-nearest neighbour regression)176
Figure 8.8: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS
platforms (LASSO regression)177
Figure 8.9: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS
platforms (multiple linear regression)178
Figure 8.10: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS
platforms (MARS regression)179
Figure 8.11: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model for POCS platforms
(random forest regression)180
Figure 8.12: Decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS platforms
(ridge regression)181
Figure 8.13: Decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS platforms
(support vector regression)182

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Offshore decommissioning legislations (Adapted from IOGP 2017)
Table 2.2: Main Decision Criteria and Sub-criteria used in Comparative
Assessment
Table 2.3: General safety concerns during decommissioning operations
(OGUK 2017)
Table 2.4: Platform Features used for cost estimation (Kaiser and Liu 2014)
Table 2.5: Existing approaches to optimising decommissioning options
evaluation55
Table 2.6: AHP Relative Importance Scale (Saaty and Vargas 2012)62
Table 3.1: Differences between deductive, inductive, and abductive research
approaches (Adapted from Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill 2020)68
Table 3.2: Research Methodology 73
Table 3.3: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for criteria and
sub-criteria weighting75
Table 3.4: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for
decommissioning options scoring76
Table 3.5: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for relevance
Table 3.5: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for relevancerating78
Table 3.5: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for relevanceratingTable 3.6: Assignment of Weights to Participants' years of work experience
Table 3.5: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for relevanceratingTable 3.6: Assignment of Weights to Participants' years of work experience
Table 3.5: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for relevanceratingTable 3.6: Assignment of Weights to Participants' years of work experience
Table 3.5: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for relevancerating
Table 3.5: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for relevancerating
Table 3.5: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for relevancerating
Table 3.5: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for relevancerating
Table 3.5: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for relevancerating.78Table 3.6: Assignment of Weights to Participants' years of work experience.78Table 3.7: Random Index values for different matrix sizes (Brunelli 2015).83Table 4.1: Possible decommissioning options for offshore structures locatedin the UKCS (Adapted from BEIS 2018).95Table 5.1: Features of Case Study Platform108Table 5.2: Safety Sub-Criteria.111Table 5.3: Environmental Impact Sub-Criteria.112
Table 3.5: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for relevancerating
Table 3.5: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for relevancerating

Table 5.7: Judgement Matrix for Criteria Weighting119
Table 5.8: Evaluation of Decommissioning Options for Case Study Platform
Table 5.9: Additional Sub-Criteria Suggested by Survey Participants127
Table 5.10: Ranking of Platform Features with respect to Relevance to
Decommissioning Decision-making128
Table 6.1: Sensitivity Analysis of Model Results to Decision Criteria 137
Table 6.2: Decision Criteria Ranking for Case Study Platform Based on
Weights of Importance142
Table 6.3: Decision Criteria Weights Ranking (Adapted from TSB 2000) \dots 143
Table 6.4: Decommissioning Options Ranking (Adapted from TSB 2000).143
Table 6.5: Decision Criteria Weights Ranking for Hidalgo (Adapted Andrawus,
Steel and Watson 2009)144
Table 6.6: Decommissioning Options Ranking for Platform Hidalgo (Adapted
from Andrawus, Steel and Watson 2009)145
Table 6.7: Profile of Validation Experts 147
Table 6.8: Summary of responses to DDM validation questions by Experts
, , , , , , ,
YYY
148Table 8.1: Derrick Mobilization and Demobilization Costs for HLVs
148Table 8.1: Derrick Mobilization and Demobilization Costs for HLVs
148Table 8.1: Derrick Mobilization and Demobilization Costs for HLVs
148Table 8.1: Derrick Mobilization and Demobilization Costs for HLVs
148Table 8.1: Derrick Mobilization and Demobilization Costs for HLVs
148Table 8.1: Derrick Mobilization and Demobilization Costs for HLVs

Chapter 1 : INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background

Offshore platforms that are used for petroleum exploration play a crucial role in meeting the global energy need. They are situated in locations across fiftythree countries worldwide as shown in Figure 1.1 and have an average life cycle ranging between 20-50 years (Statista 2018; Bernstein 2015). After this operational period and barring any life-extension strategy, the platform requires to be decommissioned.



* Numbers exclude pipelines and smaller subsea structures

Figure 1.1: Worldwide distribution of major* offshore oil and gas structures. (Sommer et al. 2019)

The decommissioning sequence comprises of all activities conducted from the cessation of production from the platform through to its final disposal. This process is more complex and capital-intensive for offshore platforms as compared to their onshore counterparts and its planning can take over two years.

The concept of decommissioning is broad and multi-faceted. Fam et al. (2018) performed an extensive review of decommissioning in several countries and pooled the findings together to describe decommissioning as a process which

occurs in the final stage of the life cycle of an offshore structure, and entails closing the structure through methods which give due consideration to monetary costs, convenience to humans and wellbeing of the environment. In addition, Shen et al. (2017) explained that decommissioning is the process of planning, gaining approval, and implementing the removal, disposal, or reuse of an offshore hydrocarbon facility when its use is no longer beneficial. Decommissioning has also been described as a complex undertaking by the operator of an offshore hydrocarbon structure which involves planning and implementing the procedure for dealing with disused structure (Na et al. 2017). These perspectives on decommissioning provide insight to several aspects of the process including its timing, justification, and purpose.

Decommissioning can be defined as a process which entails all activities carried out at the end of the active lifetime of a platform, with the intent of remediating incurred adverse consequences, and preventing potential unwanted impacts which might arise from the operational use of the platform.

Offshore decommissioning is a dynamic and rapidly evolving aspect of the petroleum industry with varying legislations across different offshore regions. In the U.S. state of California for example, the regulations requiring the removal of all parts of offshore production facilities alongside any associated infrastructure has been relaxed to allow for reuse for other purposes after topsides removal (Bressler and Bernstein 2015). This contrasts with the more stringent regulations in the UK where it is rare to find an offshore platform that has been decommissioned by being converted to a different use (OGUK 2017). In Malaysia, the government has picked interest in reefing alternative for offshore platforms following the successful toppling of the BARAM-8 platform to create an artificial reef (Cheng et al. 2017). Bressler and Bernstein (2015) attributed the variations in decommissioning regulations to technological advances in aspects such as cutting and lifting capacity of machinery, but this has also been demonstrated to be strongly influenced by the attitude of the public (Jørgensen 2012). Moreso, the potential adverse impacts of decommissioning offshore platforms tend to be more severe than those of their onshore counterparts (Hall, João. and Knapp 2020).

2

According to International Energy Agency, IEA (2018), there has been a significant increase in global decommissioning activity levels. Factors driving this trend include the general drop in oil price and technological advancements (Palandro and Aziz 2018).

In the Gulf of Mexico, there has been a rapid increase in decommissioning activity such that, as of 2018, about 40% of all decommissioning in the region have taken place in the last ten years, and at rates which far surpass that of platform installation (Kaiser and Narra 2018). This mature basin in which production operations began in 1947, had 108 offshore structures decommissioned in 2017 whereas only one structure was installed in the same period (Kaiser and Narra 2018). In California alone, 27 offshore platforms are projected to require decommissioning before 2030 (Cantle and Bernstein 2015).

Another location experiencing a spike in decommissioning activities is the North Sea, a mature basin with an estimate of about 1,300 offshore platforms and a history of offshore exploration that dates to the early 1960s (OSPAR 2019). For example, an excess of six hundred decommissioning projects were estimated to have been completed in this location between 2016 and 2021 (Offshore Engineer 2016). The decommissioning-related financial burden to be borne by field operators and government in the UK is estimated to be approximately £40 billion by 2040 (Murray et al. 2018). Similarly, the estimated cost of decommissioning all the existing offshore assets in the UK Continental Shelf alone is currently estimated to be £51 billion (OGA 2019).

The IEA report quoted earlier forecasts that there will be over 2,500 offshore decommissioning projects between 2018 and 2040 as production platforms approach the end of their operational lifetimes. Furthermore, the nature of these projects is going to become increasingly complex, shifting from the conventional shallow water steel structures to larger and more technically challenging platforms in deeper water. This translates to higher costs especially as these diverse projects involve platforms which have individual unique characteristics (Kaiser and Narra 2018).

3

It is almost inevitable that the petroleum industry will be adversely affected by the offshore decommissioning challenge, especially in lieu of the exigent nature of this challenge. The situation is further complicated by several factors such as the rising concerns for environmental preservation, complexity and uniqueness of each project, high attendant financial burden, and stringent regulatory regimes. Indeed, a significant proportion of the global active offshore structures are either operating beyond or approaching the end of their design life (Ars and Rios 2017).

A report by IHS Markit predicts that the global yearly cost expended on decommissioning projects will increase from approximately \$2.4 billion in 2015, to \$13 billion per year by 2040, an increase of over 500% (Offshore Engineer 2016). The report also forecasts about two thousand offshore decommissioning projects between 2021 and 2040 with the total expenditure estimated at \$210 billion.

Despite being capital-intensive, decommissioning projects deliver little or no return on investment as compared to other phases of an oil and gas field life cycle as shown in Figure 1.2. The figure shows the typical profitability of distinct phases of the lifecycle of a hydrocarbon asset. It indicates that the profitability of the field peaks after development but falls to zero at the decommissioning stage which occurs at the end of the lifecycle.



Figure 1.2: Typical stages in the life cycle of an oil and gas field (Adapted from Lakhal et al. 2009)

As stated in Offshore Engineer (2016) "*The effective decommissioning of offshore platforms, subsea wells, and related assets is one of the most important business challenges facing the oil and gas industry today and, in the future*". The huge costs and apparent adverse consequences that accompany decommissioning projects necessitate that these projects be optimised or executed as effectively as possible. Thus, there is a pressing need for innovations and tools to optimise decommissioning projects by improving the efficiency of carrying out these projects, and consequently driving cost savings.

1.2. Research Justification

There are several options for decommissioning a platform and using a suboptimal option for a decommissioning project can result to adverse consequences. Potential victims of these consequences include the asset owners (monetary loss, physical harm to employees, and reputational damage), environment (pollution, loss of fish stocks and marine communities,

climate change), and public (loss of recreational site, tax, impairment to trawling and other fishing activities, lower navigational access). Thereby making decommissioning option selection a high-stake decision. This decision is often the prerogative of asset owners, although not exclusively, as external entities such as the government and the public are important stakeholders of the project. The government is responsible for approving the selected decommissioning option and this often requires that the asset owner can evidence that the option selection followed a thoroughly scientific and logical assessment process. The public typically expects return to a clear seabed after operations and have the potential to push back on even government-approved decisions if they perceive that the decision-making process is flawed (Owen and Rice 1999). Therefore, a "robust and transparent decision-making process is essential in developing public trust and acceptance of any decommissioning solution that leaves materials in situ." (Nuffel et al. 2022).

Platform decommissioning option selection represents a complex decisionmaking problem due to the existence of several decommissioning options and severe consequences that can arise from using a suboptimal decommissioning option for a project (Andrawus et al 2009; Guevara 1998). Hence, due diligence by project stakeholders in identifying a decommissioning option which results in the best outcome is important. This typically entails complex trade-offs between specified decision criteria to identify an option likely to result in the overall most positive outcome.

The challenge in dealing with such a multi-criteria problem arises primarily because the decision criteria often conflict with each other (Jørgensen 2012; Wilkinson et al. 2016; Shaw, Seares and Newman 2018). For example, the safest option might be one with the worst environmental impact or the cheapest option can also have a lot of associated safety risks. In addition, care must be taken to account for all influencing factors while arriving at a decision as an inadequate criteria/sub-criteria scope will likely result to backlashes from certain stakeholder groups and correcting these can be either expensive or impossible. For example, Shell suffered reputational damage during the Brent Spar controversy and eventually had to dismantle the Brent

6

platform on land, resulting to an additional cost in the range of £20M to £80M (Owen and Rice 1999). The company appeared to have underestimated the strength of public perception when it decided that deep-sea disposal was the best option for decommissioning the structure after scientific studies (Jørgensen 2012). This highlights the need for a decision support tool in the form of a decision model which eases the complexities of decommissioning decision-making through a logical process. A decision model comprises a network of interconnected decisions, information and knowledge which represents a repeatable decision-making approach. It supports effective decision-making by providing a way to "visualize the sequences of events that can occur following alternative decisions or actions in a logical framework, as well as the outcomes associated with each possible pathway" (Kuntz et al. 2013).

Options selection has been identified as one of the key decision-making problems encountered when decommissioning an offshore platform, alongside of well abandonment technique and selection subsea structure decommissioning methodology (TSB 2016a; Vrålstad et al. 2019; Vidal et al 2022). Gourvenec (2018) suggests that the solution to this problem is likely to exist in the form of a consistent and reusable procedure for collecting and synthesizing decommissioning data in a streamlined manner and using a transdisciplinary approach. Accurate cost estimation is also crucial to the success of a decommissioning project and has a large bearing on the option that will be adopted. Resolving the current challenges with decommissioning project costing requires the combination of existing knowledge with mathematical techniques through bespoke cost estimation approaches (Ahiaga-Dagbui et al. 2017). Therefore, development of decision support for addressing these two issues translates to a significant contribution towards decommissioning projects optimisation.

1.3. Aim and Objectives

This research aims to develop decision support for assisting decision-makers to determine the best available option for decommissioning their offshore platform. To achieve this aim, the specific objectives are as follows:

- i. To develop a decision model for identifying the best decommissioning option for an offshore platform with the aid of multicriteria decision analysis.
- ii. To investigate the applicability of the developed decision model by using it to evaluate decommissioning options for a case study platform.
- iii. To investigate the validity of the developed decision model and results obtained from its application to the case study platform.
- iv. To develop a decommissioning options costing model and integrate this into decommissioning decision-making.

1.4. Research Context

Decommissioning projects, just like every other project, comprises of a planning and an execution stage. These can be optimised using two main approaches, namely the planning-focused approach and execution-focused approach. The execution-focused approach to decommissioning optimisation entails seeking out innovative ideas to improve the coordination of human resources and equipment during decommissioning. Key considerations when taking this approach include effective personnel safety measures, efficient scheduling of activities, waste management, environmental friendliness of workflow and technological advancements (Bemment 2001; Decom North Sea 2014; ABB 2015; Invernizzi et al. 2018; Hall, João and Knapp 2020).

The planning-focused approach, on the other hand, ensures that high-quality decisions and choices are made while planning at the early stages of the decommissioning project management. Optimised decision-making during planning is tantamount to the success of decommissioning projects. Key

considerations of the planning-focused approach include budgeting, contractor (and equipment) selection, determination of project timeline, decommissioning option selection, and selection of a decommissioning methodology (Ferris and Tjea 2015; McCann, Henrion and Bernstein 2016; TSB 2016a; Cheng et al. 2017; Martins et al. 2020). This research adopts a planning-focused approach to decommissioning optimisation in that it is directed towards the decision-making stage of decommissioning project management.

In terms of scope, fixed steel jacket-type platforms were adopted as the primary focus of this research. This platform type comprises over 80% of the global offshore platforms and there is more flexibility around their decommissioning options as compared to other platform types (Sarhan and Raslan 2021; OGUK 2022). In considering the platform, the analysis focuses on the topsides and substructure as these are the largest components of the structure. Decommissioning options for fixed steel jacket-type platforms include complete/partial removal to land/sea, toppling in place as artificial reef, reuse in another location, and leaving in place and repurposing for alternative use.

1.5. Ethical Considerations

Ethical considerations are an essential aspect of any research which involves participants such as this research. According to Resnik (2015), ethics can be understood from two perspectives; first as the norms for conduct that distinguish between acceptable and unacceptable behaviour but also as a method, procedure, or perspective for deciding how to act and for analysing complex problems and issues.

Bell, Harley and Bryman (2022) classified ethical principles into harm to participants, lack of informed consent, invasion of privacy, and deception. These issues require consideration in every research but are particularly crucial when human beings or animals are the subject of the research and when personal data is involved because usage of information of such nature must comply with data protection regulations (Voigt and von dem Bussche 2017). However, the subject of this research is a theoretical case study platform and although expert opinion is obtained from individuals via the survey, no personal data were collected. Hence there were no attendant privacy or confidentiality issues.

The only ethical issue that was encountered during the conduction of this research related to the handling of information obtained from the online survey of decommissioning experts. The survey was structured such that the responses were anonymous, and explicit consent of the respondents was first obtained to ensure that no confidentiality rights were infringed upon. Furthermore, the questionnaire was hosted on a European Union General Data Protection Regulation compliant online platform with adequate protective measures taken to ensure privacy when analysing the data.

Lastly, precaution was applied in designing the survey questionnaire in line with the following guidelines from ALHababi (2015).

- i. Participants must understand the goal of the research, purpose of the research, the nature of their involvement, length of time required, and what will be done with their responses.
- ii. Participants must be explicitly informed that involvement is voluntary, and they can withdraw at any time.
- iii. Privacy and confidentiality of data and participants must not be violated.
- iv. Participants must not be deceived, and information must either be explicitly stated or implicitly defined.
- v. The location of the research must be explicitly stated.

1.6. Thesis Structure and Organisation

This thesis report presents all aspects of the research conducted towards the achievement of the research objectives in ten chapters.

CHAPTER ONE: This chapter provides an overview of offshore decommissioning and justification for the research. It also highlights the research aim and objectives. Furthermore, it delineates the research by

outlining its context and limitations. The chapter concludes by discussing the ethical considerations for the research.

CHAPTER TWO: The literature review chapter presents a detailed discussion of the current decommissioning practice in the offshore industry. It begins broadly by describing offshore structures and their components before narrowing into decommissioning of offshore platforms with particular emphasis on procedure, existing regulations, and options for carrying out such projects. This is followed by a critical review of existing works in evaluation of decommissioning options to identify the decision criteria to be adopted for options evaluation and establish the foundation for developing a decommissioning decision model. Finally, the application of a multi-criteria decision analysis technique called the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) to offshore decommissioning is discussed.

CHAPTER THREE: Following the findings from Chapter two, this chapter outlines the plan and procedure for achieving the research aim and objectives. It presents the research approach, design, strategies, and data analysis techniques used in this work and the justification for their adoption.

CHAPTER FOUR: This chapter describes the development of the decommissioning decision model (DDM) using the methodology presented in Chapter three. It presents the model's general framework and detailed design for each of its four constituent phases. Lastly, the benefits envisaged from industry adoption of the decision model are highlighted.

CHAPTER FIVE: This chapter introduces the theoretical case study used in this research to demonstrate the applicability of the DDM developed in Chapter four. It examines the regional context of the case study platform and provides information about the platform's physical features. The chapter also presents the application of the DDM to the case study and the main results from evaluating decommissioning options for the case study platform using information from a survey of decommissioning practitioners as input. It concludes by discussing the use of the survey to prioritise and rank platform features in order of their relevance to decommissioning options selection.

11

CHAPTER SIX: This chapter investigates the validity of the DDM and results of its application to the case study as presented in Chapter five. The validation specifically examines the survey input data, model logical structure, and accuracy of model results. The outcomes of these endeavours are also discussed.

CHAPTER SEVEN: This chapter describes the integration of historical data into decommissioning decision-making. It discusses the use of mathematical modelling to relate decommissioning options costs to the prioritised platform features identified from the survey as reported in Chapter five. The chapter concludes by presenting a methodology for decommissioning options costing from historical data.

CHAPTER EIGHT: This chapter presents the development of a decommissioning options costing model from machine learning, secondary decommissioning cost data and prioritized platform features. After its development, the model is used to forecast the decommissioning options costs for the case study platform. This is then integrated into the DDM in replacement of subjective survey input data to improve accuracy.

CHAPTER NINE: This chapter presents the research conclusion and its wider impacts along with recommendations for future work.

Chapter 2 : LITERATURE REVIEW

Existing literature pertinent to formulating the research aim and objectives are reviewed in this chapter.

The chapter begins by describing offshore structures and the regulations and procedure for their removal. This is followed by a discussion of the options for decommissioning offshore platforms. Subsequently, the applicable decision criteria and key desirable capabilities of a fit-for-purpose decommissioning decision model is established from critically reviewing existing works in the domain of decommissioning options evaluation. The last section introduces a Multicriteria Decision Analysis technique called the Analytic Hierarchy Process and highlights its suitability for decommissioning decision-making.

2.1. Offshore Structures

An offshore structure or platform is a large marine facility with components which enable the production, processing, and storage of petroleum resources from reservoirs beneath the seabed. The main material composition of offshore structures is steel, though some older platforms have a base structure made of reinforced concrete. These structures are globally distributed. Since 1947, an excess of 7,500 platforms have been installed in several offshore locations across fifty-three countries and in water depths up to 1,850 meters (Manjunatha, Sathish and Sahana 2016; Statista 2018). Although the function, size, and configuration of these structures vary widely, and no general descriptions can encompass all platform types, most comprise of two major components namely topsides or deck, and substructure.

2.1.1. Types of Offshore Platforms

There are different types of offshore platforms as shown in Figure 2.1 and these are broadly classified as fixed or mobile depending on their mobility when in use (Bull and Love 2019). However, this research focuses on the decommissioning of fixed platforms because their removal presents the greatest difficulty, and they constitute most offshore installations in the world (Decom North Sea 2014).



Figure 2.1: Types of offshore platforms (Adapted from Strukts 2012)

Fixed platforms are further sub-divided into fixed steel jacket platform and concrete gravity-based platforms depending on the material composition of their substructure or section which is anchored to the seabed (Lawrence and Fernandes 2022). Steel jacket platforms are drilled into the seabed using piles while gravity-based platforms rest on the seabed and are held in place by the weight of the structure.

The types of fixed platform and their main components, the topsides, and the substructure, are illustrated in Figure 2.2. These components are further discussed below.





2.1.1.1. Topsides

Topsides comprise of all facilities which sit on the substructure of the platform and above the water level including the living quarters for accommodating rig personnel and the equipment used for drilling and processing hydrocarbon from the reservoir. It is made up of prefabricated modules which are assembled on either land or sea depending on the available offshore lifting capability.

The topsides of most offshore platforms weigh between 1,000 to 30,000 tonnes and their removal during decommissioning is a complex operation as shown in Figure 2.3. Nevertheless, this is a compulsory requirement in most offshore regions with well-defined decommissioning guidelines including the North Sea and Gulf of Mexico (Fam et al. 2018). The North-West Hutton topsides, which was one of the largest in the North Sea, weighed about 20,000 tonnes as at the time of its decommissioning (Jee 2014).





2.1.1.2. Substructure

Substructure refers to the component that directly supports the topsides of an offshore platform. The design of a substructure is dependent on several factors including the environmental condition of its target location, water depth, capacity of the topsides it is to support, average sea wave heights, expected life span (Chandrasekaran 2018). The substructure of a fixed offshore platform can be classified as either concrete gravity based or steeljacket type depending on the nature of its constituent material.

Concrete Gravity Base (CGB) structures are large, reinforced structures that have concrete as the main make-up material and rest firmly of the ocean floor primarily due to their own weight. The decommissioning of this platform component poses a greater challenge than that of their steel jacket counterpart due to their massive weights. Difficulties encountered in such decommissioning projects are often due to structural uncertainties, buoyancy, and manner of structural disintegration during removal operation.
Removal of CGB structures during decommissioning is not a compulsory regulatory requirement in some regions. The Oslo and Paris (OSPAR) regulation which applies to the North Sea region specifies that operators can apply for a derogation case during the decommissioning of gravity-based structures. The Maureen and Frigg platforms which were decommissioned in year 2000 and 2003 respectively are examples of recent decommissioning projects involving concrete gravity-based structures. In both cases, the platforms were left in place after removal of all toxic substances (Broughton, Davies and Green 2004).

Fixed-steel jackets primarily consist of a lattice with steel circular hollow sections which are securely welded together and rigidly fixed to the ground with the aid of steel piles. This platform component rests on the ocean floor and extends to 10-20 feet (3.1-6.2 metres) above the water surface. It comprises of open pipe columns, or legs, interconnected by tubular bracing members, which make the jacket a rigid space frame structure able to support the weight of the topsides.

Their sizes and weights vary depending on the water depth and the amount of deck work area required, however they are typically fabricated onshore in one piece and transported on a barge offshore, where they are installed. During jacket installation, tubular pilings are inserted through the legs of the jacket and driven into the ocean floor 200-400 feet (61-122 meters) to support the weight of the platform and resist the horizontal forces caused by current, wind, and waves. These pilings are connected to the jacket with a welded connection at the top of the jacket legs. Conductors extending from the deck are also installed through guides in the jacket and this component houses the wells that are drilled and completed to produce oil and gas from the underground reservoir.

A substantial proportion of global offshore structures have a steel jacket base (OGUK 2018; Sarhan and Raslan 2021) with about 50% of all offshore platforms in the North Sea belonging to this category (ABB 2015). Figure 2.4 is an illustration of the Murchison jacket, the heaviest decommissioned steel

jacket in the world to date with a weight of 27,600 tonnes and height of 166 meters above the seabed.



Figure 2.4: Schematics of Murchison platform (Adapted from CNRI 2013)

The decommissioning of offshore platforms is a major operation which can span from 2 years for smaller structures up to 15 years for much larger structures in deep-water. This large scale of decommissioning projects necessitates that adequate care is taken to follow the correct procedure in their execution.

2.2. Offshore Decommissioning Procedure

The procedure for decommissioning offshore platforms can vary across projects depending on the platform's unique characteristics and the governing legislative framework amongst other factors (Byrd, Miller and Wiese 2014).

Notwithstanding these variations which exist in terms of scale, scope, and complexity, decommissioning projects follow a similar procedure.

In general, the major stages of any decommissioning project can be summarised from (Byrd, Miller and Wiese 2014; Saeed 2016; Fam et al. 2018; OGUK 2022) and include

- i. Initial analysis and planning
- ii. Regulatory approval
- iii. Cessation of production
- iv. Well plugging and abandonment
- v. Platform preparation
- vi. Pipeline abandonment
- vii. Components' removal
- viii. Site clearance and remediation
- ix. Post decommissioning monitoring.

The nature of the last four stages depends on the decommissioning option selected for executing the project. Thus, adequate planning and documentation is required for the entire process. This is achieved using a decommissioning program; a document which details the field operator's intended project plan for decommissioning a platform and is submitted to the regulatory body for approval 2-5 years before the commencement of decommissioning operations (Bureau Veritas 2018).

Additionally, the selected option for decommissioning a fixed-steel jacket must be approved by the applicable regulatory regime in the location where the platform is situated before it can be used for executing the project. Thus, it is imperative to understand the nature of government regulations that are relevant to offshore decommissioning projects.

2.3. Decommissioning Regulations

There are a wide range of national, regional, and global legislations that govern the decommissioning of offshore structures as shown in Table 2.1. Among these are fifteen regional conventions that apply to the environmental protection aspect of offshore decommissioning of which the Oslo and Paris Convention (OSPAR) is the convention overseeing the protection of the marine environment in the North Sea region (Saeed 2016).

Global	Regional	National
United Nations	OSPAR Convention	United Kingdom
Convention on the Law		Petroleum Act, Energy
of the Sea		Act, etc.
London Convention and	Helsinki Convention	United States of America
Protocol		National Fishing
		Enhancement Act
International Maritime	Bucharest Convention	Norway Petroleum
Organisation Guidelines		Activities Act, Pollution
		Control Act, etc.
Geneva Convention on	Barcelona Convention	etc.
the Continental Shelf		
	Abidjan Convention	
	etc.	

Table 2.1: Offshore decommissioning legislations (Adapted from IOGP 2017)

The reader is referred to IOGP (2017) for further details of the relevant decommissioning legislations as this information is outside the remit of this research. Nonetheless, a brief explanation of some of these regulations are provided below.

2.3.1. International Maritime Organisation (IMO) Guidelines and Standards

The IMO global standards were established in 1989 and require complete removal of all offshore structures installed at shallow water depth (<100 meters) and having a substructure weighing below 4,000 tonnes (Al-Ghuribi et al. 2016). Partial removal is permitted for heavier structures in greater depths with the condition that not less than 55 meters of clear water is

provided, and the site is clearly marked to avoid potential adverse interference with navigation (Fam et al. 2018). The guidelines also specify that structures can remain on the sea, if permitted by the State, depending on the technical feasibility, potential environmental impact, cost, risks, and potential for reuse associated with its decommissioning, as determined from a case-by-case evaluation (Chandler et al. 2017).

2.3.2. Oslo and Paris (OSPAR) Convention

The OSPAR convention was established in 1992 as a merger between the Oslo Convention for the Prevention of Marine Dumping from Ships and Aircraft and the Paris Convention on Prevention of Marine Pollution from Land-based Sources (Saeed 2016). It came into force in 1998 and covers fifteen European countries including the United Kingdom and a maritime area containing about 1,400 offshore installations as shown in Figure 2.5. This convention serves as the framework for protecting and conserving the North-East Atlantic which includes the North Sea (Enright and Boteler 2020).



Figure 2.5: Distribution of offshore installations in the OSPAR region (OSPAR 2019)

In July 1998, the OSPAR Decision 98/3 act which bans the disposal of offshore structures at sea was adopted by OSPAR member countries (OSPAR 1998). Decision 98/3 is generally thought to have been shaped by the Brent Spar incident of 1995 in which Shell was prevented by an environmental activist group from decommissioning a platform with deep sea disposal option even though the decommissioning plan had been approved by the UK government (Lau 2018).

The act specifies that

- i. The topsides of all installations must be returned to shore.
- All steel installations with a jacket weight less than 10,000 tonnes in air must be completely removed for re-use, recycling, or final disposal on land.

Individual countries can decide to be more stringent in their decommissioning legislation than the regional legislations to which they are a party. For example, the UK government stipulates that toppling and dumping of offshore installations is prohibited in its waters even though Decision 98/3 allows the disposal of concrete installations at a licensed deep-water site (BEIS 2018).

From the above, it can be deduced that regulatory requirements are structured to ensure that operators make dedicated efforts to properly decommission their offshore facilities. McCann, Henrion and Bernstein (2016) observed that regulatory requirements encapsulate a host of issues including 'potential residual risk to animals and ecological processes from remaining debris; potential interference with natural ecosystem processes and potential risk of long-term pollution'.

2.3.3. The United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS)

The United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) is an international treaty which was adopted in 1982 and came into force in November 1994 (Nordquist 2011). It is a widely accepted legislation which specifies the rights and responsibilities of countries in relation to their use of

water bodies, and institutes guidelines for responsible exploration and management of natural resources in the marine environment (IOGP 2017). UNCLOS is currently ratified by 167 United Nations member states and the European Union as shown in Figure 2.6.



Non-members (did not sign)

Figure 2.6: Status of countries with respect to UNCLOS adoption (IOGP 2017)

UNCLOS is the first legislation to make provision for leaving some part of the structure behind on decommissioning (Fam et al. 2018). Article 60(3) of the treaty addresses the decommissioning of disused offshore structures without specifying their complete removal and mandates appropriate publicity on details of any incompletely removed structures, thus failing to impose an absolute obligation to remove offshore structures and consequently establishing the possibility of partial removal (IOGP 2017; Trevisanut 2020). The article also makes it compulsory for participating countries to comply with generally accepted decommissioning standards such as the IMO Guidelines which were originally soft laws (Klabbers 2017; Fam et al. 2018). This was

achieved by explicitly specifying that these standards are to govern decommissioning operations in countries that are a party to UNCLOS.

There is no mention of pipelines or cables removal in UNCLOS but article 210 of the legislation accentuates protection and preservation of the marine environment by requiring countries to prevent, reduce and control pollution of the marine environment which results from dumping (IOGP 2017; Fam et al. 2018).

Having explored decommissioning regulations that oversee decommissioning projects, the different decommissioning options for executing these projects will be discussed in the subsequent section.

2.4. Decommissioning Options

The availability and acceptability of a decommissioning option depends on the condition and location of the offshore platform and applicable legislation (Truchon et al. 2015). Some characteristics of a platform that can be used to infer its condition include the type of construction, size, structural integrity, and distance to shore (APPEA 2016).

Several options exist for decommissioning an offshore platform, but these can broadly be grouped into three main options namely leave in place, partial removal, and complete removal.

2.4.1. Complete Removal

Complete removal entails the entire removal of the offshore structure and remediation of the disturbed site. This is the default decommissioning option in regions such as the North Sea where the prevalent view is that complete removal of the platform will result to minimal negative impact on the marine environment and allow the ecosystem to return to its original conditions (Sommer et al. 2019). It is popularly accepted as the decommissioning option that best mitigates environmental and safety risks (Fowler et al. 2014; Al-Ghuribi et al. 2016). This notion is captured in the precautionary principle which mandatorily requires, as much as is reasonably possible, the cleaning

up of the ocean after all human activities (McCann, Henrion and Bernstein 2016).

However, Fowler et al. (2018) notes that regulations that mandatorily require structure removal usually exist only as a legacy of past policy and have been a historical subject of conflict. There are scenarios where regaining the previous condition is impossible or not preferable. For such cases, removal of platforms may result to the loss of biological species and associated ecosystem and functions, thus having a detrimental impact on the environment (Lusseau, Paterson and Neilson 2016). Furthermore, complete platform removal is likely to always be the most financially expensive option and involves industrial activities which can cause environmental disturbance, generate substantial atmospheric emission of non-eco-friendly gases such as carbon, and result to loss of fish stocks (Fowler et al. 2014; Cantle and Bernstein 2015).

2.4.2. Partial Removal

Partial removal involves dismantling the installation and leaving some of the base matter in place. For regions under the IMO regulation, the part of the structure left in place must be such as to allow for at least 55 meters of clear water in order not to jeopardise the safety of other sea users. The removal of offshore platforms is usually a complex engineering activity due to their weight and size. Therefore, operators might opt to settle for this option due to technical difficulties and huge associated costs of complete removal (Chandler et al. 2017; Fam et al. 2018).

McCann et al. (2017) analysed decommissioning options for Platform Harmony in the GOM and their results indicated that partial removal is better than complete removal if assessed only based on cost and environmental impact. The authors concluded that the choice between complete and partial removal is primarily dependent on how much importance the governing legislation places on strict compliance to lease agreement as compared to financial and environmental implication of the operation.

2.4.3. Leave in Place

Leaving the platform in place is a decommissioning option which is often permissible in areas where there is considerable emphasis on conserving the marine environment. This option usually entails removal of the topsides and installation of navigational aids which is maintained for as long as the structure remains in place. For locations with calm water conditions, the components of the platform can act as an artificial reef and support entire ecosystems of living organisms (Macreadie, Fowler and Booth 2011). An offshore platform can also be left in place for the purpose of acting as a haven for threatened species, feeding site for predators, and breeding site for fish biomass including overfished species such as Sebastes paucispinis (Claisse et al. 2014; Coolen 2017; Fowler et al. 2018). Hence, this option is permissible in such regions as the Gulf of Mexico where mechanisms exist through which platforms serve as valuable ecological habitats that support localised food webs (Truchon et al. 2015). However, there might be stipulated maintenance and asset integrity requirements for platforms decommissioned using this option to mitigate any envisaged negative impacts.

Furthermore, the platform can be adapted to serve a different purpose depending on its condition. Several alternative uses of disused offshore structures have been proposed such as

- Renewable energy hub for power generation from wind, wave, and/or solar energy
- Hub for space exploration
- Site for aquaculture projects
- Site for CO₂ sequestration or gas storage
- Prison or Military training facility.
- Recreational facility such as hotel, tourism site, etc

However, these reuse alternatives do not eliminate the ultimate need for removal because the platform will eventually lose its structural integrity over time (McCann et al. 2017). Additionally, the decision to leave a structure in place is extremely controversial and has been the subject of debate in most parts of the world (Jørgensen 2012; Fowler et al. 2014).

2.5. Review of Decommissioning Options Evaluation

Globally, a wide range of approaches exist for analysing the risks, benefits and trade-offs involved in selecting a suitable decommissioning option. The set of criteria used to evaluate decommissioning options is critical to the quality of decision-making as it forms the basis for judgement. It should cover all known aspects of the decommissioning operation and have criteria which are individually holistic, independent, and assessable with either data or expert judgement (Fowler et al. 2014).

Stakeholders in the assessments of the suitability of any chosen decommissioning option includes government representatives, operating companies, and the public (Bressler and Bernstein 2015). Owing to the difference in values and perspectives of these stakeholders, the decision to adopt an option for the decommissioning operation often involves complex and contentious trade-offs (Fowler et al. 2014; McCann, Henrion and Bernstein 2016). This requires a holistic evaluation of all the available decommissioning options with reference to some accepted decision criteria (Al-Ghuribi et al. 2016; Ahiaga-Dagbui et al. 2017). For any given structure, the suitability of a decommissioning option is dependent on its unique characteristics and immediate environment, hence no single decommissioning options will be optimal for all scenarios. As a result of this, decommissioning requires consideration on a case-by-case basis in which the most suitable option is chosen based on the structure's unique decommissioning requirements and outcome of a formal assessment (Ekins, Vanner and Firebrace 2006).

In regions with well-developed decommissioning regimes such as the Gulf of Mexico and the North Sea, there are frameworks used by operators to formalise the process for decommissioning options assessment. These frameworks contain sets of criteria that are deemed relevant to a

decommissioning project and can be implemented using decision-making approaches. They were investigated in this research work to identify the criteria that are relevant to choosing the option for decommissioning an offshore platform.

2.6. Decommissioning Options Assessment Frameworks

These are frameworks typically designed by the government body responsible for overseeing decommissioning projects in the region where the offshore structure is situated. The three most widely used assessment frameworks are Comparative Assessment, Net Environmental Benefit Analysis and Best Practical Environmental Option (Sommer et al. 2019).

2.6.1. Best Practical Environmental Option

Best practicable environmental option (BPEO) is a systematic procedure which involves the examination of all reasonable decommissioning options with specific reference to technical feasibility, environmental, risk and safety, costs, and public acceptance (Sommer et al. 2019). It is commonly practiced in Malaysia and other countries in the Asian region.

BPEO provides a structured evaluation of decommissioning options by considering the project in five sections: jackets, cutting methods and depth, offshore pipelines, onshore pipelines, and seabed deposits. This evaluation is conducted at a high level to determine the removal option that best suits the platform under consideration through a clear decision-making process (Kanmkamnerd, Phanichtraiphop and Pornsakulsakdi 2016). The assessment is done both qualitatively and quantitatively with the findings utilised by both operators and regulators. BPEO also provides auditable traces to support decisions which is based on environmental considerations.

However, there is limited guidance on the methodology used to conduct BPEO and its application is not well documented, thus it is prone to being misinterpreted (Palandro and Aziz 2018). Furthermore, there is likely to be challenges with adapting the assessment for scenarios where there is need for a more detailed analysis due to its limited documentation and standardisation.

2.6.2. Net Environmental Benefit Analysis

Net Environmental Benefit Analysis (NEBA) is a framework for evaluating and quantitatively ranking the decommissioning options for a platform by considering ecosystem values and weighing the associated costs and net environmental benefits. The net environmental benefit of a decommissioning option depends on how much adverse/beneficial impact will potentially result from executing the project with the option, the duration required for the ecosystem to recover its baseline conditions, and the final condition afterwards.

Use of NEBA requires adequate definition of the assessment scope, and ecological service areas (and metrics) that will independently represent aspects of the impact being assessed. The general methodology is to develop a NEBA model unique to the platform in which assessment results are presented as mean scores that reflect the difference between the service gains and service loss for each evaluated option as evaluated through the service areas (Kanmkamnerd, Phanichtraiphop and Pornsakulsakdi 2016; Palandro and Aziz 2018). NEBA is typically adopted in regions such as the Gulf of Mexico where all or part of the structure may be left in place provided that the operators can demonstrate that leaving the platform in place is more beneficial to the environment than removing it. It is also utilised in scenarios where there is a requirement to gain a more detailed understanding of how the decommissioning options will affect the environment. For example, the decommissioning options for the Bongtok platform in Thailand was assessed using NEBA despite the BPEO assessment results (Sommer et al. 2019).

Nevertheless, the efficiency of NEBA as a decision-making tool is limited in that it is entirely based on environmental considerations. In the light of the multi-faceted nature of decommissioning decision-making, NEBA alone is insufficient for making a balanced judgement. Therefore, the framework is not sufficiently robust in terms of the set of criteria it considers.

2.6.3. Comparative Assessment

Comparative Assessment (CA) is the assessment framework used in the UK Continental Shelf. It is a detailed process for assessing the impact of decommissioning options with reference to five main criteria as shown in Table 2.2. Conducting this assessment is a mandatory requirement before a structure can be considered for derogation in the UKCS (OGUK 2015). The default option when using CA is that all installations will be completely removed as dictated by decision 98/3 (OSPAR 1998).

Table 2.2: Main Decision Criteria and Sub-criteria used in ComparativeAssessment

Assessment Criteria	Matters to Be Considered
Safety	Risk to personnel
	Risk to other users of the sea
	Risk to those on land
Environmental	Other environmental compartments
	(including emissions to the atmosphere)
	Energy/Resource consumption
	Other environmental consequences
	(including cumulative effects)
Technical	Risk of major project failure
Societal	Fisheries impact
	Amenities
	Communities
Costs (Economic)	Cost estimates

As can be seen from Table 2.2, CA considers a more robust set of criteria in comparison to BPEO and NEBA. There are publicly accessible reports of its implementation and a worked guidance example to make it easier to use (Genesis and Catalyze 2015; GOV.UK 2022). In addition, it is flexible and can be applied to decommissioning decision-making across a wide range of complexities by being used alongside a multi-criteria decision analysis model (Ferris and Tjea 2015).

Nevertheless, a critical evaluation of CA reveals that its use can be subjective in scenarios where the assessment criteria indicate that differing options are most suitable for the decommissioning project e.g., societal consideration showing that complete removal is the best option whereas technical feasibility favours partial removal. The availability of several sub-criteria for each of the main criteria also means that operators can choose to focus on those subcriteria that favour a decommissioning option that is more convenient for them. More so, the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) used to evaluate the environmental criterion in CA often overlooks the potential ecosystem values of plants and animals which might have been developing at the base of the platform since its operational lifetime (Sommer et al. 2019). This undermines any positive environmental impact that the jacket may have by acting as a habitat. For example, during the decommissioning of the Murchison platform it was decided that no further investigation will be conducted even though the EIA had revealed the presence of fish biomass and large volumes of marine growth (CNRI 2013).

Despite these issues, the CA framework is superior to BPEO and NEBA due to its robust criteria set, well-defined process and flexibility of application which makes it adaptable to different regions and range of complexities. Further, its superiority over other assessment frameworks has been acknowledged by several authors (Palandro and Aziz 2018; Tung 2020).

Therefore, the decision criteria of the CA framework were adopted for evaluating decommissioning options in this research work with some modifications:

- i. The societal criterion is replaced with public perception due to the relevance of public opinion to decommissioning decision-making as demonstrated in the Brent Spar controversy (Jørgensen 2012).
- The scope of the environmental criteria is broadened to facilitate a more complete evaluation that duly considers the ecosystem values of offshore platforms.
- iii. Additional sub-criteria from extensive literature review are included to the list of sub-criteria for Technical Feasibility and Cost criteria in Table 2.2.

2.7. Decision Criteria

Following the review of assessment frameworks in the preceding sections, five decision criteria were adopted for the assessment of decommissioning options. These are Safety, Environmental Impact, Technical Feasibility, Cost, and Public Perception. Further description of these criteria is subsequently presented.

2.7.1. Safety

Safety is a primary consideration in offshore decommissioning. It is a crucial aspect of the planning and implementation of all stages of the project irrespective of the size and location of the platform. Most regulatory regimes require operators to re-appraise the safety condition of the facility to be decommissioned before the work can be started. This is necessary because decommissioning activities present new and different hazards from those arising from the normal operation of the platform (Tsimplis, Dbouk and Weaver 2019).

Safety considerations significantly dictate the suitability of a decommissioning option because the anticipated level of risk will vary depending on the selected course of action. Using this criterion to evaluate a decommissioning option requires an assessment of the safety risk to all personnel involved in the project as well as individuals who are likely to be exposed to risk from the successful completion of the work if decommissioning is executed with the option (SHELL 2017).

A study of eight offshore decommissioning projects by Bemment (2001) revealed that leaving an offshore platform in place, or reusing it, is the overall safest decommissioning options and there are higher safety risks associated with complete removal options when compared to partial removal. Further analysis of the results also suggested that the risks associated with partial removal and toppling in place are similar. This is because leaving the platform in place only requires its effective monitoring whereas its removal involves various levels of hazardous activities such as those listed in Table 2.3.

Area of Concern	Potential Source of Risk
Lifting	The substantial number of lifts and the
	uncertainties surrounding load paths and
	structural integrity
Diving	Significant diver intervention may be required to
	support extensive subsea cutting and lifting
	operations
Cutting	The thickness of the sections to be cut and
	number of cuttings required all increase the risk
	to personnel.
Hazardous substances	Legacy materials of construction and operations,
	as well as poisonous chemicals and other harmful
	products released during decommissioning
	activity, such as from hot work during dismantling
Integrity	Hidden flaws and structural degradation in aged
	facilities can lead to unforeseen safety threats.
High levels of manual	High numbers of personnel can be involved at all
activity	stages of the project, onshore and offshore,
	performing extensively manual tasks. The number
	of hours personnel spend offshore loosely
	correlate with the likelihood of harm.
Transportation	Accidents can happen while either loading the
	dismantled parts of the platform onto a sea vessel
	or unloading it onshore.
Disposal	Safety issues can arise from the burial, reuse or
	recycling of steel and other materials that make
	up the platform

Table 2.3: General safety concerns during decommissioning operations (OGUK 2017)

Safety can be measured either quantitatively, semi-quantitatively or qualitatively depending on the level of estimated risk, available data, and the complexity of the analysis (HSE UK 2013). Quantitative risk assessment methods such as annual Potential Loss of Life and Fatal Accident Rate yield more precise outputs however qualitative assessments can be used for cases where there is insufficient safety data.

2.7.2. Environmental Impact

The environmental impact of a decommissioning option is a major factor that determines its suitability. Most legislations require operators to evaluate the environmental consequences of decommissioning their offshore platform hence this criterion is considered in BPEO, NEBA and CA. Though the scope and implication of findings from environmental assessments typically differ depending on the decommissioning context.

There has been significant research in understanding the positive and negative environmental implications of decommissioning an offshore structure (Fowler et al. 2014, 2018; Truchon et al. 2015; Sommer et al. 2019). The ecosystem within which a platform exists can vary from the cold deep-sea environment of the North Sea to tropical shallow waters e.g., Southeast Asia. These differences in environmental factors lead to significant differences in the nature of the biological communities that develop around the platform over time.

While most environmental studies have focused on understanding the relationship between marine ecosystems and offshore platforms which remain in the sea over time (Heery et al. 2017; Shaw, Seares and Newman 2018), adequate knowledge of the consequences of removing these platforms is yet to be established (Fowler et al. 2018). This can be attributed to the fact that the removal of offshore structures is a new practice when compared to how long ago the installation of these structures began.

Fowler et al. (2014) observed that the environmental implications of decommissioning options are likely to be examined less elaborately in regions where complete removal is mandatory than in regions where a range of decommissioning options is permissible. Consequently, there is a higher tendency to disregard aspects of the ecosystem which require further investigation while evaluating the environmental impact of decommissioning a North Sea platform when removal is compulsory. The EIA (Environmental Impact Assessment) which is conducted as part of decommissioning planning in the UKCS provides good insight into the changes that will occur in the

environment because of using a decommissioning option, however it is often criticised for being overly simplistic and placing less importance on the continuity of the marine ecosystem that forms around the base of the platform during its operating lifetime (Anifowose et al. 2016; OPRED 2019). This inconsistency in depth and scope of environmental assessment highlights the need for cooperation between decommissioning stakeholders to better understand the influence of offshore platforms on the marine environment.

A GOM-based environmental analysis by Truchon et al. (2015) indicated that environmental aspects which are most sensitive to the choice of decommissioning option are trophic interactions, dispersal, support of rare species and biodiversity. Similarly, Fowler et al. (2014) identified the most deterministic environmental aspects of decommissioning to be alteration of hydrodynamic regimes, habitat damage from scattering of debris, and smothering of soft-bottom communities. Other aspects of the environment that require consideration during decommissioning include energy usage, atmospheric emissions, and other forms of environmental pollution.

2.7.3. Technical Feasibility

The technical feasibility of a decommissioning option refers to the likelihood of using the option to successfully decommission an offshore platform. Technical feasibility is usually assessed qualitatively based on expert opinion from industry specialists which can be obtained through technical workshops or engineering studies organised by the owner of the platform to be decommissioned. It depends on many factors including existing technology and industry experience, physical condition of the platform, and proposed project execution plan.

A good understanding of the likelihood of completing a decommissioning project in a desired manner with the aid of a selected decommissioning option is crucial when evaluating how that option compares to others. Several existing works have addressed aspects of the relationship between technical feasibility and the suitability of decommissioning alternatives. For example, Andrawus, Steel and Watson (2009) listed technical feasibility as one of the criteria for assessing the suitability of a decommissioning option. Similarly, Na et al. (2017) highlighted logistic requirements such as availability of sea vessel for hire and feasibility of technology as a decision criterion in his analytic hierarchy process (AHP) model for evaluating decommissioning options. Also, Cheng et al. (2017) observed that it is often the case that only one vessel is used to carry the removed parts of the platform and further proposed a semi-automated 4D/5D Building Integrated Modelling approach to aid the efficient scheduling of activities during decommissioning project execution. These works demonstrate the relevance of technical feasibility, or aspects of it, to the selection of a suitable decommissioning option for a project.

According to OGUK (2017), the main aspects of technology that influences the selection of a decommissioning option are offshore and subsea cutting and offshore lifting. Hence, the technical feasibility of a decommissioning option depends on the activities involved when using that option for the decommissioning project as determined from either engineering and technical studies or experience from past projects. Assessment of technical feasibility is achievable because most of the machinery (vessels and equipment) required for executing decommissioning projects, unless they are newly developed or emerging technology, will already have a track record. Technical data which comprises such records is likely to include equipment capabilities, environmental working envelope and station keeping methods, crew size, experience of executing similar activities and possible operational issues.

Aspects of technical feasibility that were considered by BP while assessing decommissioning options for the Brent Field include complexity of option, novelty of equipment and procedure, reliability of equipment and vulnerability to weather issues (SHELL 2017). Further, the UK decommissioning guidelines suggests risk of major project failure, technology demands, availability, and track record as some of the sub-criteria for technical feasibility (OGUK 2015). Nonetheless, strategic engagement with the decommissioning supply chain and other operators is an integral part of understanding existing and new

technologies and techniques, and consequently adequately assessing the technical feasibility criterion.

2.7.4. Public Perception

Public perception refers to the beliefs and opinion of the masses about how a decommissioning project should be carried out. The diversity of people who make up the public is vast and includes the academia, fishermen, pressure groups, local community, and the media. Since the 1980s, the public has played an increasingly important and influential role in determining the appropriateness of decision that affect the society especially when there is a consensus opinion by its members (Almond and Esbester 2016). However, effectively communicating technical issues about the project to the public usually poses a challenge because of their limited understanding of the industry concepts.

The low-trust relationship between the public and the energy sector is historic as evidenced by the findings from the global study conducted by Edelman Intelligence (2019) and shown in Figure 2.7. The energy sector's 61% public trust level is the lowest when compared to the trust levels of Telecommunication, Healthcare, Technology, and other sectors.



*Data used for this survey spreads across five years (2015-2019)

Figure 2.7: Global public trust levels for different commercial sectors (Adapted from Edelman Intelligence 2019)

The result in Figure 2.7 primarily applies to the Oil and Gas industry because this is the core of the energy sector. Suggestions about how to manage public trust during decommissioning projects are subsequently briefly discussed.

2.7.4.1. Management of Public Opinion During Decommissioning

A decommissioning plan that meets the regulatory requirements can still be rejected if it is deemed by the public to be unacceptable. The Brent Spar controversy of 1995 demonstrates the dire consequences that can result when operators fail to effectively engage the public while making decisions pertaining to their decommissioning projects (Smith et al. 2019). Greenpeace, the environmental group that led the Brent Spar protest, also compelled the Norwegian government to reject a proposal by Esso to decommission the Odin jacket by toppling in situ to form an artificial reef. Additionally, plans to dump components of the North-East Frigg platform in the Norwegian Sea failed due to public opposition. In the end, both the Odin jacket and the Frigg platform were returned to shore for other uses (Shaw 1999). Following these incidents, operators have begun to increasingly incorporate public opinion in the decision-making process during decommissioning of their offshore assets (SHELL 2017).

The modalities for managing public opinion and exchanging knowledge that pertains to offshore decommissioning are outlined in the literature (Cvitanovic et al. 2015; Wilkinson et al. 2016). Ignoring public opinion can mar the success of a decommissioning project by generating avoidable conflicts (Wilkinson et al. 2016). On the other hand, an approach that embraces cultural differences of all stakeholder groups can expedite the engagement process and ensure a smooth interaction between the parties involved (Cvitanovic et al. 2015).

The results from a public survey in Australia indicated that protection of the environment is of highest priority to the public during decommissioning (Shaw, Seares and Newman 2018). Based on this, the public is more likely to favour the complete removal of an offshore platform over the option of leaving it in place despite the higher costs that this would incur. Though this stance

can be shifted if people are convinced about the benefits of leaving the platform in place as demonstrated in California's adoption of rigs-to-reef programme (McCann et al. 2017).

Nevertheless, both operators and the public are likely to benefit from further research into the development of decision models. Such models can be used by both technical and non-technical personnel to determine the most suitable decommissioning option for an offshore structure with a significant degree of confidence.

2.7.5. Cost

This refers to the financial burden that will be incurred by using a decommissioning option for a project. Accurate cost prediction is important to all stakeholders of the decommissioning project (Baxter 2016; Fowler et al. 2018). However, the costs of decommissioning projects are often difficult to estimate due to the rapidly evolving nature of cutting and lifting technology (Cheng et al. 2017). In addition, determining the future costs of decommissioning projects is fraught with significant uncertainties. For example, the UK Oil and Gas Authority disclosed in 2019 that it expected 49% of the decommissioning cost estimates by operators in the region to be accurate to within -20% to +100% (NAO 2019). These uncertainties are mainly because operators will not incur majority of the costs for many years, by which time decommissioning technology, supply chain prices, and environmental regulations could all have changed significantly. Also, there is potential for some offshore assets to be reused for carbon capture usage and storage, for example, rather than being removed at end-of-life. Discounting is another possible means of reducing uncertainty in decommissioning cost estimation. But the dynamic nature of the supply chain and permissible decommissioning options make it challenging to determine appropriate discount rates for reducing decommissioning costs into a long-term cash flow.

Offshore decommissioning costs vary across different regions due to several factors which include typical structure weights, weather and climatic conditions, depths per region and proximity to shore. Additionally, the type of

asset, existing legislative requirements and adopted decommissioning strategy can significantly contribute to cost variations in offshore decommissioning projects. The disparity in project costs is huge, ranging from \$2 million for a simple fixed steel structure in shallow water situated in the GOM up to about \$2 billion for a gravity-based platform weighing over 200,000 tonnes installed in deep-water in the North Sea (Eke et al. 2021).

Cost data of decommissioning projects is usually withheld by companies and treated as confidential information. In the UKCS, yearly cost estimates are compiled by the Oil and Gas Authority from information obtained through a nation-wide operators' survey (OGA 2021). However, these are presented as high-level summaries which do not show the actual project costs.

2.7.5.1. Existing Works in Decommissioning Cost Analysis

Several research works have been directed towards the subject matter of decommissioning cost analysis and a chronicled review of these works provide a sound foundation for making contributions to the research area.

Ekins, Vanner and Firebrace (2006) conducted a material and energy flow analysis for the decommissioning of a large fixed offshore structure in the North Sea which included estimation of the financial expenditures of undertaking the project under different scenarios. The authors considered three decommissioning scenarios; leave in situ, shallow disposal, and complete removal to shore. The costs of completely removing the platform's topside and jacket were first obtained on a confidential basis from an operating company which had performed intensive studies on the offshore asset for the purpose of drafting a decommissioning programme. These costs were then multiplied by factors corresponding to the cost proportions for removal observed from the decommissioning cost estimate of a previous project to estimate costs of shallow disposal. The authors assumed that the leave in-situ scenario would attract no expenditure. Using this method to estimate the costs of different decommissioning options for a platform is beneficial when there is limited data available such as when cost of only one option is known. However, more accurate results are only achievable if there is a means to obtain cost proportions of the activities that are involved in using the other options under consideration. Furthermore, the cost proportions are likely to be inaccurate if the platform being decommissioned has varying attributes like configuration, weight and location as compared to the platform from which the parallels are being drawn.

In a similar work, Proserv Offshore (2009) conducted a decommissioning cost estimation study in the US Gulf of Mexico on behalf of the Minerals Management Service, an agency of the United States Department of the Interior that manages the nation's petroleum and other mineral resources in the outer continental shelf. Kaiser and Liu (2014) translated the cost data reported Proserv Offshore, with the aid of basic regression analysis, into generalized functional relations for estimating the costs of the various stages of decommissioning for 53 deep-water structures in the Gulf of Mexico. Different decommissioning stages and the platform features that serve as input to their cost estimation models in their work are shown in Table 8.1.

Decommissioning Stage	Platform Feature used as Cost Factors
Well plugging and	Water depth, number of wells, rig/rig-less
abandonment	method
Conductor severance and	Water depth, number of conductors
removal	
Pipeline decommissioning	Water depth, diameter, length, and volume
Umbilical and Flowline	Water depth, length
removal	
Riser removal	Water depth
Fixed Platform removal	Water depth, number of piles

Table 2.4: Platform Features used for cost estimation (Kaiser and Liu 2014)

Use of a parametric cost estimation technique like regression analysis is beneficial for reducing statistical data into a more compact form. It also provides an indication of the major factors that influence the project cost and the nature of these influences. However, basic regression analysis has been criticized for being too simplistic and inadequate for capturing finer details of complex systems such as decommissioning projects (Maxwell 1975). Application of machine learning regression analysis is likely to perform better than basic regression analysis when solving such problems.

In a related study, TSB Offshore leveraged on information collected from over ten years of experience and collaboration with field specialists in the GOM to develop algorithms for estimating the costs of the various tasks involved in decommissioning (Byrd, Miller and Wiese 2014). These estimates were then coded into a proprietary database software tool called the Platform Abandonment Estimation System (PAES). The tool receives the general descriptive information about the structure and produces an initial estimate of its decommissioning cost which can be further customized by a knowledgeable cost engineer. Figure 2.8 shows the variation of decommissioning costs with depth for a 4-piled platform as generated by the PAES tool.



Figure 2.8: Complete removal cost variation with depth for a platform (Adapted from Byrd, Miller and Wiese 2014)

The accuracy of results from PAES is high and the primary source of discrepancies has been identified to be the quality of input information. Nevertheless, there are several limitations to using PAES. The costing algorithms used for its development are kept confidential hence the tool can be regarded, to a considerable extent, as a black box that provides little insight into the cost elements of decommissioning. Furthermore, the tool only provides cost estimates for decommissioning with the Complete Removal option with no consideration for other options.

In the North Sea region, the Living North Sea Initiative (LiNSI) conducted a study in 2015 to estimate jacket removal costs for all platforms in the North Sea and assess the potential cost savings for alternative decommissioning options (LiNSI 2015). The man-hours and equipment directly involved in the process of jacket decommissioning were used as basis for their analysis. In addition to complete removal of jackets, their partial removal to 25 metres (depth of GOM rigs-to-reef programme) and 55 metres (cut-off depth from IMO guidelines) were considered. The analysis results were presented as cost ranges for distinct categories of jackets based on size and location. The LiNSI study shows that there is value to be realised from decommissioning options cost analysis in that it can provide project stakeholders with information for decision making and be used as input to government policy development. However, a limitation of this work is that it only focused on jacket structure and no consideration was given to other parts of the platform such as topsides and conductors, hence it is insufficient for estimating the full decommissioning project cost. Also, the use of cost ranges, though beneficial from the aspect of increasing the likelihood of obtaining accurate estimations, makes it challenging to determine the cost of decommissioning an individual platform. Hence, use of the cost estimates for assessing the cost of decommissioning an asset is limited.

In a related work, Bressler and Bernstein (2015) used the Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement cost estimates for complete removal of oil and gas platforms in offshore California (TSB 2016) to develop estimates for

partially removing the platforms in a bid to compare both decommissioning options. Partial removal is defined in Bressler and Bernstein (2015) as removal down to 85 feet below mean sea level with the upper jacket section left on the seabed beside the remaining portion as an artificial reef. The cost for this decommissioning option was estimated by identifying the differences in the option's engineering procedure as compared to complete removal option and quantifying the change in cost due to these differences with inputs from engineers. Their results indicate that partially removing twenty-seven platforms will result to a 56% savings on the cost of their complete removal. However, it is difficult to verify the accuracy of their results as the platforms are yet to be decommissioned. Nevertheless, there is agreement between the authors and Smith and Byrd (2020) on the decommissioning phases where cost differences are likely to exist. This knowledge is adopted when deriving Partial Removal costs in this research. Further, the cost dataset they used is a reliable basis for estimating the costs of decommissioning with Complete Removal, especially as it intended to be updated at five-yearly intervals to account for changes in market conditions of the decommissioning industry (TSB 2016b).

Decommissioning options cost analysis as performed by Bressler and Bernstein (2015) is more detailed and precise than that of LiNSI (2015) in that it makes use of exact cost values for the considered platforms. It also identifies the key platform attributes that determine the cost difference between complete and partial removal costs to be size and water depth of the structure. However, only one variant of the partial removal options was considered unlike the study by LiNSI (2015) which considered three variants, and replicating their analysis is challenging as this was performed using a proprietary software called PLATFORM®. Therefore, the work can be improved by expanding the cost analysis to a larger number of partial removal options and presenting the results in a readily accessible format with the aid of appropriate mathematical tools and techniques.

Ahiaga-Dagbui et al. (2017) interviewed individuals involved with decommissioning projects in the UKCS and found that error margins as high as 40% in forecasted versus actual budget figures was common. Similarly, a study of 40 decommissioning projects from 1994 to 2005 revealed that actual costs were typically about 12% higher than estimated costs (Henrion, Bernstein and Swamy 2015). The North-West Hutton decommissioning project cost £230 million at completion, a deviation of approximately 50% from the predicted value of £154 million (Jee 2014). These results interpret to complexities in decommissioning costing and highlight the need for innovation in this project aspect.

Having defined the decision criteria, the next step is to review existing decision-making approaches for evaluating decommissioning options with reference to these criteria to determine which will be most suitable for a decommissioning project.

2.8. Review of Approaches to Optimising Decommissioning Options Evaluation

The application of mathematical and statistical techniques to decommissioning is understudied in comparison to other aspects of the offshore platform life cycle (Nishanth, John and Whyte 2016; Ahiaga-Dagbui et al. 2017). However, remarkable progress has been made in this area within the last decade due to the global increase in the number of platforms that require decommissioning and availability of data as more experience of implementing such projects is gained.

Kaiser and Narra (2018) observed that there have been significant collaborative efforts to share knowledge from decommissioning projects. Several independent publications which describe offshore decommissioning operations in several regions are now available in the public domain (APPEA 2016; Bureau Veritas 2018). Government is working towards cost reductions by promoting the sharing of decommissioning knowledge amongst operators (Bernstein 2015; OGA 2021). A web-based tool called Late Life Planning Portal was launched by Decom North Sea in 2017 to foster cooperation of regulators,

operators, and supply chain towards the improvement of decommissioning practice (Decom North Sea <u>http://decomnorthsea.com/l2p2</u>). These developments have resulted to rapid growth in decommissioning knowledge, thus fostering research in this domain. There has also been increased efforts towards optimising the decision-making process of evaluating decommissioning options to determine the best option for carrying out a decommissioning project.

The approaches that have been proposed for evaluating decommissioning options can be broadly categorised into quantitative and mixed approaches depending on the nature of criteria they handle.

2.8.1. Quantitative Approaches

This comprises of decision-making approaches which only deal with quantifiable information about aspects of the decommissioning project to minimise subjectivity and bias in the obtained results (Nicolette, Travers and Price 2014). Quantitative approaches are desirable when measurable data is available and can be readily acquired. They yield results which can be clearly communicated, verified, and reproduced. However, the application of quantitative approaches to the evaluation of decommissioning options is limited by the unavailability of data to quantify several criteria used in assessing decommissioning options. Quantitative metrics is not fully developed for such criteria as technical feasibility and public perception. Hence, most studies that utilise this approach tend to focus on a few decision criteria. Furthermore, obtaining the required data for these models may be expensive and involve complex data gathering processes.

2.8.1.1. Ecosystem-Based Management Assessment

Truchon et al. (2015) developed an ecosystem-based management approach for evaluating decommissioning options for offshore platforms by analysing all interactions within the ecosystem where the platform is situated. In their work, a remotely operated video (ROV) study was conducted on a deep-water fixed-steel jacket platform in the GOM to obtain data which was then used to rank three decommissioning options based on their ecosystem services. The obtained results, which is factual and based on empirical data, indicated that leaving the jacket in the marine environment is the best option. However, repeating this technique for another platform will be expensive and the model has limited scope as it primarily considers the environmental criterion of decommissioning. Thus, it can only serve as supporting evidence for a more thorough evaluation of options.

2.8.1.2. Building Information Model

Similarly, Cheng et al. (2017) proposed the use of 4D/5D building information modelling (BIM) technology for evaluating decommissioning options by visualizing the schedules, cost and resources involved in the project implementation. This approach is useful for project management consideration of decommissioning and can help to reduce non-productive time, monitor costs, and track resource utilization. However, it does not show which option is best for a given offshore platform and no consideration is given to safety, environment, and other aspects of the project. Thus, it appears to be an over-simplification of decommissioning projects.

The use of quantitative approaches for options evaluation is favoured by advancements in ROV and other technologies that can be used to measure the structural and environmental condition of offshore platforms. At present however, their exclusive use is inadequate for complete evaluation of decommissioning options because other criteria that are difficult to quantify are also of equal or even greater importance to stakeholders (Fowler et al. 2014; McCann, Henrion and Bernstein 2016).

2.8.2. Mixed Approaches

This comprises of decision-making approaches which are developed for evaluating decommissioning options by considering both qualitatively and quantitatively assessed criteria. They are typically developed using information from platform data analysis and discussions with decommissioning experts. Mixed approaches are particularly effective in like handling decision-making issues those encountered during decommissioning in which it is required to both incorporate the objectives of different stakeholder groups and handle a wide range of data types (Cinelli, Coles and Kirwan 2014; Govindan and Jepsen 2016). Most research into decommissioning options evaluation falls into this category due to its suitability in dealing with cases involving either unquantifiable or missing data.

2.8.2.1. Material and Energy Flow Analysis

One of the first works in this domain was the use of material and energy flow analysis to assess the performance of two decommissioning options as compared to the leave in-situ option for a large North Sea fixed steel jacket platform (Ekins, Vanner and Firebrace 2006). Twelve aspects of decommissioning were considered and data for the analysis was obtained from the owners of the considered platform on a confidential basis, with values inferred from two past decommissioning projects when unavailable. The results showed some useful relationship between aspects of partial and complete removal options which can be extended to other platforms. In addition, the wide range of issues incorporated into the model makes it useful as a reference point for future works. However, the information required for the analysis is only available from extensive platform studies which are carried out just before decommissioning, and often withheld from the public by operators in a bid to protect their reputation. Thus, it cannot be easily replicated for other platforms.

2.8.2.2. Net Present Value Analysis and Weighted Evaluation

Andrawus, Steel and Watson (2009) leveraged on the knowledge of decommissioning experts to develop a hybrid technique which combines weighted evaluation (WE) and net present value (NPV) analysis for evaluating decommissioning options. The authors used this approach to evaluate four decommissioning options for platform Hidalgo by assessing the financial and non-financial impacts of the options as shown in Figure 2.9.



Excellent - 5; Very good - 4; Good - 3; Fair - 2; Poor -1

Figure 2.9: Decommissioning options evaluation for Hidalgo platform (Andrawus et al. 2009)

WE is a variant of a multicriteria decision analysis (MCDA) technique known as the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP). It involves pairwise comparisons of criteria to determine their weights and scoring of decommissioning options based on their individual performance with reference to these criteria. The scores from WE are divided by the NPV values of the assessed options to obtain a benefit-to-cost ratio which is then used to rank the options. This procedure is mathematically represented by equations 2.1 and 2.2.

$$A_{i} = \bigvee_{i=1,n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} W_{j}.S_{ij}$$
 (2.1)

$$BTC_i = \bigvee_{i=1,n} \frac{A_i}{NPV_i}$$
(2.2)

Where A is the weighted score of a decommissioning option, W is the weight of importance of a criterion and S represents the performance rating of the option with reference to a criterion. BTC and NPV are respectively the benefitto-cost ratio and net present value of the decommissioning option.

This approach improved on the work of Ekins, Vanner and Firebrace (2006) by utilising the experience gained by industry to develop a more reproducible analysis, and clearly highlighting the importance of public perception to decommissioning options assessment. Furthermore, the use of expert opinion also implies that the results will be more accurate as more decommissioning experience is gained despite the inherent subjective nature of human judgement. However, the analysis cannot be performed without actual decommissioning cost figures, and it is not clear how the discussions with decommissioning experts was synthesised to obtain the criteria weights and performance scores. Some of the decision criteria also appear to have been double counted, for example, future liability appears to refer to aspects of safety and cost. Hence, the approach can be improved by using the CA criteria, using cost figures in a relative format like the other criteria, and better structuring the process of collecting expert opinion.

2.8.2.3. Multi-Criteria Approval

Fowler et al. (2014) proposed the use of an MCDA technique called Multicriteria Approval (MA) for evaluating decommissioning options through the judgement of decommissioning experts. MA involves the assignment of 1 and 0 as scores of decommissioning options depending on their performance against the decision criteria and ranking of each option based on the summation of its scores across all criteria. The method was applied to the evaluation of decommissioning options for an offshore platform in California and the results indicated that leaving the platform in place was the best option. The work further points to the relevance of criteria weights and viability of using expert opinion in evaluating decommissioning options. However, MA is overly simplistic in that it is an outright pass/fail analysis that provides little insight into the relative performance of the assessed options. Furthermore, performing a full assessment of decommissioning options with all criteria used in their work is a challenging task, requiring over thirty judgements by each of the experts.

2.8.2.4. Multi-Attribute Utility Theory

McCann et al. (2017) also proposed the use of an MCDA technique called Multi Attribute Utility Theory (MAUT) for evaluating decommissioning options for twenty-seven platforms in California. MAUT is based on utility theory (Keeney 1968) and involves independent determination of each criteria score. Information for the analysis was obtained from extensive data studies of the considered platforms. Their work was widely accepted and influenced the state of California to adjust its regulatory policy to accommodate a reefing decommissioning option.

Furthermore, quantitative values like cost were scaled by interpolation as shown in Equation 2.3 to be easily comparable and the criteria weights was made variable to suit the preference of decommissioning stakeholders. Thus, it allows for sensitivity analysis.

$$U_i = \frac{X_i - X_{worst}}{X_{best} - X_{worst}}$$
(2.3)

Where for element i, U_i is the scaled value, X_i is the actual value, X_{best} is the best possible value, and X_{worst} is the worst possible value.

However, criteria used are mainly environment-focused and do not account for other aspects of decommissioning such as safety and technical feasibility. Also, MAUT is data-intensive and requires extensive data gathering before it can be applied to decommissioning due to the complexity of such projects.
Data gaps were still reported by the authors despite evaluating only two decommissioning options for the twenty-seven platforms over a 20-year period (Bernstein 2015). Hence, it is expensive to replicate in other regions with much higher number of platforms.

2.8.2.5. Analytic Hierarchy Process

Na et al. (2017) proposed the use of AHP to evaluate the decommissioning options for a platform based on the platform's structural parameters and optimal project planning. The information used for the analysis was obtained by interviewing decommissioning experts and mathematical steps were taken to reduce inconsistencies in their responses. This approach is well structured and minimises error in collating expert opinion.

However, the aspects of decommissioning considered are limited with no consideration for either environmental impact or public perception, and criteria weights are fixed as shown in Figure 2.10. In practice, criteria weights are variable because they represent the preferences of the stakeholders evaluating the decommissioning options. Hence, the analysis can be more robust if other criteria are incorporated, and the weightings made flexible.



DECOMMISSIONING OPTIONS - FACTOR WEIGHTS

Figure 2.10: Weights of decommissioning decision criteria and sub-criteria (Na et al. 2017)

The learnings from the review of these research endeavours in optimising the evaluation of decommissioning options forms the basis of developing an improved decision model for decommissioning decision-making. This tool will capture the identified strengths and minimises the weaknesses of previous works.

In addition, it will be useful to understand how changing platform characteristics and environmental condition will affect the result of evaluating decommissioning options. This is because proper understanding of this relationship is key to developing a reusable tool which can be easily adapted to different platforms and regions.

A summary of the reviewed approaches to evaluating decommissioning options is shown in Table 2.5 with their considered decision criteria presented as a subset of the decision criteria adopted in this research.

Table 2.5: Existing approaches to optimising decommissioning options evaluation

Technique	Approach	Criteria Considered	Source	Strengths	Weaknesses
Material and energy flow analysis, financial flow analysis	Mixed	Safety – Health and safety. Environmental – Relative energy use and emissions, rate of recovery of materials from present structure, clear seabed, conservation of stocks of non- renewable resources, impacts on the marine environment, impacts of resource extraction, impacts of landfill. Public perception – Jobs in the UK, impacts on the fishing industry, impacts on fish stocks and other marine life. Economic – Financial expenditures.	(Ekins, Vanner and Firebrace 2006)	Wide range of decision criteria.	Does not account for the safety of personnel and technical feasibility of each option. Difficult to replicate due to difficulty of obtaining required data.
Net Present Value (NPV) analysis and Weighted Evaluation (WE)	Mixed	Safety – Safety, future liability. Environmental – Environmental impact. Technical – Technical feasibility. Public perception – Public requirements. Economic – Revenue generation.	(Andrawus, Steel and Watson 2009)*	Easy to replicate. Wide range of decision criteria. Criteria is weighted.	Expert opinion poorly structured. Actual cost figures required. Some criteria not independent
Multi-criteria decision analysis (Multi- criteria Approval)	Mixed	Safety – Health and safety. Environmental. Public perception – Socioeconomic, additional stakeholder concerns. Economic – Financial.	(Fowler et al. 2014)	Easy to replicate, Wide range of decision criteria.	Difficult to compare similar options because there are only two scoring outcomes. Large number of judgements required
Ecosystem- based management (EBM) Assessment	Quantitative	Environmental – Habitat extent and structural complexity, biodiversity, trophic interactions, dispersal, spawning, secondary production, benthic	(Truchon et al. 2015)	Based on empirical data and minimizes bias. Detailed analysis of environmental	Limited range of decision criteria. Difficulty of obtaining required data for some criteria.

		production, rare species. Public perception – aesthetic values, marine harvested species (commercial), marine harvested species (recreational), biomedical.		impact of options.	
4D and 5D building information modelling (BIM)	Quantitative	Technical – Schedules. Economic – Cost, resources.	(Cheng et al. 2017)	Based on empirical data and minimizes bias. Supports project management	Limited range of decision criteria. Difficulty of obtaining required data for assessing some criteria.
Multi-criteria decision analysis (Multi- Attribute Utility Theory)	Mixed	Safety – Compliance. Environmental – Impact on marine mammals and birds, benthic impacts, air quality, water quality. Economic – Economic costs. Public perception – Marine resources and fish biomass, ocean access impacts.	(McCann et al. 2017)	Wide range of decision criteria. Criteria is weighted	Limited number of considered options (complete removal and partial removal). Difficulty of obtaining required data for some criteria.
Multi-criteria decision analysis (Analytic Hierarchy Process)	Mixed	Safety – Structural integrity. Technical – Platform type, weight management, logistic requirement. Economic – Weight management.	(Na et al. 2017)	Expert opinion is structured. Easy to replicate.	Limited range of decision criteria

*Regulatory requirements considered as a criterion by authors but not included in table.

The use of expert opinion to support the evaluation of decommissioning options is a prevalent theme in the reviewed works. Figure 2.11 presents the number of criteria considered in each of the reviewed works on decommissioning options evaluation and groups these based on whether expert opinion is used or not. It is deduced from the figure that usage of expert opinion is more prevalent when a wide range of decision criteria is considered.



Figure 2.11: Prevalence of the use of expert opinion in evaluating decommissioning options.

Lack of empirical data relating to offshore decommissioning has been identified as a major challenge to optimising decommissioning options evaluation, hence use of expert opinion seems justifiable (Macreadie, Fowler and Booth 2011).

On the other hand, Fowler et al. (2014) observed that human judgement is inherently subjective and can be influenced by

- i. Historical controversies such as the Brent spar saga in the North Sea
- ii. Communication inefficiencies due to language differences and interpretation of the criteria
- iii. Cultural background, extent of training and prior experience of the experts
- iv. Personal interests of parties involved.

Therefore, it is important to progressively replace expert opinion by integrating decommissioning data into the decision-making approach as these become available.

The conducted literature review provides rich insights into key desirable capabilities of a robust decommissioning decision model. Firstly, the model must be able to account for both qualitative and quantitative criteria. Secondly, for the purpose of minimising subjectivity of human judgement, caution must be applied when the use of expert opinion is unavoidable by gathering these opinions systematically and with the aid of a well-structured technique that is easy to understand. Lastly, multi-criteria decision analysis is best suited for developing the model due to the multifaceted nature of decommissioning.

Concisely, the established desirable capabilities of a robust decision model for determining the optimal option for decommissioning an offshore platform are:

- i. Broad range of decision criteria and ability to accommodate qualitative and quantitative data for evaluating options with respect to these criteria.
- Clarity and structure in use of expert opinion when required, and capability for replacing expert opinion with actual decommissioning project data as this becomes available.
- iii. Use of Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis

2.9. Survey Application to Offshore Decommissioning

Surveys are a widely used research tool for collecting human opinion. Collis and Hussey (2013) describe a survey as the elicitation of information from respondents with the aid of either questionnaires, interviews, or both, and for the purpose of generalising from a sample to a population. Surveys are a viable workaround to challenges with data scarcity. Despite the existence of drawbacks to the use of surveys such as insufficient sample size and risk of bias from either the developer or the respondents, the method is a valid means of exploring a wide range of issues such as those inherent in decommissioning.

The use of surveys in offshore decommissioning studies is gradually becoming commonplace in recent times, particularly since the 20th century (Bernstein et al. 2010; Fowler et al. 2014, 2018; Na et al. 2017; Capobianco et al. 2021). This trend is driven by the steady increase in the decommissioning knowledge of

professionals in the energy sector as more projects are executed globally (Tung and Otto 2019; Kumar et al. 2021; Kaiser 2022). It is also supported by the growing realisation that sound decommissioning decisions must incorporate both quantitative and qualitative information (Fowler et al. 2014; McCann et al. 2017). Further, paucity of decommissioning data is a challenge to research in offshore decommissioning because the domain is multifaceted and still emerging. Hence it was deemed necessary to make use of experts' opinions, with the aid of a survey of decommissioning practitioners, to capture comprehensive information for supporting the analysis in this research work.

A questionnaire is a survey instrument for data collection which comprises of either close-ended, open-ended, or both types of questions, and typically include a series of items which reflect the research aims (Ponto 2015). Adequacy of design is the most controversial issue associated with using survey questionnaires (Harlacher 2016) due to its strong influence on the accuracy of measuring respondents' perceptions. Therefore, standard questionnaire design guidelines must be followed in developing survey questionnaires.

2.10. Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis

MCDA encompasses all mathematical modelling techniques used to solve complex decision problems in which it is required to consider several criteria to determine the best alternative or course of action. It has been successfully applied to decision-making problems in such industries as engineering, resource management and healthcare (Hamurcu and Eren 2019; Stojčić et al. 2019). Literature reviews of MCDA and their merits/demerits have been extensively covered in the literature (Velasquez and Hester 2013; Kumar et al. 2017; Mardani et al. 2017; Sriram et al. 2022). Hence, MCDA has widespread acceptance across several industries.

MCDA is readily applicable to solving the decision-making problem of selecting an optimal option from a list of options for decommissioning an offshore platform if the problem is conceptualised as a multicriteria problem in which the goal is to determine the optimal decommissioning option from a list of options. Moreso, knowledge of decommissioning options for offshore platforms and the decision criteria for their evaluation is already well-established. Therefore, in this research, the AHP MCDA technique is applied to solving the multi-criteria problem of evaluating decommissioning options for an offshore platform to determine which is best for its decommissioning.

Further information about the AHP technique and the procedure for its application is provided below.

2.10.1. Analytic Hierarchy Process

AHP aids comprehensive decision-making by logically structuring the decision elements according to their hierarchy and showing the relationship between criteria and the possible alternatives through the aid of pairwise comparison matrices.

A hierarchy is simply a stratified system of arranging the components of a multicriteria decision-making problem such that each component, except for the top one, is subordinate to one or more components. AHP handles the complexities of decision-making by reducing the task to basic pairwise comparisons and using the results to develop overall priorities which then enable the ranking of the alternatives. This technique, which was developed by Saaty (1977), involves relative measurement and is thus suitable for scenarios when absolute measurements are not obtainable. Hence it can be used to effectively handle MCDA involving both qualitative and quantitative criteria with ease (Ishizaka 2019).

Islam and Saaty (2010) identified several uses of the AHP technique, and these include

- i. Simplified representation of a complex problem
- ii. Measurement/allocation of criteria weights
- iii. Determination of optimal choice among alternatives
- iv. Measurement of consistency in human judgement
- v. Prediction of future outcomes
- vi. Resolution of conflicts by clear analysis
- vii. Framework for forward/backward planning
- viii. Supporting tool for other decision-making techniques such as Cost Benefit Analysis and MAUT.

Usage of the AHP technique is further promoted by the availability of user-friendly computer software such as Decision Lens, Super Decisions and Expert Choice which aid the decision-maker in evaluating the mathematical aspects of the technique (Mu and Pereyra-Rojas 2018). The AHP approach involves applying rational and intuitive thinking to the determination of the best option from several alternatives by evaluating these with respect to a set of criteria. It is also very flexible in that it can accommodate the subjectivity of human judgements by making provision for managing inconsistencies.

With the aid of AHP, a decision-maker can structure the decision-making problem visually in the form of an attributes hierarchy as shown in Figure 2.12. The decision aim is the main objective or aim of the decision-making process, and the criteria are the factors to be considered in making the decision. The last level of the hierarchy shows the options available for the decision-maker to choose from.



Figure 2.12: AHP decision hierarchy structure (Adapted from Mu and Pereyra-Rojas 2018)

In addition to the three major hierarchy levels, there might be a need to include sub-criteria which further compartmentalise aspects of the criteria and improve the objectivity of the options comparisons as shown in Figure 2.13. However, comparisons must only be between elements at the same hierarchy level to make sense. For example, a criterion cannot be directly compared with the sub-criterion of another criterion. Also, usage of sub-criteria is not compulsory because some criteria (such as criteria 3 in Figure 2.13) are standalone in nature.



Figure 2.13: Modification of AHP hierarchy to incorporate decision sub-criteria.

Elements at the same hierarchy level are compared in pairs to assess their relative preference with respect to each of the elements at the immediate higher level. The comparisons are also made with respect to a single element i.e., sub-criteria comparison is made with reference to the parent criterion, criteria comparison is made with reference to the main goal, and alternatives are compared with reference to each sub-criterion.

To standardise the AHP process of paired comparison judgments, Saaty (1977) developed the scale shown in Table 2.5 for translating verbal description of relative importance to numbers which then aid the hierarchical ranking of the decision elements according to their relative importance.

Intensity of Importance	Definition	Explanation
1	Equal importance	Two activities contribute equally to the objective
2	Weak importance	

Table 2.6: AHP Relative Importance Scale (Saaty and Vargas 2012)

3	Moderate importance	Experience and judgment slightly favour one activity over another
4	Moderate plus importance	Experience and judgment
5	Strong importance	strongly favour one activity over another
6	Strong plus importance	An activity is favoured
7	Very strong or demonstrated importance	very strongly over another; its dominance demonstrated in practice
8	Very, very strong importance	The evidence favouring
9	Extreme importance	one activity over another is of the highest possible order of affirmation
Reciprocals of above	If activity <i>i</i> has one of the above nonzero numbers assigned to it when compared with activity <i>j</i> , then <i>j</i> has the reciprocal value when compared with <i>i</i>	A reasonable assumption
Rationals	Ratios arising from the scale	If consistency were to be forced by obtaining n numerical values to span the matrix

Saaty's scale is easy to use, and its effectiveness has been validated through theoretical justification and numerous successful applications by different authors (Saaty and Vargas 2012).

2.10.1.1. Application of AHP to Multicriteria Decision-Making Problems

AHP has been successfully applied to decision problems in several fields including engineering, economics, medicine, and policy-formulation (Velasquez and Hester 2013; Kumar et al. 2017). It has also been applied to the problem of site-selection for energy projects (Merrouni et al. 2018; Ozdemir and Sahin 2018), transportation planning (Islam and Saaty 2010; Moslem 2020), economics (Sharma 2018) and construction (Salem, Salman and Ghorai 2018) with satisfactory results.

Other fields where AHP has been successfully applied include government, business, industry, healthcare, shipbuilding, and education (Sharma 2018) and these examples clearly demonstrate the interdisciplinary applicability and versatile nature of the technique.

Moreso, the use of AHP to solve Petroleum Engineering problems is detailed in the literature. A form of Fuzzy-AHP was used to conduct risk assessments for the upstream oil and gas industry and evaluate the risks involved in investment activities (Chang et al. 2006). White et al (2014) combined AHP and a geometric database to solve the complex problem of pipeline routing decisions in the offshore Arctic environment. AHP was employed to validate the results obtained from using Quality Function Deployment process to determine the optimal subsea processing technology for marginal field development (Ohanyere and Abili 2015).

AHP has been successfully applied to decision-making in the nuclear industry which shares similarities to offshore structures in terms of financial scale of projects, being situated in relatively isolated locations, and tendency to cause harm to people and environment (Wan, Yongling and Junjie 2016; Bai, Liu and Chao 2017; Invernizzi et al. 2018). It has also been used in combination with other Operations Research tools such as Digital Mock-up System and Data Envelopment Analysis facilitate management nuclear to of reactors decommissioning projects with satisfactory results (Kim and Song 2009; Ho and Ma 2018).

2.10.1.2. Application of AHP to Offshore Decommissioning

The inherent ability of the AHP technique to produce meaningful results even in the absence of quantitative data makes it particularly appealing for solving decision-making problems in the offshore decommissioning problem domain due to the paucity of data in this area (Fowler et al. 2014).

For example, Andrawus, Steel and Watson (2009) utilised pairwise comparison in weighted evaluation technique which combined consideration of financial and nonfinancial criteria in evaluating decommissioning options for a platform. Similarly, Na et al. (2017) determined the AHP technique to be the MCDA method most suited for decommissioning planning and management. Their work focused on platforms in the South China Sea and only addressed the structural and technical aspects of decommissioning. Nevertheless, it was recommended as a starting point for the development of more robust decision-making approaches that incorporate financial as well as environmental aspects of decommissioning projects. The present research builds on their work in that the AHP technique is applied to decommissioning options evaluation with consideration for a wider suite of criteria and sub-criteria.

Furthermore, a merit of the AHP technique is its ability to enable efficient group interaction and decision-making (Saaty and Peniwati 2013). This feature makes it particularly suitable for addressing the MCDA problems that arise during decommissioning planning because these issues typically require collective inputs from stakeholders across several departments. In addition, a robust review by Martins et al. (2020) suggests that AHP is the MCDA technique with the most widespread use in solving decommissioning problems within the oil and gas industry.

Asset owners in the UKCS whose fields are at the end-of-life stage are required to submit a decommissioning programme (DP) which details the intended workflow for decommissioning the platform and associated facilities. Preparation of a DP entails considerable data-gathering which necessitates the conduction of platform-based technical studies. To ensure conciseness and robustness, the report is furnished with information from other supporting documents as illustrated in Figure 2.14.



Figure 2.14: Main documents and supporting studies for Murchison decommissioning (CNRI 2012)

Elaborate documentation is particularly important for platforms that are candidates for derogation as there is a legal requirement for the platform operator to justify the decision to leave any part of the platform structure behind (BEIS 2018). A comparative assessment report is one of the primary supporting documents for a DP and the AHP technique has been applied to various degrees in developing this report for several decommissioning programs (CNRI 2012; Repsol 2017, 2020; Xodus Group 2017, 2018, 2020). Hence, it is beneficial to further understand this MCDA technique and its effective adoption for solving the decision problem of evaluating decommissioning options.

2.11. Summary

The review of existing literature in this chapter has set the stage for the research by providing a rich understanding of offshore decommissioning. The different alternatives for decommissioning offshore platforms were grouped into three main options i.e., complete removal, partial removal and leave in place. Through a critical review of previous works in decommissioning options evaluation, five decision criteria were adopted for evaluating decommissioning options. These are safety, environmental impact, technical feasibility, cost, and public perception. Next, a review of decommissioning cost analysis was performed, and this highlighted the need for improvements to current decommissioning options costing approaches. Through this critical review, the AHP technique was identified as the MCDA technique most suited for developing a robust decommissioning decision model. It was also established that such a model must ensure structured use of expert opinion and replacement of this with actual decommissioning project data when it becomes available. These insights guided formulation of the research objectives as stated in Chapter one and will also be used to furnish an adequate methodology for this research in the next chapter.

Chapter 3 : RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This chapter discusses the research techniques and tools used to achieve the aim and objectives of this research as stated in Chapter one. The research approach and design are presented in section 3.1 and section 3.2 respectively. Section 3.3. outlines the research methods and strategy used for data collection. The main data analysis techniques used in this research are subsequently described in section 3.4. Finally, a summary of the chapter is presented in section 3.5.

3.1. Research Approach

The key differences between the three main research approaches to investigating the aims and objectives of a research are shown in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1: Differences between deductive, inductive, and abductive research approaches (Adapted from Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill 2020)

Research Approach						
Key Aspect	Deductive	Inductive	Abductive			
Logical inference	When the premises are true, the conclusion must also be true.	Known premises are used to generate untested conclusions.	Known premises are used to generate testable conclusions.			
Generalisability	Generalising from the general to the specific.	Generalising from the specific to the general.	Generalising from the interactions between the specific and the general.			
Use of data	To evaluate propositions or hypotheses related to an existing theory.	To explore a phenomenon, identify themes and patterns and create a conceptual framework.	To explore a phenomenon, identify themes and patterns, locate these in a conceptual framework and test this through subsequent data collection and so forth.			
Theory	Theory falsification or verification.	Theory generation and building.	Theory generation or modification; incorporating existing theory where appropriate, to build new theory or modify existing theory.			

Based on this information, the deductive research approach was identified to be the most adequate for this research work. The research begins by using information from reviewing literature and existing knowledge about options evaluation to develop a decision model for identifying the optimal decommissioning option for an offshore platform. This is followed by investigating the applicability of the developed model with the intent of either confirming or contradicting the performance of the model depending on the obtained outcomes.

3.2. Research Design

The design adopted for this research comprises of a synthesis of quantitative and qualitative research methods and utilises multiple data analysis techniques including AHP, machine learning, sensitivity analysis and data scaling. The novelty of this methodological approach lies in its unique combination and application of existing research elements to the optimisation of offshore decommissioning decision-making to facilitate objective analysis and unlock valuable insights. Hence, the research design is innovative, and its outcome represents an advancement of the existing body of decommissioning knowledge.

A schematic flowchart showing the logical steps followed in this research is presented in Figure 3.1. The figure illustrates the general plan of action used to accomplish the research aim and objectives.



Figure 3.1: Research design

The research aim is to develop decision support to aid decision-makers in determining the best available option for decommissioning their offshore platform. This was initiated by a review of existing literature that is pertinent to offshore decommissioning to establish the theoretical foundation of the research.

Literature review in Chapter two of this thesis investigated the concept of offshore decommissioning and existing approaches for identifying the best option for decommissioning a platform with focus on their strengths and weaknesses. This provided an understanding of the main options for decommissioning offshore structures as well as the key considerations for choosing an option for a given project. The review identified flaws in the existing approaches such as limited scope of considered decision criteria, results ambiguity, excessive human bias in judgement, inability to combine qualitative and quantitative data, and inability to integrate historical data and emerging knowledge into options analysis as more decommissioning projects are completed. These findings were used to furnish the desirable capabilities of a robust decision model. Also, the key decision criteria that determine the suitability of a decommissioning option for a project were identified. A decommissioning decision model (DDM) which captures these learnings was subsequently developed in Chapter four.

After its development, the DDM's functionality and applicability to decommissioning projects was demonstrated by using the model to solve the problem of decommissioning options evaluation for a case study platform. Evaluation of the considered decommissioning options was facilitated by a survey of decommissioning experts. Analysis of the survey responses involves weighing the decision criteria, scoring the considered decommissioning options based on their expected performances in terms of each criterion, and combining the calculated weights and scores to obtain weighted scores for each option. The options were ranked based on their weighted scores, a value which indicates the level of expected desirable outcome from using the option for the decommissioning project. Following this, the DDM was validated and modified if the results were unsatisfactory, otherwise it was proposed for industry use.

A requirement of the DDM is the capability to support integration of historical data. To demonstrate this, the decommissioning survey was also used to identify platform features that have the highest influence on the selection of a decommissioning option. Machine learning regression was then applied to these

71

features in combination with secondary historical data to develop a mathematical model for predicting the costs of decommissioning options. Finally, the costing model was used to predict the costs of using different options for decommissioning the case study and these costs were transformed into input for the DDM.

3.3. Research Methodology

The main methods and data analysis techniques used for achieving the aim and objectives of this research are mapped to the research objectives in Table 3.2.

Further description of these research elements is subsequently provided.

Research **Associated Tasks** Research Data **Objectives** Method Analysis Technique 1. To develop a a. Critically assess the Literature existing approaches for decision model for Review identifying the best evaluating decommissioning decommissioning options for offshore option for an offshore platforms to identify their platform with the aid limitations. of multicriteria b. Develop a novel Literature AHP, decision analysis. decommissioning decision Machine Review model with information from Learning, Sensitivity 2(a) and multi-criteria decision analysis. Analysis Case Likert-AHP 2. To investigate the a. Establish the relative applicability of the importance of the factors Study, decision model by considered in Survey using it to evaluate decommissioning options decommissioning selection for a case study. options for a case Likert-AHP b. Evaluate Case study platform. decommissioning options for Study, the case study platform. Survey c. Perform sensitivity Case Sensitivity analysis of the results for Study Analysis the case study. a. Compare model results 3. To investigate the Literature validity of the for the case study with Review developed decision results from similar works in model and results literature. obtained from its b. Validate the Survey application to the decommissioning decision case study. model. 4. To develop a a. Review existing Literature decommissioning decommissioning cost Review options costing model estimation techniques to and integrate this into identify their limitations. decommissioning b. Develop an improved Machine decision-making. approach for predicting the Learning costs of decommissioning offshore platforms. c. Integrate the outcome of _ Data 4(b) into the developed Scaling decision model.

Table 3.2: Research Methodology

3.3.1. Case Study

Case study research strategy entails extensive examination of a single instance of a phenomenon in its real-life context for the purpose of generating an in-depth understanding (Crowe et al. 2011; Ridder 2017). This strategy was identified in this research as the most viable medium for generating the primary data for analysis. Case study implementation is achieved in four stages (Stake 1995; Hancock and Algozzine 2021), namely definition of the phenomenon of interest, selection of case study, data collection, and analysis, interpretation, and reporting of findings. These stages were followed in Chapter five of this thesis to investigate the applicability of the decommissioning decision model after its development i.e., objective 2.

3.3.2. Survey

A survey of decommissioning practitioners enabled the capturing of comprehensive information for supporting the analysis in this research work. This method was used for achieving parts of objective 3 and objective 4.

3.3.2.1. Survey Questionnaire Design

A copy of the decommissioning survey is attached to appendix 2 of this thesis. It comprises twenty-four questions distributed into three main sections as follows: Demographics (five questions), Comparisons and Judgements (eleven questions), and Additional Information (eight questions).

1. Demographics

The demographics section contained questions for understanding the defining characteristics of participants, namely their offshore region of operation, level of education, years of decommissioning-related experience, affiliation to decommissioning, and the aspect of decommissioning that they were most knowledgeable about. Based on these characteristics, the survey respondents were classified into distinct groups to understand the degree of diversity in the responses and extent of representation for each group.

2. Comparisons and Judgements

In this section of the questionnaire, the respondents were first provided with a factual description of the features of the case study to be decommissioned. Using this information and their knowledge of decommissioning, they proceeded to compare several alternatives with the aid of a predefined Likert scale and based on five decision criteria. The section is sub-divided into two parts namely Criteria and Sub-Criteria Weighting, and Decommissioning Options Scoring.

2A(I). Criteria Weighting

The survey questions are posed to solicit for qualitative responses and with the aid of a Likert scale, these qualitative responses are converted to their quantitative equivalents to make it possible to perform numerical calculations (see Table 3.3). This 5-point scale has been derived from the preference scale recommended for AHP analysis by Saaty (Asadabadi, Chang and Saberi 2019). A discussion of the effect of using other measurement scales for AHP analysis can be found in the literature (see Hossain, Adnan and Hasin (2014)).

Table 3.3: Conversion from qualitative to quantitative scales for criteria and sub-criteria weighting

Qualitative Response	Equivalent Quantitative Value
Least Important	1
Less Important	3
Moderately Important	5
Highly Important	7
Extremely Important	9

To harmonise differences in the opinion of participants to the questions in this section, responses to each question were aggregated into single consensus values by taking the geometric mean. These aggregated values are the input for Likert-to-AHP calculations to determine criteria weights.

2A(II). Sub-Criteria Weighting

As discussed in Chapter two of this thesis, decision criteria typically comprise key aspects or sub-criteria that capture all the important considerations within them. These sub-criteria had previously been explored by the researcher and a decision was made to explicitly include them in the survey as the tendency of participants being oblivious or only partly aware of these sub-criteria exists. Moreso, thorough knowledge of the interrelationship between the sub-criteria of a criterion is valuable to project stakeholders, especially when gathering data to inform decision-making in that this knowledge will influence effective allocation of resources and streamlining of efforts to focus on relevant data. With these in mind, the survey investigated sub-criteria weighting for two main reasons. These were to

- i. Explicitly inform the participants about the key aspects of the decisioncriteria and subsequently increase their likelihood of making good judgements when completing the survey.
- ii. Further understand the decision criteria by investigating the relative importance of their constituent sub-criteria.

2B. Decommissioning Options Scoring

After establishing the weights of all decision criteria (and sub-criteria), the expected performance of decommissioning options for the case study platform with respect to each criterion was determined in the form of options ratings. To achieve this, the previously explained steps were repeated using responses to questions referring to options evaluation or scoring with reference to safety, environmental impact, technical feasibility, cost, and public perception.

The Likert scale used for scoring decommissioning options is shown in Table 3.4. This scale was also derived from the Saaty scale but differs from the scale for criteria weighting in that different adjectives are used for describing the rating alternatives in alignment with the wording of the questions.

Table	3.4:	Conversion	from	qualitative	to	quantitative	scales	for
decom	missio	ning options s	scoring					

Qualitative Response	Equivalent Quantitative Value
Worst	1
Poor	3
Average	5
Good	7
Best	9

Having determined the priorities for criteria weights and performance scores for the decommissioning options, the final step in the options evaluation was to combine both values into weighted scores for each evaluated option.

3. Additional Information

In the third section of the survey, participants were requested to suggest possible additional sub-criteria to be considered in the decision-making. The survey structure is restrictive due to the nature of the issues it addresses. However, making provision for respondents to include any additional information provides an opportunity for the survey to capture information that the author might not have considered during its design.

Also, survey participants were asked to give their opinion about the relative relevance or priority of platform features to options selection. Offshore platforms have distinctive features e.g., topsides weight and platform age. Knowledge of platform features which are most relevant to decommissioning considerations will aid the development of parametric decommissioning models which can feed into the DDM developed in this research. Eight main platform features are presented in this part of the survey and the participants qualitatively provide their judgement about the relevance rating for each of these. The platform features include:

- Topsides weight
- Substructure weight
- Water depth
- Platform age
- Distance from land
- Jacket weight
- Piles weight, and
- Number of piles

Prioritisation of these platform features was achieved by first converting each of the qualitative relevance ratings ascribed to them by the survey participants to quantitative values as shown in Table 3.5 to enable numerical calculations.

Table	3.5:	Conversion	from	qualitative	to	quantitative	scales	for	relevance
rating									

Qualitative Response	Equivalent Quantitative Value
No Relevance	1
Low Relevance	3
Moderate Relevance	5
High Relevance	7
Extremely high Relevance	9

Decommissioning-related work experience is regarded as the strongest indicator of the expertise of respondents since the decommissioning industry is still at an infancy stage (Birchenough and Degraer 2020). Hence, the prioritisation values were aggregated by calculating the Weighted Geometric Mean based on the years of decommissioning-related work experience of respondents as shown in Table 3.6. This implies that the opinions of individuals with more years of work experience weighed more than those of individuals with less work experience, as the former are assumed to be more knowledgeable on the subject. Note that conversion scales in Table 3.5 and Table 3.6 are adaptations of the Saaty scale.

Table 3.6: Assignment of	Weights to Participants	' years of work experience

Years of Work Experience	Assigned Weight	
0 – 3 years	1	
4 – 7 years	3	
8 – 11 years	5	
12 – 15 years	7	
>15 years	9	

3.3.2.2. Distribution of Survey Questionnaire

The target participants for the survey comprised individuals that are experts in decommissioning and people who had engaged with previous decommissioning projects as members of stakeholder groups. After its design, the survey questionnaire was uploaded to a website platform with its address link distributed to the target participants via personal emails, online groups, and social media networks. Online surveys are advantageous over offline surveys due to their ability to reach many target participants in less time, and with less manpower, and less expenses involved (Sinclair et al. 2012; Mondal et al. 2018). Hence, their adoption for this research.

The decommissioning survey was hosted on the JISC Online Survey tool, a web-based tool designed for academic research, education and public sector organisations (https://www.onlinesurveys.ac.uk/). The tool is easy to use, GDPR (General Data Protection Regulation) compliant, and ISO 27001 certified. It also has functionality for exporting the responses data to external tools such as Excel and SPSS. This made it an excellent choice for hosting the survey because, as part of the data analysis, follow-on AHP calculations were performed on the collated response data using Excel Software.

3.3.2.3. Pilot Survey

The pilot version of the online survey was conducted for a duration of two months in the period between November 2021-December 2021. This trial run was necessary for checking the appropriateness of the survey in terms of ease of comprehension, and time taken for completion, and for timely identification of any errors in the questions or their structuring.

There were thirty-three participants to the pilot survey and their feedback informed several changes to the original survey design including:

- i. Clarification of the ethical statement in the first page of the survey to clearly highlight that any personal information will be kept anonymous.
- Removal of a question in the demographic section about respondent's current role in the offshore industry as this information was seen to be irrelevant to the analysis goal.
- iii. Addition of a question to the demographic section for capturing the specific areas of decommissioning that a respondent is most knowledgeable about.
- iv. Explicit explanation of the problem hierarchy to make it more understandable to the respondents and minimise ambiguities in interpretation of the information.

- Adoption of a theoretical offshore platform in the POCS California region instead of Hidalgo platform as the case study to avoid ethical issues which would likely arise with the asset's owners if a real-life platform were to be used as the case study.
- vi. Restriction of responses to questions in the Criteria and Sub-Criteria weighting sections such that respondent cannot assign the same rating to more than two elements at the same level. This restriction was to encourage critical reflection by the respondent in making judgements. An explanation of this rule is provided in the introduction of the section.
- vii. Removal of Employment, Ocean Access, Recreational Use, And Tax Concessions as sub-criteria of the Public Perception criterion.
- viii. Explicit description of the endpoint of removed portion of the platform by including a footnote to the Decommissioning Options illustration figure to clarify that all removed portions are taken to land for recycling/disposal.

Implementing these key changes to the content and structure of the pilot survey led to developing an improved version which then served as the main survey. Thus, effectively serving the purpose of questions and presentation validation prior to carrying out the main survey (Ball 2019).

After collection, numerical analyses were performed on the survey data using Excel software following its importation from JISC Online Survey Platform. AHP calculations constituted most of the analyses and the formulars for implementing the technique were coded into Excel software by the researcher before data importation in line with the procedure described in Burge (2014).

The next section details the data analysis techniques employed in this research.

3.4. Data Analysis Techniques

3.4.1. AHP Methodology

The methodology for implementing AHP as identified from literature (Islam and Saaty 2010; Ohanyere and Abili 2015; Mu and Pereyra-Rojas 2018; Ozdemir and Sahin 2018) is described below.

- Decomposition: Define the elements of the AHP model including the goal or main objective of the process, criteria or factors that matter to the decision-maker, sub-criteria which highlight aspects of the criteria, and the alternatives or options that the decision-maker must choose from. These are used to develop the hierarchical structure which helps the decision-maker to gain a clearer understanding of the problem and nature of the desired solution. For more complex problems, experts are consulted at this stage to ensure that all relevant criteria and alternatives have been captured.
- 2. Prioritisation: Develop pairwise comparison square matrices, also called judgement matrices, for each set of elements in the same level except for the top element. For each matrix E, use the Saaty preference scale to assign values to the matrix cells as shown in Equation 3.1, where Eij is the value of the cell in the ith row, mth column of matrix E and represents the preference of the element in the ith row over the element of the jth determinant when both are compared with reference to their parent element. For example, a value of 1 indicates that the elements being compared contribute equally to the objective while a value of 9 indicates that the contribution of one element is significantly more important than the other.

$$E = \begin{bmatrix} E_{11} & \cdots & E_{1n} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ E_{n1} & \cdots & E_{nn} \end{bmatrix}$$

(3.1)

$$E_{ii} = 1, \ E_{ji} = \frac{1}{E_{ij}}, \ E_{ij} \neq 0$$

Where n represents the number of elements in the comparison matrix.

The number of judgements or comparisons required to populate a matrix with n number of elements via pairwise comparisons was determined by Belton and Stewart (2002) to be given by Equation 3.2.

Number of judgements,
$$J = \frac{n(n-1)}{2}$$
 (3.2)

3. Synthesis: From the values in each judgement matrix, generate a priority vector which shows the weights of importance of all elements in the matrix. The priority vector, also called the eigenvector, can be estimated as the average of normalised columns as shown in Equations 3.3 and 3.4 (Shapira and Goldenberg 2005; Mu and Pereyra-Rojas 2018; Wang et al. 2020). This involves summing the values in each column to obtain column totals, normalising each cell by dividing its value with its column total, and taking the average value of each row.

Priority vector,
$$P = \begin{bmatrix} P_i \\ \dots \\ P_n \end{bmatrix}$$
 (3.3)
$$P_i = \frac{1}{n} * \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{E_{ij}}{\sum_{k=1}^n E_{kj}}$$
 (3.4)

Where, E_{ij} is an element located in row i and column j of the judgement matrix.

Consistency checks are also performed to verify if the pairwise comparison judgements are consistent or in agreement with each other. Saaty (1977) proposed a term called the consistency ratio (CR) for this purpose which can be calculated from Equation 3.5. CR indicates the level of logical agreements between the judgements used to populate the pairwise comparison matrix. In general, the judgements are accepted as being consistent if the calculated CR does not exceed 0.10. Otherwise, improvements are made to the judgement matrix before it can be used with confidence.

$$CR = \frac{CI}{RI_n} \tag{3.5}$$

Where CI is the consistency index calculated using Equation 3.6

$$CI = \frac{\lambda_{max} - n}{n - 1} \tag{3.6}$$

Where λ max and n respectively represent the maximum eigenvalue and size of the pairwise comparison matrix being investigated. And RIn or random index is an estimate of the average consistency index obtained from a large enough set of randomly generated n-sized matrices. The random indexes for different values of n are shown in Table 3.7.

Table 3.7: Random Index values for different matrix sizes (Brunelli 2015)

Matrix	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Size (n)								
Random	0.525	0.882	1.109	1.248	1.342	1.406	1.45	1.485
Index								

4. Aggregation: Combine the products of each criterion weight with the score of an alternative when evaluated with reference to the criterion to obtain the weighted score for that alternative as shown in Equation 3.7 (Na et al. 2017; Nnaji and Banigo 2018). The procedure is repeated for all considered alternatives and their obtained weighted scores are used for comparatively ranking the alternatives.

$$W_i = \sum_{j=1}^n w_j * s_{ij}$$
 (3.7)

Where W_i is the weighted score for alternative i, w_j is the weight of importance of criterion j and s_{ij} is the score of alternative i with respect to criterion j.

Note that steps 1-3 alone generate priorities or relative weights for the criteria and sub-criteria which show how important they are to achieving the desired objective and step 4 is purely for the purpose of ranking the alternatives. The AHP technique was used in this research to develop the decommissioning decision model (i.e., objective 1) in Chapter four.

Despite its extensive application, the AHP technique suffers from several weaknesses which include ambiguous questions, rigid measurement scales, and variations in results depending on the hierarchy structure (Song and Kang 2016; Çalişkan et al. 2019; Çetinyokuş et al. 2020). Overcoming these issues requires proper structuring of the decision problem into AHP hierarchy and soliciting for expert opinion in a manner that effectively captures their judgements and minimises inconsistencies (Hossain, Adnan and Hasin 2014). The latter measure is achieved in this research with the Likert-AHP technique.

3.4.2. Integration of Likert Scale with AHP (Likert-AHP)

The number of judgements required for populating a decision matrix increases with the number of elements involved (see equation(3.2)). This leads to challenges with inconsistencies when using AHP to solve decision-making problems that require plenty of comparisons due to having a high number of criteria and alternatives (Çetinyokuş et al., 2020). Moreso, real-life problems are often complex and multi-faceted, and Saaty (1977) defined the allowable bound of consistency ratio to be 0.01 which is quite a small margin. This has led to a recent increase in research efforts to simplify the AHP process while ensuring that the accuracy of its results meet acceptable standards (Song and Kang 2016).

Hossain, Adnan and Hasin (2014) asserted that the weightings provided by AHP are only useful for prioritising or ranking the alternatives and should not be interpreted as the actual proportion of relative importance of alternatives. Franek and Kresta (2014) also concluded that judgment scales have a profound impact on criteria priorities but not on ranking of criteria. This assertion is supported by the analysis performed by Shapira and Goldenberg (2005). Furthermore, some authors have taken a broader view and posited that MCDA methods tend to yield same ranking results despite variations in the scores (Ertuğrul and Karakaşoğlu 2008; Dehe and Bamford 2015). Thus, suggesting that the primary target of AHP is ranking alternatives according to their preferences.

Hossain, Adnan and Hasin (2014) further proposed a combination of Likert scale and AHP to improve the weight assignment process. In their proposed approach Likert scale is used for eliciting responses from the survey participants which are then used to perform AHP calculations with some modifications. The benefits from using this approach are threefold.

- Likert scale enables its user to clearly capture the opinions of individuals hence its widespread applications in the areas of psychometry, prioritisation, and resource allocation (Joshi et al. 2015). This scale reduces the likelihood of survey participants misunderstanding the posed questions, a potential challenge when using the traditional AHP technique (Shapira and Goldenberg 2005).
- ii. The Likert-AHP approach ensures that there are no inconsistencies in the judgements (i.e., consistency ratio = 0) while yielding results that are sufficient for ranking the evaluated alternatives.
- iii. It results in a more user-friendly input and time savings from requiring a lower number of judgements than the traditional AHP technique as shown in Figure 3.2. The number of judgements required when using Likert-AHP approach is n whereas using the traditional AHP approach requires $(n^2 - n)/2$ judgements, where n is the number of elements being compared with each other at the same hierarchy level.



Figure 3.2: Comparison of the number of required judgements for the traditional AHP approach and the Likert-AHP approach.

Due to these benefits, the Likert-AHP technique was applied in this research for designing the survey questionnaire and analysing the responses from participants i.e., objective 2.

The procedure for using the Likert-AHP technique is depicted in Figure 3.3. It differs from the traditional AHP process in that the prioritisation stage is replaced with suggestion matrix formulation.



Figure 3.3: Likert-AHP procedure

The Likert-AHP calculations in this research are detailed in appendix 3. For further details about using the procedure, the reader is referred to Hossain, Adnan and Hasin (2014).

3.4.3. Sensitivity Analysis

Sensitivity analysis is a mathematical procedure for investigating how results or decisions might change with different input data (Goepel 2017). The analysis is a viable means of validating the input data of a model and the results obtained from its use (Smith et al. 2008). It is considered risky to rely on the current inputs of a decision model if sensitivity analysis of the model results suggest that a change of 5% or less to any of the model's input parameters causes a change in the most-preferred alternative (Abu-Shabeen 2008). Such findings warrant further review and validation of the initial weights of the input parameters. This analysis was applied in Chapter six of this research to check validity of the input data i.e., objective 3 and constituted part of the model implementation for the case study (objective 2).

Numerical incremental analysis (NIA), which is adopted in this research, is the most popular sensitivity analysis method in the literature for cases where AHP is used to solve MCDA problems and for software tools which implement AHP (IJzerman, Groothuis-Oudshoorn and Hummel 2011; Chen and Kocaoglu 2008; Siraj et al. 2013). This method, also known as One-at-a-time analysis, entails incrementally changing the numerical values of specific parameters and observing the corresponding changes in the model result. Only one parameter of interest is investigated for each sensitivity analysis run, hence the name one-at-a-time analysis. The procedure used to implement NIA for the developed decision model after obtaining its results for the case study was adopted from the literature (Barker and Zabinsky 2011; SHELL 2017; Rahman and Szabó 2021; Enyinda et al. 2022; Haag, Aubert and Lienert 2022). The weights of each of the five decision criteria were varied from 0% to 100% while distributing the remaining weight proportion to the other four criteria in proportion to their original weights, with the corresponding changes in the

ranking of the decommissioning options recorded. The sensitivity for each decision criterion was then visualised with a graphical plot.

3.4.4. Machine Learning

Machine learning refers to the use of statistical and mathematical models to obtain a general understanding of data and to make predictions. It is the application and science of algorithms that make sense of data. This field of learning evolved in the latter part of the 20th century as an aspect of artificial intelligence involving self-learning algorithms that derive knowledge from data to make predictions (Raschka and Mirjalili 2019). Furthermore, use of machine learning for mathematical modelling is increasingly becoming popular due to abundance of data and advances in computing technology (Arasu, Seelan and Thamaraiselvan 2020; Chaudhary et al. 2021). A significant rise in the frequency of applying machine learning modelling within the petroleum industry has been observed over the past few years, driven by increasing data availability, computational power, and development of more advanced computational algorithms (Khan et al. 2022).

Machine learning is sub-divided into supervised and unsupervised learning. Unsupervised learning deals with unlabelled data or data of unknown structure and comprises techniques for exploring the structure of data to extract meaningful information without the guidance of a known outcome variable. Supervised learning, on the other hand, entails creating a model from labelled training data to understand underlying relationships between its parameters and making predictions about unseen or future data as shown in Figure 3.4. This is achieved through analysing a set of training examples (or data inputs) where the desired output signals (or labels) are already known.


Figure 3.4: Workflow of supervised learning

Supervised learning tasks are further divided into tasks involving discrete class labels or classification, and tasks involving continuous values or regression. Nonetheless, there is some overlap between classification and regression tasks, and algorithms such as decision trees and artificial neural networks can be used for performing both task with little modifications. Regression analysis is the primary concern of this research because the nature of most historical data pertaining to decommissioning is continuous with real numerical values.

This technique was used in Chapter eight to create a mathematical model for predicting the costs of utilising different options for a decommissioning project based on historical data (objective 4).

3.4.5. Data Scaling

Data scaling is a technique used to mathematically transform quantitative values into magnitudes that are easily comparable. Through data scaling, quantitative historical data can be expressed in a relative format and made comparable to expert opinion, thus enabling the integration of both data sources as model input (ALHababi 2015). Therefore, this technique was applied to improve the quality of input data to the decision model developed in this research.

McCann et al. (2017) applied interpolation in scaling decommissioning data with the formula shown in Equation 3.8 for any given numerical parameter, X.

$$X_s = \frac{X_i - X_{worst}}{X_{best} - X_{worst}}$$
(3.8)

Where, X_s is the scaled value, X_i is the original value of the parameter, X_{worst} is the value corresponding to the most undesirable state of the parameter, and X_{worst} is the value corresponding to the most desirable state of the parameter.

It can be inferred from Equation 3.8 that actual quantitative values of a parameter such as decommissioning cost are scalable to relative ratios, provided there is knowledge of the desired target scale and range of values for the target parameter. However, the equation suffers a limitation of only being able to scale values between the range of 0 to 1, therefore it cannot be used to reduce values into a range with a non-zero minimum value such as the input data for Likert scale which has a custom range of 1-9. Nevertheless, this drawback was overcome in this research by adopting the range transformation scaling method proposed in the literature (Akanbi, Amiri and Fazeldehkordi 2015; Liu et al. 2022) for performing linear transformation of numerical data.

Suppose that $OMIN_i$ and $OMAX_i$ are the minimum and the maximum values for a parameter, i. Range transformation scaling can be used to map a value V of i to V' in the range ($NMIN_i$, $NMAX_i$) by computing as shown in Equation 3.9.

$$V' = \frac{V - OMIN_i}{OMAX_i - OMIN_i} x (NMAX_i - NMIN_i) + NMIN_i$$
(3.9)

To scale decommissioning cost values into their equivalent values in the Likert scale using Equation 3.9, $OMIN_i$ is replaced by the cost value of the most expensive decommissioning option and $OMAX_i$ becomes the cost value of the cheapest decommissioning option. Similarly, the new range ($NMIN_i$, $NMAX_i$) becomes (1,9) and V is replaced by the decommissioning cost value of interest.

Equation 3.9 is applied in this research for transforming the decommissioning costs for the case study platform into the Likert scale after their estimation in Chapter eight i.e., objective 4(c).

3.5. Summary

This chapter outlined the key elements of the research methodology in detail and explained the data analysis techniques applied throughout the research to achieve the aim and objectives stated in Chapter one. Firstly, the deductive approach was identified to be the most adequate for this research. This was followed by a presentation of the design adopted for this research. The research design comprises a synthesis of quantitative and qualitative research methods and utilises several data analysis techniques. Descriptions of the case study and survey research methods were also presented with the justification for their adoption in this research. Finally, the main data analysis techniques used in this research (i.e., AHP, Likert-AHP, sensitivity analysis, machine learning and data scaling) were discussed with regards to how they are applied and the justification for their adoption. The next chapter describes the logical development of a decision support model for decommissioning decision-making in line with the discussed methodology.

Chapter 4 : DEVELOPMENT OF DECOMMISSIONING DECISION MODEL

As highlighted in Chapter one, the complexity of decommissioning decisionmaking necessitates the requirement for a decision model to aid the process.

Following the review of existing approaches to decommissioning options evaluation in Chapter two, a decision model which harnesses the strengths and mitigates the weaknesses of these approaches was developed. This chapter discusses the development of the decommissioning decision model (DDM). It also highlights benefits that are envisaged to accrue to decommissioning decision-makers from a widespread adoption of the model.

4.1. General Framework

An overview of the decision model's underlying framework is illustrated in Figure 4.1. From start to finish, it comprises of four primary phases namely pre-assessment (process A-B), data gathering (process B-C), alternatives evaluation (process C-D) and results interpretation (process D-E). These phases have been carefully identified such that usage of the model will streamline the efforts and resources that a decision-maker expends in determining the optimal option for decommissioning an offshore platform.



Figure 4.1: Framework of Decommissioning Decision Model

Further details of the activities which constitute each of the phases are subsequently provided.

4.2. Detailed Design

4.2.1. Phase I: Pre-Assessment

The first phase in using the decision model entails gaining an initial understanding of the offshore platform to be decommissioned, the options being considered for executing the project and the applicable legislative context. The activities that comprise this phase are shown in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2: Pre-Assessment Phase of the DDM

Some key physical features of an offshore platform to be identified at this phase include the size and configuration of its components, water depth, structural integrity, and proximity to land. Also, the decision-maker is required to compile a list of all the possible decommissioning options for the This compilation is necessary because a wide range project. of decommissioning options are in existence (Chen 2017) and some of these might not be applicable to the platform due to its physical features. Next, the considered decommissioning options are screened against the regulations which oversee decommissioning in the location where the platform is situated, provided that these regulations exist. Decommissioning options not permitted by the overseeing regulations are discarded and only permitted options are progressed for further analysis. According to Andrawus, Steel and Watson (2009), establishing a screening medium which defines the minimum standard requirements is the first step in selecting an optimal decommissioning option. Government regulations were adjudged in this study to be a valid medium for screening decommissioning options because it encapsulates several measures that align with industry best practice (McCann et al. 2017). Screening of decommissioning options leads to efficiency savings to the decision-maker from timely discarding of options not approved by the overseeing legislation.

In the UK, regulatory screening of decommissioning options depends on the platform type and substructure weight as shown in Table 4.1, thus necessitating initial knowledge of the platform's physical features.

Table 4.1: Possible decommissioning options for offshore structures located in the UKCS (Adapted from BEIS 2018)

Platform Type	Weight of Substructure (tons)	Complete Removal	Partial Removal	Leave in Place	Reuse	Disposal at Sea
Fixed	<10,000	Yes	No	No	Yes	No
Steel	>10,000	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No
Concrete- gravity	Any	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Floating	Any	Yes	No	No	Yes	No
Subsea	Any	Yes	No	No	Yes	No

If only one decommissioning option passes the screening exercise, the option becomes selected as being optimal for the project. However, it is more likely that several options are approved, and these are then carried forward for further analysis.

Lastly, an evaluation scheme specifying the decision criteria to be used for evaluating the decommissioning options and the desired level of detail is defined in agreement with the project stakeholders. The evaluation scheme is also influenced by the decommissioning approach of the regulator which can either be a prescriptive or goal-setting approach.

4.2.2. Phase II: Data Gathering

The decision criteria that are relevant to decommissioning options evaluation for offshore platforms have been identified in Chapter two of this thesis. Figure 4.3 shows the main activities involved in the data gathering phase. These activities are directed towards ensuring that there is adequate information for the decision maker to evaluate the considered decommissioning options for the platform in terms of these decision criteria.



Figure 4.3: Data Gathering Phase of the DDM

Supporting studies such as Environmental Impact Assessment and Technical Feasibility studies are conventional sources of decommissioning information. Historical data from previous decommissioning projects is also a valuable source of quantitative data to support the decision-making, especially when collated into datasets or formulated into mathematical models (Eke et al 2021; Kaiser and Liu 2014, TSB 2016). In the absence of sufficient information, and for furnishing qualitative aspects of the decision criteria, inputs from decommissioning experts supplement the available information. This enables a thorough assessment of all aspects of the decision criteria in the next phase.

4.2.3. Phase III: Alternatives Evaluation

Figure 4.4 illustrates the Alternatives Evaluation phase. This phase involves the logical evaluation of all considered decommissioning options for the platform with reference to the decision criteria i.e., safety, technical feasibility, environmental impact, cost, and public perception. This is achieved using an MCDA technique and information from the data gathering stage as input.



Figure 4.4: Alternatives Evaluation Phase of the DDM

The Analytic Hierarchy Process was determined in Chapter two of this thesis as the most suitable MCDA technique for this purpose due to its flexibility in handling different data types and well-documented record of use. Evaluating the decommissioning options with this technique minimises bias in expert opinion by enforcing logic in their judgement. Through AHP, weighted scores which comparatively quantify the expected performance of the decommissioning options are calculated for each option. These weighted scores are the key result from options evaluation phase and are progressed into the next phase.

4.2.4. Phase IV: Results Interpretation

In this phase of the model, the results obtained from evaluating the decommissioning options are further probed for insights and then put to final use by guiding the decision maker to identify the optimal option for the decommissioning project. The activities that constitute Results Interpretation are shown in Figure 4.5.



Figure 4.5: Results Interpretation Phase of the DDM

First, the options are ranked in ascending order of their weighted scores such that the option with the highest weighted score becomes the top-ranked option. For example, given three evaluated decommissioning options, the best option would be assigned a rank value of 1 and the worst option assigned a rank of value 3. Following this ranking, a sensitivity analysis is conducted to validate the input data used for the options evaluation and robustness of the obtained results. Ranking of the evaluated options and sensitivity analysis of results unlocks further insights into other scenarios. Thus, effectively capturing concerns of the decommissioning stakeholders to ensure an optimal course of action for the decommissioning project is identified. Finally, the decision-maker chooses the top-ranked decommissioning option as the optimal course of action, thus completing the decision-making process.

4.3. Decommissioning Decision Model

A comprehensive view of all phases of the model's framework along with the constituent activities and their interdependencies is shown in Figure 4.6 (Andrawus, Steel and Watson 2009). This integration of all the components into a logical structure represents the model developed in this research for optimising decommissioning decision-making, also called the decommissioning decision model.



Figure 4.6: Decommissioning Decision Model

4.4. Benefits of the Decision Model

By leveraging on the strengths of previous works on decommissioning decision-making as identified in Chapter two, the DDM enables the decision-maker to unlock higher levels of efficiency and effectiveness in the decision-making process of option selection. Note that the model is a decision-support system and specifically serves the purpose of facilitating the decision-making process but does not assume the decision-taking role of its user (Minguella and Buj 2019).

The developed model is unique, and specific benefits are envisaged to accrue from its widespread adoption by the offshore decommissioning industry. Some of these benefits are subsequently outlined.

- i. The model represents a systematic and auditable decision-making process. It minimizes human subjectivity in the decision-making process through the provision of structured guidance on steps for the decision-maker to follow. Traceability of the final decision to the information inputs will ensure accountability of the platform owner and clarity in communicating the justification for choosing а decommissioning option. Thus, reducing the likelihood of conflicts between stakeholders of the decommissioning project.
- ii. The model provides a transparent, logical framework for structuring the decommissioning option selection process; it holistically synthesizes all the available information that is relevant to solving the decision-making problem. Its use will streamline efforts towards decommissioning data collection by enabling the platform owners to decipher what information is required for determining the optimal option for decommissioning their asset.
- iii. It is highly flexible and makes use of data from diverse sources to facilitate an efficient decision-making process, irrespective of the desired level of detail. In addition to information from platform-specific studies, existing decommissioning datasets/models from historical data

and expert opinion are harnessed by the model to ensure a proper evaluation of all the considered decommissioning options. Therefore, it can yield results even in circumstances when available data is minimal.

iv. The model is reusable and easily adaptable to different contexts and offshore areas. Consequently, its widespread adoption by the global decommissioning industry will enable direct comparison of the decommissioning decision-making approach of different countries to identify lapses and areas of improvement in current practices.

4.5. Summary

This chapter described the development of a structured decision model for determining the optimal option for decommissioning offshore platforms. The model harnesses the strengths of existing works in the domain and comprises of four phases, i.e., pre-assessment, data gathering, alternatives evaluation and results interpretation phase. Each of the model phases and their associated activities were discussed independently and then logically arranged to form the model. Finally, the envisaged benefits from adoption of the developed model by the oil and gas offshore decommissioning industry were discussed. These include minimisation of human subjectivity, streamlining of efforts, data flexibility, reusability, and adaptability. The next chapter introduces a case study platform for demonstrating the applicability of the developed decision model and discusses the results for evaluating decommissioning options for the case study.

Chapter 5 : MODEL APPLICATION TO A CASE STUDY PLATFORM AND PRESENTATION OF SURVEY RESULTS

As stated in section 3.2, demonstrating the decommissioning decision model's applicability with the case study research strategy involves using the model to determine the optimal option for decommissioning an offshore platform. Detailed description of the case study adopted for this purpose is presented in this chapter. An overview of the application of the decommissioning decision model to the case study is also outlined alongside key results from the survey of decommissioning experts conducted as part of this research.

5.1. Regional Context of Case Study

The case study is a theoretical fixed steel jacket-type platform situated in the California Pacific Outer Continental Shelf, USA. It is pertinent that a physical location be used as reference location for the case study platform. This is because the evaluation of decommissioning options is heavily influenced by this factor. The applicable regulation, weather and climate conditions, and public perception are all variable elements that are location-dependent (Fam et al. 2018; Tung 2020).

5.1.1. Decommissioning in California, USA

The USA offshore industry was birthed in the early years of the 20th century and since then has contributed immensely to the economic development of the state (Mount and Voskanian 2005). The country's major oil producing states are Louisiana, Texas, Alaska, and California (IOGP 2017). Currently there are twenty-three platforms in federal waters on the Pacific Outer Continental Shelf (POCS) of California in water depths ranging from 150 feet to nearly 1,200 feet. These are shown in Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1: Geographical location of the offshore oil and gas facilities in california (MRS Environmental Inc 2019 p. 11)

As stipulated by federal regulations, decommissioning of these offshore assets is a compulsory requirement for operators when the structures are no longer useful for operations or when the leases expire (Bull and Love 2019). This process is overseen by the Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement (BSEE) and Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM) to ensure that it is completed in a timely fashion without significant adverse environmental impact (Bressler and Bernstein 2015).

BOEM is responsible for managing the development of California's offshore energy and mineral resources such as oil and gas; wind, wave, and current energy; sand, gravel, and other minerals in an environmentally and economically responsible way. BSEE, on the other hand, is tasked with promoting safety, protecting the environment, and conserving offshore resources through vigorous regulatory oversight and enforcement. Although it is the prerogative of the asset operator to propose their decommissioning project and timeline to the government, the BSEE, BOEM, and other federal and state agencies with regulatory authorities are responsible for reviewing and approving the proposed decommissioning process and approach. The regulations require removal of platforms to at least 15 feet below the mud line during their decommissioning. However, BSEE may grant a departure from this requirement and permit other decommissioning options such as partial removal, rigs-to-reef, and reuse or alternative use if certain conditions are met. In such situations, the platform operator must support their decommissioning application with the most up-to-date information regarding ecology, engineering, and socioeconomics of the planned project. Peradventure there are information gaps, the regulatory agencies may request that studies be conducted, or additional information be provided. Therefore, decommissioning project plans require careful and detailed preparation with scientific backing to gain regulatory approval (McCann, Henrion and Bernstein 2016).

Moreso, decommissioning is particularly important to California's populace. Decisions made during the decommissioning process, such as the choice of a decommissioning option, can have long-term effects on the surrounding marine resources and coastal areas and adversely impact the future use of the area (Meyer-Gutbrod et al. 2020). Execution of such projects can affect the water quality and result to disruptions for marine vessels, fishers, and other sea users (Mount and Voskanian 2005; Birchenough and Degraer 2020). There is also the potential for these to result to air pollution which will be harmful to people living in the location. Hence, the public closely observes decommissioning-related activities especially as many of the offshore facilities are close to land and highly visible. Focus groups that represent public interest are included in the decision-making process as stakeholders to ensure their opinions are considered and to consequently reduce the likelihood of a backlash from them (Bernstein et al. 2010; Wilkinson et al. 2016; Bull and Love 2019; IDWG 2019).

Owing to its precarious nature, offshore decommissioning in California has always been and will continue to be a fiercely debated topic (Mount and Voskanian 2005). Since the early 2000s, numerous studies and public workshops have been conducted in partnership with various academic institutions and agencies around decommissioning in the POCS, most of which

104

are government funded. The topics covered by these studies include policies, economics, ecology, and recent experiences of decommissioning in other offshore locations. As a result, the literature is replete with platform ecology studies on fish, other biota, and cultural resources including shell mounds and studies regarding decommissioning technology and cost studies that are focused on the platforms in this location. Further information about these studies is outside the remit of this report but their compendium (BOEM and BSEE 2022) is publicly available for interested readers.

At present, all the major decommissioning projects offshore California have been in state waters where relatively smaller platforms are located while none of the platforms in the federal waters have been decommissioned (Byrd, Smith and Spease 2018). Thus, despite the offshore decommissioning experience, a challenge is envisaged with the future decommissioning of larger platforms and these projects are expected to be accompanied by unique removal problems because of the large weights and greater water depths involved (Twachtman Snyder & Byrd Incorporated 2000; Wilkinson et al. 2016). The largest of these platforms, Platform Harmony, sits in a water depth of 1,198 feet and weighs about 70,000 tons. To put this size in context, Figure 5.2 compares the platform to other megastructures including the empire state building which extends to 1,250 feet and the world record for a large platform decommissioning as at 2005 (Mount and Voskanian 2005).



Figure 5.2: Size comparison of platform harmony with some of the world's megastructures (Adapted from Mount and Voskanian 2005)

There has already been a considerable amount of discourse surrounding the future of these sizeable platforms in federal waters, especially with the issue of determining the best option for their decommissioning (McGinnis 2001; Mount and Voskanian 2005; Gourvenec 2018). This is because there are a plethora of merits and demerits associated with using any option for decommissioning a platform and these issues are more significant for larger platforms (Schroeder and Love 2004; Fowler et al. 2014; Bernstein 2015). Also, the situation is becoming increasingly alarming as the timeline for decommissioning these platforms draws near (Bull and Love 2019; Kulovic 2021). Consequently, there is currently a pressing need in the POCS California for research endeavors which are focused on optimising offshore decommissioning such as this research. Moreso, the insights unlocked from these endeavors will, by extension, be beneficial to other offshore locations in the world with upcoming decommissioning projects such as the North Sea and Offshore Australia, Asia, and Africa (Sea and Enterprise 2014; Chandler et al. 2017; Fam et al. 2018; Bull and Love 2019; Martins et al. 2020).

5.2. Case Study Platform Description

A theoretical case study is used in this research instead of an actual platform. This is to avoid conflicts with platform operators who typically regard their platform information as confidential and safeguard it to avoid reputational damage and loss of competitive advantage to other operators (Lakhal, Khan and Islam 2009; Murray et al. 2018).

The decision to select a platform in the California region for the decommissioning study was informed by four primary reasons.

- i. The US Offshore region has the highest number of decommissioning projects in the world and, along with the North Sea region, is most advanced in terms of the maturity of decommissioning technology and legislation (Offshore Engineer 2016; IOGP 2017). This rich experience of decommissioning makes the region ideal for this research.
- ii. The decommissioning regulations in POCS California permit a wide range of decommissioning options including Toppling, and the few decommissioning projects that have been completed in this location witnessed strong opposition from stakeholder groups (Fowler et al. 2014).
- iii. Secondary data about platforms in the location is easy to gather because California is the subject of several decommissioning-related studies reported in the literature (TSB 2000; Schroeder and Love 2004; Bernstein et al. 2010; Claisse et al. 2014; Kaiser and Liu 2014; Bressler and Bernstein 2015; Cantle and Bernstein 2015; McCann, Henrion and Bernstein 2016; TSB 2016a, 2016b; McCann et al. 2017).
- iv. Decommissioning activity in the region is expected to increase and hence there is a real need for studies to support the successful planning and execution of these projects.

Since the case study platform is theoretical, its features were determined as the average of the features of the platforms in the POCS. Thus, ensuring that the platform is an adequate representation of the platforms in this location. Given this representative nature, it can be argued that the results from evaluating decommissioning options for the case study can be extended (to various degrees) to all the platforms in California POCS.

Details of the case study platform features are presented in Table 5.1 below. This was provided to the survey respondents as background information to ensure clarity and serve as a common reference for their judgments. Further details about generation of the data in Table 5.1 can be found in the appendix 1 of this thesis.

Table 5.1: Features of Case Study Platform

Platform Feature	Description
Location	Pacific Outer Continental Shelf, California
Platform type	Fixed steel jacket structure
End of economic life?	Yes
Water depth	406 feet (124 metres)
Topsides weight	4,715 tons
Substructure weight	11,137 tons
Jacket weight	8,774 tons
Piles weight	2,363 tons
Number of piles	16 (8-main and 8-skirt piles)
Conductors weight	3,926 tons
Distance from land	7 miles (11 kilometres)
Date of installation	1979 (43 years)

5.3. Decommissioning Options Considered for Case Study

Asides the substantial number of decommissioning options currently in existence, there is potential for new options to emerge as technology advances. Therefore, a limited number of decommissioning options for the case study platform have been selected for detailed analysis to streamline the efforts. Nevertheless, the findings from this analysis can be extended to other options.

The decommissioning options considered for the case study include leave in place (with topsides removed, wells plugged and abandoned, and the entire underwater portion of the platform is preserved as an artificial reef), complete

removal (to 3 meters below the mudline) and three partial removal variants as shown in Figure 5.3. In all cases, the removed part of the platform is assumed to be disposed on land.



Figure 5.3: Decommissioning options considered for the case study

Leave in place decommissioning option has been included in this work due to its mention in several publications (Schroeder and Love 2004; SEPA 2018; Sommer et al. 2019; Meyer-Gutbrod et al. 2020). Also, with the wells plugged while the entire underwater portion of the platform is preserved, this option can potentially support alternative uses of platforms such as energy generation, aquaculture, prisons, meteorological stations, navigational landmark, hotels, gambling casinos, and water desalination plants (Schroeder and Love 2004; Bernstein 2015).

Further information about the decommissioning options is detailed in Eke et al. (2021) and OGUK (2017). However, a key differentiator between them is their depth of removal as shown in Figure 5.4 below.



Figure 5.4: Illustration of decommissioning options considered for the case study

5.4. Application of Decommissioning Decision Model to Case Study

Using the developed decommissioning decision model to solve the problem of determining the optimal option for decommissioning the case study involves going through the phases of the model as described in Chapter four.

i. Pre-Assessment: The physical features of the case study platform are as shown in Table 5.1. The platform is a fixed-steel jacket structure situated in a water depth of 406 feet (124 metres) and located in the California POCS, USA. Its topsides and substructure weigh 4,715 tons and 11,137 tons, respectively. Also, after 43 years since its installation, the platform has come to the end of its economic life and set to be decommissioned. Regarding options screening, it is possible to use any of the five considered options for decommissioning the platform under the California decommissioning regulations, therefore no option is discarded at this phase.

In terms of the evaluation scheme, the decision criteria identified in Chapter two (i.e., safety, technical feasibility, environmental impact, financial cost, and public perception) are adopted for evaluating the options. To facilitate detailed analysis, these criteria have been further expatiated by highlighting their sub-criteria as identified from the literature (Ekins, Vanner and Firebrace 2006; Andrawus, Steel and Watson 2009; Fowler et al. 2014; Oil and Gas UK (OGUK) 2015; Truchon et al. 2015; Cheng et al. 2017; McCann et al. 2017; Na et al. 2017; GOV.UK 2022). The sub-criteria for each criterion are described in Table 5.2, Table 5.3, Table 5.4, and Table 5.5, respectively.

Safety sub-criteria	Description
Risk to onshore personnel	What is the likelihood and extent of harm
	from using the decommissioning option to
	personnel who receive the removed structure
	and handle its demolition and disposal?
Risk to offshore personnel	What is the likelihood and extent of harm
	from using the decommissioning option to
	personnel who execute the removals
	offshore?
Risk to other sea users	How much risks arise from using the
	decommissioning option to fishers, ships, and
	other sea users during and after the project
	completion?

Table 5.2: Safety Sub-Criteria

Environmental Impact sub-criteria	Description
Energy use	How much energy will be required to execute the decommissioning project with the option?
Emissions	What is the anticipated level of gas emissions to the atmosphere associated with the decommissioning project when using the option?
Waste generation	How much waste material will be required to be sent to landfill when the decommissioning option is used?
Impacts on fish stocks	What is the anticipated net effect of using the decommissioning option on fishes?
Loss of the developed community	To what extent will using the decommissioning option result to mortality of organisms and ecosystem supported by the platform, and its potential to act as an artificial reef?
Water pollution	What is the tendency of accidental spills or harmful discharges to the marine environment from vessels and other machinery on site when using the decommissioning option?
Physical disturbance	What is the expected level of vibrations, noise and disruptions from vessels and divers' activities in the platform vicinity when using the decommissioning option?
Legacy impacts	What is the likely extent of long- term detrimental impacts on the environment due to using the decommissioning option?

Table 5.3: Environmental Impact Sub-Criteria

Technical Feasibility	Description
sub-criteria	
Probability of a major	What is the likelihood of occurrence of
technical failure	significant setbacks that make the project
	infeasible to complete as planned when using
	the decommissioning option?
Use of proven	Are technology and equipment for
technology and	decommissioning a structure having the
equipment	platform's features, such as water depth,
	location, and weight, with the option currently
	within the State of the Art?
Ease of recovery from	How readily can the project get back on track in
excursion	the event of unforeseen setbacks while using
	the option? Are the contingency measures well
	understood?
Logistic requirement	What is the proximity of the disposal site that
	will be required for the decommissioning project
	if it is executed with the option? Are the
	required vessels readily available?
Structural integrity	How much fatigue life does the platform have
	left, and is the structure strong enough to allow
	using the decommissioning option?

Table 5.4: Technical Feasibility Sub-Criteria

Table 5.5: Costs Sub-Criteria

Costs sub-criteria	Description
Financial expenditures	How much money is required to execute the
	decommissioning project using the option?
Revenue generation	Are there any financial incentives that will
	accrue to the platform owners from using the
	decommissioning option?
Post Decommissioning	How much monitoring costs and other future
liability	liabilities will remain for the platform owners
	after completing the project with the
	decommissioning option?

 Data Gathering: There is insufficient information for evaluating the decommissioning options in terms of the agreed decision criteria. Therefore, the evaluation will be heavily reliant on expert opinion from a survey of decommissioning practitioners. A decommissioning mathematical model will also feed into the options evaluation after its development in Chapter eight of this thesis.

- iii. Alternatives Evaluation: Decommissioning options for the case study are evaluated using the AHP MCDA technique. The results are presented in the next section since decommissioning options evaluation comprises a major part of the survey analysis.
- iv. Results Interpretation: Ranking of decommissioning options, sensitivity analysis of the results and selection of the optimal decommissioning option for the case study are also reported in the next section.

5.5. Presentation of Survey Results

The conducted survey was used to evaluate decommissioning options for the case study platform and investigate the relative relevance of platform features to decommissioning options selection. The exercise took a duration of four months in the period between January 2022-April 2022. A total of seventy-eight responses were received from decommissioning practitioners, all of which were complete and valid for inclusion into the analysis. The average time for completing the survey was fifteen minutes.

Summary data of the survey responses was generated from the JISC Online Survey tool and further data analysis was performed on these using Excel spreadsheets. Key findings from the analysis are subsequently presented.

5.5.1. Demographics

As previously mentioned, information about the defining characteristics of a population sample is important for creating the survey interpretation context and the first section of the survey focused on this. Graphical representation of the survey participants' demographics is shown in Figure 5.5.



Figure 5.5: Demographics of survey participants showing the distribution of Offshore region, Level of Education, Work Experience, Affiliation to Decommissioning, and Specific Knowledge area.

Figure 5.5(I) shows that about 60% of the respondents are based in the North Sea. The predominance of North Sea-based respondents is expected as this is one of the leading regions of the world in terms of documented decommissioning activities. In second position is the 13% of respondents from Offshore USA (Louisiana, Texas, California, and Alaska), another region with a mature decommissioning industry. The least represented regions are the Caribbean Seas, and the Asian Seas, a region with a decommissioning industry still in the early stages (Tung and Otto 2019). Note that the "Other" group comprises respondents who operate in more than one region.

It can be observed from Figure 5.5(II) that the respondents are well educated as almost 94% of them are educated up to university level. Also, Figure 5.5(III) indicates that approximately 70% of the respondents have worked in the decommissioning industry for over 12 years. This indicates that the survey, to a reasonable extent, adequately reflects the opinion of subject matter experts. With respect to their affiliation to the decommissioning industry, Figure 5.5(IV) shows that about 40% of the respondents are affiliated to operating companies with an additional 31% from service companies. Respondents from these two groups are likely to have rich practical knowledge of offshore decommissioning from their experience of carrying out these projects. However, only one respondent was from an interest group. This is a concern because interest groups are strongly influential stakeholders in decommissioning projects (Fowler et al. 2014, 2020). The respondents in the "Other" group are respectively a Retired Decom Project Leader, a Trade Association member, and an individual whose job role involved working as a Contractor, Operator and Consultancy.

Lastly, Figure 5.5(V) indicates that about half of the respondents are most knowledgeable in the aspect of technical feasibility. Additionally, most respondents considered themselves to be knowledgeable in multiple aspects of offshore decommissioning. This outcome is an accurate reflection of the interdisciplinary and multifaceted nature of the decommissioning industry (Ahiaga-Dagbui et al. 2017; Invernizzi et al. 2020).

116

5.5.2. Decommissioning Options Evaluation for Case Study

The AHP-Likert technique was applied using the survey data to evaluate decommissioning options for the theoretical case study platform based on the five decision criteria. All calculations required for this analysis were performed on Excel Spreadsheets with the aid of AHP equations as described in section 3.4.1 of this thesis. Only the key results are presented here. Further information about the calculations is included in appendix 3.

5.5.2.1. Hierarchy Structure for the Case Study

The problem hierarchy structure for selecting the best decommissioning option to be used for decommissioning the case study combines all the key elements of the decision-making problem into a single structure (Figure 5.6).



Figure 5.6: Hierarchy structure of decommissioning option selection for the case study

The goal of the analysis is to determine the optimal decommissioning option for the case study. To achieve this, the five considered options are individually evaluated with reference to safety, environmental impact, technical feasibility, cost, and public perception.

As stated in Chapter three, the number of required judgements when using the Likert-AHP approach is n but using the traditional AHP approach requires $(n^2 - n)/2$ judgements, where n is the number of elements being compared with each other at the same hierarchy level. Therefore, it can be inferred from Figure 5.6 that the number of elements to be compared is 5 for both the criteria weighting level and the decommissioning options scoring level. This implies that a total of 60 judgments would have been required for evaluating the decommissioning options using the traditional AHP (i.e., 10 judgements for criteria weighting and 50 judgments for decommissioning options scoring across the five criteria). However, using the Likert-AHP approach only required 30 judgements (i.e., 5 judgments for criteria weighting and 25 judgments for decommissioning options scoring across the five criteria), implying a 60% efficiency savings in time taken to complete the analysis.

5.5.2.2. Criteria Weighting

The consensus of the values that the survey respondents assigned to the relative importance of safety, environmental impact, technical feasibility, cost, and public perception respectively are shown in Table 5.6. This is calculated as the geometric mean of individual responses with respect to the decision criterion of interest.

 Table 5.6: Aggregation of survey responses for criteria weighting

How would you rank the importance of the following criteria in determining the optimal decommissioning option for the Case Study Platform?	Safety	Environmental Impact	Technical Feasibility	Cost	Public Perception
Geometric Mean of	8.267	6.802	6.464	4.986	4.225
$(GM = \sqrt[n]{\prod_{i=1}^n x_i})$					

The pairwise comparison matrix generated from the aggregated data above is shown in Table 5.7. Consistency checks verified that this matrix was perfectly consistent, hence there was no need for any remedial calculations to correct inconsistencies in the judgements (Benítez et al. 2011; Na et al. 2017).

Decision	Safety	Environmental	Technical	Cost	Public	Priority
Criteria		Impact	Feasibility		Perception	(%)
Safety	1.0000	1.2155	1.2789	1.6580	1.9567	27%
Environmental	0.8227	1.0000	1.0522	1.3641	1.6098	22%
Impact						
Technical	0.7819	0.9504	1.0000	1.2964	1.5300	21%
Feasibility						
Cost	0.6031	0.7331	0.7714	1.0000	1.1801	16%
Public	0.5111	0.6212	0.6536	0.8474	1.0000	14%
Perception						

The priority column in Table 5.7 shows the criteria weights of importance, calculated from equations 3.3 and 3.4 as shown in appendix 3.

From these priorities, it is deduced that the respondents judged safety to have the highest importance when assessing decommissioning options for the case study. This is followed by environmental impact while public perception has the least importance to the assessment. A graphical depiction of the criteria priorities is shown in Figure 5.7.



Figure 5.7: Calculated weights of importance for the decision criteria

It is important to note that the above result only captures the preferences of the respondents about the criteria in a strictly comparative or relative sense. Also, the results obtained from using the AHP-Likert procedure to determine the relative weights of the sub-criteria are shown in appendix 4.

5.5.2.3. Decommissioning Options Scoring

After establishing the weights of all decision criteria and sub-criteria, the expected performance of decommissioning options for the case study platform with respect to each criterion was determined as priority values or scores as graphically presented in Figure 5.8. These values were calculated from synthesising the survey responses and the step-by-step procedure is shown in appendix 3.



Figure 5.8: Decommissioning options performance scores for safety, environmental impact, technical feasibility, cost, and public perception criterion

The performance scores (or priorities) for Leave in Place, Partial Removal to 85 feet, IMO approved depth, and Top of Footings respectively, and Complete Removal decommissioning options with reference to the five decision criteria are shown in Figure 5.8.

With regards to the Safety criterion, Figure 5.8 shows that the partial removal options are more suitable for decommissioning the case study than Leave in Place and Complete Removal options when evaluated exclusively in terms of Safety. Partial removal to IMO-approved depth emerged as the most preferred (i.e., safest) decommissioning option for the project whereas Complete Removal was adjudged to be the least suitable option based on safety alone.

The performance scores for the decommissioning options with reference to the Environmental Impact criterion follow a similar ranking order to the results obtained from safety-based scoring of the options. Figure 5.8 indicates that the partial removal options were adjudged to be more suitable for decommissioning the case study when the options are evaluated exclusively in terms of Environmental Impact. Again, partial removal to IMO-approved depth emerged as the most preferred (i.e., environmentally friendly) decommissioning option for the project while Complete Removal is the least preferred option.

Considering only the Technical Feasibility criterion, it is observed from Figure 5.8 that decommissioning the case study by Partial Removal to 85 feet is the most preferred (i.e., technically feasible) option while Complete Removal was adjudged to be the least preferred option for the project. Additionally, the Leave in Place decommissioning option scored highly for this criterion, emerging as the second most preferred option.

With reference to the Cost criterion alone, it is observed from Figure 5.8 that the most preferred option (i.e., cheapest) for decommissioning the case study is the Leave in Place decommissioning option. Conversely, the least preferred option for the project with reference to Cost alone was determined to be the Complete Removal option. These results are identical to those obtained when evaluating the decommissioning options based on technical feasibility with the only difference being that the Partial Removal to 85 feet option emerged as the best option in that scenario.

Finally, with regards to only the Public Perception criterion, it is inferred from Figure 5.8 that the most preferred (i.e., publicly acceptable) decommissioning option for the case study platform is the Complete Removal option and leaving the platform in place is the least preferred course of action. Note that the ranking of decommissioning options based on the Public Perception criterion was based on the perspective of decommissioning practitioners and therefore might contain an element of bias as compared to the actual reality.

5.5.2.4. Aggregation of Results and Ranking of Decommissioning Options for the Case Study

The final stage of the AHP analysis entailed combining the obtained criteria weights and option scores to obtain weighted scores as shown in Table 5.8. The results suggest that Partial removal to IMO-approved depth is the best option for decommissioning the case study platform while Complete Removal is the worst option for the project. Furthermore, the partial removal options were preferred over other decommissioning options and leaving the platform in place was deemed to be a better alternative than its complete removal.

Table 5.8: Evaluation of Decommissioning Options for Case Study Platform

		Decommissioning Option	Leave in	Place	Partial F 85ft	Removal to	Partial R IMO Dept	Removal to th	Partial Ren of Footings	noval to Top	Complet	e Removal
Decision Criteria	Weight of Importance	Decision Criteria	Option score	Weighted score	Option score	Weighted score	Option score	Weighted score	Option score	Weighted score	Option score	Weighted score
Safety	27%	Safety	0.167	0.045	0.226	0.061	0.257	0.069	0.225	0.060	0.125	0.033
Environmenta I Impact	22%	Environmental Impact	0.142	0.031	0.231	0.051	0.266	0.059	0.224	0.050	0.136	0.030
Technical Feasibility	21%	Technical Feasibility	0.247	0.052	0.264	0.056	0.243	0.051	0.176	0.037	0.069	0.015
Cost	16%	Cost	0.270	0.044	0.263	0.043	0.244	0.040	0.163	0.026	0.060	0.010
Public Perception	14%	Public Perception	0.052	0.007	0.143	0.020	0.222	0.030	0.286	0.039	0.297	0.041

Total	100.00%	Weighted Score (Sum)	Weighted Score (Sum) 0.1793 0.2299		0.2492	0.2129	0.1287	
		Rank	4	2	1	3	5	
5.5.2.5. Results Interpretation

Sensitivity analysis of the results obtained for the case study are detailed in Chapter six as one of the validation techniques used in this research.

Furthermore, deeper insights can be extracted from the information in Table 6.4 for communicating the options evaluation results to project stakeholders. A summary of the performance of decommissioning options with respect to each decision criteria as denoted by their weighted scores is graphically illustrated with the spider chart in Figure 5.9. This clearly highlights that the most preferred decommissioning option for the case study was also adjudged to be the most preferred option in terms of Safety and Environmental Impact respectively, and by a significant margin. Hence, its emergence as the best option is an expected outcome considering that these were the highest-weighted criteria. Moreover, the figure clearly depicts the complex interaction between the decision criteria for each decommissioning option.





Lastly, recall that it had been established in Chapter three that the key result from AHP which feeds into decision-making is the final ranking of alternatives. This ranking for the options that have been evaluated for decommissioning the case study platform is shown in Figure 5.10. The figure indicates that Partial Removal to IMO-approved depth is the optimal option for decommissioning the case study. This proposition is deemed to be correct because the approach taken to arrive at it holistically considered the safety, environmental impact, technical feasibility, cost, and public perception implications of all considered options.



Figure 5.10: Ranking of decommissioning options for the case study

Despite the unavailability of quantitative data, the information obtained from analysing the expert opinion (survey input data) have been used to evaluate the five decommissioning options for the case study platform. Through this evaluation, the decommissioning decision model has been demonstrated to ensure a clear and auditable decision-making process. It has also facilitated structured analysis of expert opinion to arrive at a logical conclusion.

Moreso, the effectiveness of the Likert-AHP technique has been demonstrated by using it to determine the optimal option for decommissioning the case study with 60% less judgements than would have been required when using the traditional AHP process for the same analysis.

5.5.3. Additional Information

5.5.3.1. Suggested Additional Sub-Criteria

The survey participants generally agreed that the sub-criteria detailed in the survey covered the key aspects of all the decision criteria. However, several additional sub-criteria were suggested for inclusion, and these are shown in Table 5.9 for completeness. Note that the actual survey responses have been edited for conciseness and to avoid duplication.

Decision Criteria	Suggested Additional Sub-Criteria
Safety	Removal methodology - single-lift or multiple-lift
	(reverse of installation).
	Risk to onshore public
Environmental	Impact on SACS, SPAs, MPAs, and Sensitive Areas
Impact	(protected habitats, species, marine mammals)/ Loss of
	protected habitat for breeding nurseries.
	Risk of dissemination of invasive species
Technical	Original design and installation method of structure
Feasibility	Vulnerability to weather conditions
Cost	Cost certainty/Risk of cost overrun
Public	Stakeholder concerns
Perception	Corporate Reputation
	Cultural heritage preservation

 Table 5.9: Additional Sub-Criteria Suggested by Survey Participants

5.5.3.2. Platform Features Prioritisation

Analysis of survey responses to the platform features prioritisation question yielded results which suggest that Substructure Weight, Water Depth, and Platform Age are the platform features adjudged to have the highest relevance to options selection. These features should be prioritised when gathering information about the structure to be decommissioned as they have high relevance to the decision-making process of selecting the optimal decommissioning option for an offshore platform. The ranking of platform features based on their relevance to decommissioning decision-making as indicated by their weighted geometric mean (WGM) is shown in Table 5.10. Note that despite being the platform feature with the highest WGM, a decision was made to exclude Jacket Weight from the top-ranking features because it already constitutes a part of the substructure weight. The substructure of a fixed-steel jacket type platform comprises of the platform's jacket and piles.

Platform Feature	WGM of Relevance	Ranking	Reason for Exclusion
Topsides weight	5.22	5	-
Substructure weight*	6.04	2	-
Water depth*	5.95	3	-
Platform age*	5.80	4	-
Distance from land	3.58	8	-
Jacket weight	6.49	1	Main component
			of substructure
Piles weight	4.24	6	-
Number of piles	3.72	7	-

Table 5.10: Ranking of Platform Features with respect to Relevance to Decommissioning Decision-making

*Top-ranking platform feature

5.6. Summary

This chapter described the case study used in this research to demonstrate the applicability of the decommissioning decision model. The case study platform is a large fixed-steel jacket structure situated in California. With regards to applying the model to this platform, the chapter presented an overview and discussed the results from the pre-assessment and data gathering phases of the model process. Further details of the outcomes of the DDM's alternatives evaluation and results interpretation phases were subsequently presented. Key findings from the decommissioning survey used to facilitate implementation of the developed decision model on a case study, and the main results from analysing the survey response data were then discussed. It was observed from the demographics of the survey participants that these individuals were appreciably knowledgeable of offshore decommissioning. The chapter also investigated the relationship between a platform's physical features and its decommissioning options selection with substructure weight, water depth, and platform age emerging as the platform features that most influence the choice of a suitable decommissioning option.

The next chapter discusses validation of the decommissioning decision model and the results obtained from its application to the case study platform.

Chapter 6 : VALIDATION OF THE DEVELOPED DECOMMISSIONING DECISION MODEL

The applicability of the decommissioning decision model (DDM) was demonstrated in Chapter five by using the model to evaluate decommissioning options for a case study platform with survey input data. A decommissioning project is an expensive venture and using an ill-designed tool to support decision-making while executing such a project is risky. Therefore, the developed model, and the results of its application to the case study are validated in this chapter as a quality check on the tool and its applicability.

This chapter discusses the steps that have been taken in this research to investigate the validity of the DDM, namely sensitivity analysis, comparison of model results with existing information, and validation with expert opinion. The key outcomes from using these validation techniques are also presented.

6.1. Background to Model Validation

Validation is the systematic assessment of a model to determine the soundness of its underlying structure and accuracy of its predictions based on comparison with established knowledge. Model validation, within the decommissioning context, is primarily aimed at strengthening the confidence of stakeholders in using the model (Oberkampf and Trucano 2008). However, it also provides feedback to the model developers that can be used to further improve the decision model and optimise its use (Dowding and Rutherford 2003).

Kerr and Goethel (2014) classified model validation into two types namely, conceptual validation and operational validation. Conceptual validation involves examination of a model's theory and underlying assumptions to determine whether these are justifiable. This contrasts with operational validation which focuses on examining the agreement between results outputted by the model and existing information. Operational validation may be challenging when the tool is dealing with a scenario that extends beyond the realm of observed conditions or addressing a problem by incorporating

new, currently immeasurable, or previously unassessed variables. Nevertheless, conceptual validation is always feasible.

Furthermore, several techniques exist for validating a decision model either subjectively or objectively, and these techniques can be used either exclusively or in some form of combination. A validation technique is regarded as objective if it incorporates any form of mathematical or statistical procedure, otherwise, the technique is subjective. Nevertheless, Gass (1983) pointed out that all model validation techniques entail the gathering of evidence pertaining to the credibility and applicability of the model by an interested party.

Validation techniques, as identified from the literature (Kennedy et al. 2005; Akadiri 2011) include Comparison to Similar Studies, Events Validity, Face Validity (Expert opinion), Fixed Values validity, Historical Data validity, Sensitivity Analysis, Predictive Validation, Turing Tests, and Tracing. Others include Animation, Internal Validity, Degenerate Tests, and Extreme Condition Tests. However, the end product of using any of these techniques is to justify confidence in the model and its applicability.

6.2. Adopted Techniques for Validating the Decommissioning Decision Model

The technique for validating a model primarily depends on the nature of the problem being addressed, functionalities of the model and nature of its results or predicted outcomes. In this regard, the developed model is an MCDA-centric approach for supporting decommissioning decision-making and its aspects that require validation are the input data, logical structure, and generated results.

As stated in Chapter three of this thesis, sensitivity analysis is appropriate for validating the model's input data. Additionally, considering the validation techniques identified in the preceding section, expert opinion and comparison to similar studies were deemed to be adequate for validating the model's structure and results, respectively.

131

6.3. Validation of Model Input Data by Sensitivity Analysis

Sensitivity analysis of the results from applying the model to the case study provided insights into the validity of the input data. In addition to acting as a sense-check to the survey data, the analysis is required when using the DDM. The outcomes from the sensitivity analysis are subsequently presented.

In Figures 6.1-6.6, as the criterion weight increases from left to right along the horizontal axis of the figure, the preference for each decommissioning option (represented by its weighted score) follows linear paths which are referred to as the sensitivity lines. Also, a black solid vertical line indicates the current weight of the criterion being investigated, and the weighted scores of the decommissioning options at any point determines their relative rankings. Lastly, a dotted vertical red line indicates the weight of the criterion for which a change in the ranking order, or rank reversal, occurs.

6.3.1. Sensitivity to Safety Criterion



The relationship between decommissioning options ranking for the case study and the weight of the safety criterion is graphically illustrated in Figure 6.1.

Figure 6.1: Sensitivity of decommissioning options ranking to the weight of safety criterion

Figure 6.1 shows that the current weight of the safety criterion is 27% and Partial Removal to IMO Depth is the most preferred decommissioning option. The plot further suggests that the decommissioning options ranking is insensitive to the variations in the weight of safety criterion. There is no crossover of the sensitivity lines for the full range of criterion weighting i.e., the preferred option does not change irrespective of the variations in safety criterion weighting.

6.3.2. Sensitivity to Environmental Impact Criterion

The relationship between decommissioning options ranking for the case study and the weight of the environmental impact criterion is graphically illustrated in Figure 6.2.





It can be inferred from Figure 6.2 that the current weight of the environmental impact criterion is 22%. Like the sensitivity results for safety criterion, the plot suggests that the decommissioning options ranking is insensitive to environmental impact criterion. There is no crossover of the sensitivity lines for the entire range of criterion weighting i.e., the preferred option does not change despite the weight variations.

6.3.3. Sensitivity to Technical Feasibility Criterion

Figure 6.3 shows a graphical illustration of the relationship between decommissioning options ranking for the case study and the weight of the technical feasibility criterion. It can be inferred from the figure that the current weight of the technical feasibility criterion is 21%.



Figure 6.3: Sensitivity of decommissioning options ranking to the weight of technical feasibility criterion

Moreover, the crossover of the sensitivity lines when the weight of the technical feasibility criterion is 59% suggests that the decommissioning options ranking is affected by changes in the weight apportioned to the criterion. The rank reversal results to Partial Removal to 85 feet replacing Partial Removal to IMO depth as the most preferred option. Therefore, a 38% increase in the weight of the technical feasibility criterion results to rank reversal. The observed trend in Figure 6.3 can be interpreted to suggest that technical feasibility is related to the quantity of removed platform material. Options that require removal of a larger proportion of platform matter would be more technically challenging in terms of the associated cutting and lifting, and size of equipment. This also explains the upward trajectory of the weighted scores of options involving lower quantities of removed materials

(i.e., Leave in Place and Partial Removal to 85 Feet) as the weight of Technical Feasibility criterion increases from zero to 100%.

6.3.4. Sensitivity to Cost Criterion

The relationship between decommissioning options ranking for the case study and the weight of the cost criterion is graphically illustrated in Figure 6.4. It can be inferred from the figure that the current weight of the cost criterion is 16%.





Figure 6.4 suggests that the decommissioning options ranking is affected by changes in the weight apportioned to the cost criterion. Crossover of the sensitivity lines occurs when the weights of the cost criterion are 58% and 91% respectively. Partial Removal to 85 feet is observed to replace Partial Removal to IMO depth as the most preferred option at the first crossover while Leave in Place becomes the most preferred option at the second crossover. Therefore, increases of 42% and 75% in the original weight of the cost criterion results to rank reversal.

The observed trend indicates that cost, just like technical feasibility, is proportional to the quantity of removed material. Removal of more platform

matter translates to higher costs owing to longer work duration, increased vessel costs, and increased complexity of removal operations. In addition, Leave in Place is the cheapest decommissioning option so preferring this option when cost is apportioned almost all the criteria weight (greater than 91%) is logical.

6.3.5. Sensitivity to Public Perception Criterion

The relationship between decommissioning options ranking for the case study and the weight of the public perception criterion is graphically depicted in Figure 6.5. From the figure, it can be observed that the current weight of the public perception criterion is 14%.





Further, the plot suggests that the decommissioning options ranking is affected by changes in the weight apportioned to public perception criterion. Crossovers of the sensitivity lines occur when the weights of the public perception criterion are 45% and 90% respectively. Partial Removal to Top of Footings is observed to replace Partial Removal to IMO depth as the most preferred decommissioning option at the first crossover while Complete Removal becomes the most preferred option at the second crossover. Therefore, increases of 31% and 76% in the weight of the cost criterion results to rank reversal.

A plausible explanation for this outcome is that the public are likely to be averse to the leaving behind of any platform materials during decommissioning (Ekins, Vanner and Firebrace 2006; Fowler et al. 2014). Hence, their expected preference is for the entire platform to be removed. This is observable from the upward trajectory of the overall priorities of options involving higher quantities of removed materials (i.e., Complete Removal and Partial Removal to Top of Footings) as the public perception criterion weight increases towards 100%. Consequently, Complete Removal becomes the preferred decommissioning option for the case study when public perception is apportioned up to 90% of the criteria weight.

6.3.6. Summary of Sensitivity Analysis Results

The sensitivity analysis results for all the decision criteria are summarised in Table 6.1. The decommissioning options ranking is unaffected by changes in the weights of Safety and Environmental Impact criteria but can be altered by the changing the weights of Technical Feasibility, Cost and Public Perception.

Decision Criteria	Sensitivity of Model Results	Absolute Minimum Change in Current Weight before Rank Reversal
Safety	Insensitive	-
Environmental Impact	Insensitive	-
Technical Feasibility	Low sensitivity*	38%
Cost	Low sensitivity	42%
Public Perception	Low sensitivity	31%

Table 6.1: Sensitivity Analysis of Model Results to Decision Criteria

*Sensitivity is low if the minimum change in criterion weight for rank reversal exceeds 5% (see Section 3.4.3 for more information)

Nonetheless, Table 6.1 suggests that the model results are stable because for all five decision criteria, the minimum change required to cause a change in the decommissioning options ranking exceeds 5%. This implies that there is no need for further review and validation of the initial weights and options ranking results are deemed to be stable. Thus, the sensitivity analysis results

indicate that the input data used for evaluating decommissioning options for the case study platform is valid, and the survey responses are sensible.

6.4. Validation of DDM Results by Comparison to Similar Studies in Literature

The decision criteria weighting and decommissioning options rankings that have been obtained from using the developed model to evaluate the case study platform are the two model results that require validation. These two aspects of the case study results are compared to the outcomes from similar studies in the literature to assess their accuracy and validity.

Additionally, differences exist across different offshore regions in stakeholders' perception of decommissioning, especially in attitude to leaving any part of the offshore structure in the sea (O'Connor et al. 2004; Palandro and Aziz 2018; Sommer et al. 2019; Tan et al. 2021; Trevisanut 2020). Stakeholders in the USA offshore region are more tolerant to leaving portions of offshore structures during decommissioning and this is understood to encourage biodiversity in the marine environment (Claisse et al. 2015; Bull and Love 2019; Meyer-Gutbrod et al. 2020). In contrast, stakeholders in the North Sea region often posit that offshore structures should be completely removed from the marine environment during decommissioning as encapsulated by the precautionary principle (BEIS 2018; Fowler et al. 2020). These differences in opinions have persisted despite the recent push for a shift in the North Sea stance on leaving some parts of offshore structures in-situ during decommissioning (Jørgensen 2012; Sommer et al. 2019; van Elden et al. 2019). Therefore, to facilitate comparison of results from the present study with information from literature, it is necessary to first identify differences in survey input data due to the location of the respondents and compartmentalise their contributions to the model results.

To achieve this, the survey participants were divided into three groups (North Sea, Offshore USA, and Others) based on their location to represent the major offshore regions in the world. The "Others" group comprises Offshore Africa, Asian Seas, Offshore Australia, Caribbean Seas, and Offshore South America.



Figure 6.6, Figure 6.7, and Figure 6.8 show the variations in the model results for the case study with reference to these offshore regions.

Figure 6.6: Results from evaluating decommissioning options for the case study (North Sea, n=45)



Figure 6.7: Results from evaluating decommissioning options for the case study (Offshore USA, n=10)



Figure 6.8: Results from evaluating decommissioning options for the case study (Others, n=23)

The weights of the decision criteria obtained from analysis of the case study platform for all three regions are observed to be of the same ranking order, despite differences in weight proportions. This ranking of decision criteria weights is shown in Table 6.2 and was used for comparison with information from literature. Table 6.2: Decision Criteria Ranking for Case Study Platform Based on Weights of Importance

Decision Criteria	Ranking
Safety	1
Environmental Impact	2
Technical Feasibility	3
Cost	4
Public Perception	5

Also, the ranking of decommissioning options weighted scores for the case study when grouped according to the offshore location of the survey participants is shown in Figure 6.9.



**Others comprises Offshore Africa, Asian Seas, Offshore Australia, Caribbean Seas, and Offshore South America.

Figure 6.9: Decommissioning options ranking for case study based on location of survey participants

6.4.1. Comparison to TSB (2000)

The results from TSB (2000), an industry study in the USA which utilised expert opinion to quantitatively evaluate and compare three decommissioning options for platform removal, are presented in Table 6.3 and Table 6.4 below.

Table 6.3: Decision Criteria Weights Ranking (Adapted from TSB 2000)

Decision Criteria	Ranking
Safety	1
Environmental Impact	2
Technical Feasibility	2
Permitting Requirements	4
Disposal Option	4
Cost	6
Schedule	7

Table 6.4: Decommissioning Options Ranking (Adapted from TSB 2000)

Decommissioning Option	Ranking
Complete Removal	3
Partial Removal	1
Remote Reefing	2

Comparing the results from TSB (2000) with those obtained from applying the DDM to the case study, when filtered for responses from survey participants in the USA region, shows clear similarities. Firstly, the criteria weights rank order is similar for overlapping criteria in both analyses with the only difference being that Environmental Impact ranks higher than Technical Feasibility in this research whereas both criteria are equally ranked in TSB (2000).

With regards to the ranking of the decommissioning options based on their weighted scores, a strong agreement is observed between both results in that Partial Removal is the top-ranking option and Complete Removal is the leastranking option. Remote Reefing option, as described in TSB (2000) is akin to the Leave in Place option in this research and this option ranks between Partial Removal and Complete Removal in both studies. These correlations suggest that, based on TSB (2000), the results obtained for the case study platform from using the DDM are accurate and reasonable.

6.4.2. Comparison to Bernstein et al. (2010)

Bernstein et al. (2010) conducted an investigative industry study on the implications of decommissioning platforms in the POCS by using either Complete Removal or Partial Removal option. The options were evaluated with reference to eight attributes (costs, air quality, water quality, marine mammals, birds, benthic impacts, fish production, ocean access and strict compliance to regulations). Their results suggested that partial removal of the platforms scores higher than complete removal across the attributes except for ocean access and strict compliance.

These findings from Bernstein et al. (2010) appear to support the outcomes of the analysis in this research. Partial Removal was identified by the developed DDM as the most-preferred decommissioning option and Complete Removal was also the least-preferred option when filtered to only represent responses from survey participants in USA. Therefore, the results from the DDM are accepted as valid and accurate based on comparison to Bernstein et al. (2010).

6.4.3. Comparison to Andrawus, Steel and Watson (2009)

Andrawus, Steel and Watson (2009) comparatively evaluated four decommissioning options for Hidalgo platform, an offshore platform in the USA with similar features to the case study platform in this research. Their results are summarised in Table 6.5 and Table 6.6.

Steel and Watson 2009)

Decision Criteria

Ranking

Table 6.5: Decision Criteria Weights Ranking for Hidalgo (Adapted Andrawus,

Decision Criteria	Ranking
Safety	4
Environmental Impact	5
Technical Feasibility	6
Regulatory Requirements	3
Future Liability	1

Revenue Generation	7
Public Requirements	1
Cost (Net Present Value)	-

Table 6.6: Decommissioning Options Ranking for Platform Hidalgo (Adapted from Andrawus, Steel and Watson 2009)

Decommissioning Option	Ranking
Complete Removal	4
Partial Removal	2
Re-use for Artificial Reefing	3
Re-use for Wind Power Generation	1

The results from the current research are observed to generally agree with the results from Andrawus, Steel and Watson (2009). In terms of criteria weighting, the overlapping decision criteria i.e., Safety, Environmental Impact and Technical Feasibility are observed to have an identical ranking or order of preference in both studies. However, if Public Perception in this research is deemed to have the same meaning as Public Requirements in Andrawus, Steel and Watson (2009), then a significant exception to the general agreement of both studies is observed in the ranking of this criterion. Public Perception criterion is the least-ranking in this research despite being a top-ranking criterion in Andrawus, Steel and Watson (2009). Reconciling the difference between both results is challenging due to the highly subjective nature of human opinion, and differences in the data gathering and analysis approach for the studies (Guevara 1998; Fowler et al. 2014).

Nonetheless, the ranking of decommissioning options is observed to be identical for both studies with Partial Removal emerging as the top-ranking option, Complete Removal is the least-ranking option, and Leave in Place (Reuse for Artificial Reefing) is mid-ranked in both cases. Note that Re-use for Wind Power Generation is a hypothetical decommissioning option which was adjudged to be the preferred decommissioning option for Hidalgo Platform by Andrawus, Steel and Watson (2009) primarily due to its potential to generate revenue unlike the other decommissioning options. Hence the cited study supports the validity of results for the case study obtained from using the DDM.

6.4.4. Comparison to UK Government Guidelines for Decommissioning

Government guidelines for any activity can suffice as an authoritative source of information pertaining to that activity because it leverages on best practice to address key concerns for that activity (McCann, Henrion and Bernstein 2016). According to the UK Government's guidelines for decommissioning, "...the safety and environmental impacts of the options, including the impact on climate change, will clearly be important. Options where the safety risks are intolerable or involve major unacceptable environmental impacts may be ruled out without further consideration. Proportionality must also be considered but it is unlikely that cost will be accepted as the main driver..." (BEIS 2018 p. 77). The statement appears to imply that Safety and Environmental Impact Criteria are expected rank high for decommissioning decision-making considerations based on their weights of importance while Cost criterion would rank low. This assertion is observable in the criteria ranking from the decision model as shown in Table 7.2. Thus, implying that the results from using the DDM are acceptable as valid and in agreement with the UK Government's guidelines for decommissioning.

6.5. Validation of DDM Logical Structure using Expert Opinion

The structure and underlying logic of the DDM was validated using the opinion of decommissioning subject matter experts since the model is conceptual and not akin to any physical real-world system. This technique was also adjudged to be adequate as a precursor to the industry-wide adoption of the model. Validation of the model logical structure entails assessing the feasibility of the model with regards to its fitness-for-purpose and fitness-for-use. Thus, enabling the accuracy of the model's representation of reality and its acceptability to users to be ascertained (Olewnik and Lewis 2005). The semi-structured questionnaire used for this validation was carefully designed to capture the views of decommissioning experts about the model structure. In alignment with recommendations in the literature for validating decision-support models (Gass 1983b; Borenstein 1998; Moisil 2010), the questions focused on the accuracy, completeness, comprehensibility, and cost-effectiveness of the DDM. Respondents were also allowed to add any additional comments they had about the model.

A copy of the questionnaire is shown in appendix 6. The questionnaire was administered along with a presentation describing the model and its application to the case study to avoid any misunderstanding by the experts. Furthermore, the participants were chosen based on their expertise, experience, academic and professional qualifications to ensure that their views adequately represented those of the decommissioning industry.

6.5.1. Analysis of the DDM Logical Structure Validation Results

Ten decommissioning practitioners responded to the DDM validation questionnaire. Their profile, as shown in Table 6.7, indicates that they are appreciably knowledgeable about offshore decommissioning. Additionally, they are all highly educated and well experienced with a combined decommissioning-related work experience of over one hundred and fifty years.

Expert	Profession	Academic Qualification	Job Designation	Years of Work Experience
1	Engineering	MEng	Senior Consultant (Subsea & Decommissioning)	21
2	Decommissioning Manager	MSc	Decommissioning Strategist & Business Development	15+
3	Decommissioning (Oil and Gas)	MSc	HSE & Regulatory Lead	10

Table 6.7: Profile of Validation Experts

4	Energy	MSc	Senior	3
	Consultancy		Decommissioning	
			Engineer	
5	Engineering	MSc	Energy	1
			Consultant/	
			Decommissioning	
			Project Lead	
6	Oil & Gas and	MSc	Decommissioning	20
	Energy Transition		Study Manager	
7	Energy	PGDip	Decommissioning	15+
	Consultancy	BEng	and Integrated	
			Project Lead	
8	Decommissioning	MEng	Facilities	15+
	Project Manager		Decommissioning	
			& Optimisation	
			Lead	
9	Decommissioning	BSc	Decommissioning	16
	Consultancy	Practitioner	Manager	
		level, IEMA*		
10	Structural	PhD	Retired Senior	30
	Engineer, Marine		Consultant.	
	Specialist in			
	Offshore Facility			
	Decommissioning			

* Associate Member of the Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment

The experts provided their opinion of the model by individually responding to the validation questionnaire. This feedback was positive as inferred from the summary of their responses which is shown in Table 6.8.

Validation	Expert Response									
Criteria	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Importance of	QS	QS	QS	-	QS	QS	QS	NS	NS	QS
addressed issue										
Accuracy	UCL	SCL	VCL	VCL	VCL	SCL	VCL	VCL	VCL	VCL
Completeness	SC	VC	VC	VC	SC	SC	VC	SC	SC	VC
Comprehensibility	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Cost-Effectiveness	JCB	JCB	JCB	JCB	JCB	DCB	JCB	-	JCB	JCB

Key

QS: Quite significant.

NS: Not significant.

VCL: Very close match between model's results and expected results.

SCL: Slightly close match between model's results and expected results.

UCL: Unsure of the match between model's results and expected results.

SC: Somewhat complete.

VC: Very complete.

JCB: Benefits of use justifies cost of implementation.

DCB: Benefits of use does not justify cost of implementation.

It is inferred from Table 6.8 that 70% of the experts agreed that the DDM addresses a significant issue in decommissioning. Similarly, the experts were strongly in agreement that the DDM accurately performs its intended function and 90% of them stated that the model results closely matched what they would expect from evaluating decommissioning options for the case study platform. This indicates that the model is fit for purpose.

Table 6.8 also shows that the experts generally agreed that the model's flow process is complete with respect to the problem it seeks to address. This response significantly buttresses the logic of the model, given the richness of the respondents' decommissioning knowledge. Regarding the comprehensibility of the DDM, 90% of the experts concurred that the model is understandable and easy to use with little or no practical difficulties. Thus, implying that industry adoption of the model would not be challenging. Lastly, 80% of the experts opined that the benefits of using the model in actual decommissioning projects would justify any attendant resource requirements.

Conclusively, the responses from the experts suggest that the DDM's logical structure is sound, and its adoption would be valuable for the decommissioning industry. Hence the DDM represents a positive contribution to the body of knowledge and practice of offshore decommissioning.

6.6. Summary

Complete validation of the DDM is impossible due to subjectivity of human opinion, conceptual nature of the model, and the fact that it was applied to a theoretical case study. However, the validation endeavors described in this chapter are deemed sufficient to indicate the accuracy and usefulness of the model. This included validation of model's input data by sensitivity analysis, validation of model's results by comparison to similar studies in literature, and validation of model's logical structure using expert opinion. The three validation techniques yielded positive results about the model's validity, ultimately making a case for its industry adoption. On this basis, the model is recommended to decommissioning practitioners, subject to future modifications that can improve its acceptability and performance. The next chapter builds on these findings by exploring the use of mathematical modelling to integrate historical data into the decision model in replacement of the survey-derived input data used for scoring decommissioning options for the cost criterion.

Chapter 7 : MATHEMATICAL MODELLING APPLICATION TO HISTORICAL DATA OF OFFSHORE DECOMMISSIONING

7.1. Historical Data of Offshore Decommissioning

Historical data refers to actual information that is gathered from previously completed projects. In the context of this research, this information relates to decommissioning projects that have been planned and executed in the past. A robust analysis of data from past projects is likely to reveal insights through which aspects of future projects such as causality, action, and consequence are logically predicted with reasonable accuracy (Guldi and Armitage 2014). This is because the patterns, structures and regularities uncovered by such analysis enable decision-makers to establish accurate generalisations which apply to current and future projects.

Information from completed decommissioning projects are increasingly becoming accessible to the public, especially in the offshore USA and North Sea regions where several projects have been successfully executed (Fam et al. 2018; Kaiser and Narra 2018; GOV.UK 2022). However, there are mitigating factors to this trend such as the risk perception by platform owners that sharing their project information can give a commercial advantage to their competitors or result to reputational damage (Murray et al. 2018). Hence, the commercially sensitive aspects of this historical data are protected as confidential information.

The paucity of decommissioning information makes it is pertinent that any available data is thoroughly analysed for helpful insights towards improvement of decision-making for future projects. This is likely to require that the historical data be preconditioned, structured, or contextualised into a form that is usable by the decision-maker (Sigsgaard et al. 2020). Therefore, the procedure for adapting historical data into a decision support model entails a three-staged data processing step as shown in Figure 7.1.

151



Figure 7.1: Adaptation of historical data into a decision support model

7.2. Mathematical Modelling

Mathematical modelling is the use of mathematical concepts and language to describe the behaviour of a system with the intent of developing understanding of the system, testing effects of changes within the system, and/or supporting decision-making (Daniel and Glenn 2008). It is particularly beneficial for exploring relationships between the entities within a system because the language is precise, has well-defined rules for manipulations, and can readily be analysed with computers in the form of numerical calculations (Towers, Edwards and Hamson 2020). Therefore, mathematical modelling approaches, such as Machine Learning and Generalised Reduced Gradient (GRG) method, are viable for data processing when adapting historical data into a decision-making tool (Eke et al. 2021).

The decision criteria for selection of decommissioning options for projects were investigated and partitioned into criteria and sub-criteria in Chapter two

of this report. However, some sub-criteria such as financial expenditures and air emissions have previously been quantitatively assessed for past decommissioning projects and a few of these historical datasets are available in the public domain. The application of mathematical techniques on these datasets, especially when they are sufficiently large, makes it possible to predict the sub-criteria values for a platform based on its physical features when these are known as shown in Equation 7.1. These models can then be used for making forecasts when evaluating decommissioning options for platforms with similar characteristics and location as those platforms from which the datasets were obtained.

$$Score_{i,j} = f(Platform \, features) + \epsilon_{i,j} \tag{7.1}$$

Where $Score_{i,j}$ is the performance score of decommissioning option i with reference to criterion (or sub-criterion) j, f(Platform features) is a mathematical function which requires as argument the prioritised features of the platform to be decommissioned and $\epsilon_{i,j}$ represents the error term which accounts for noise and randomness in the data. Note that Equation 7.1 is parametric when the nature of f(Platform features) is specified, and non-parametric when it is not specified a priori but instead is determined from the data set used to develop the model (Mahmoud 2019).

As there are numerous platform features, these must be carefully screened to shortlist the ones to be used in developing Equation 7.1 for effectiveness of analyses. The decommissioning survey described in the Chapter five was used to address this issue in the Platform Features Prioritisation section. The results suggested that substructure weight, water depth and platform age are the platform features most relevant to decommissioning option selection.

Notwithstanding, challenges with availability of decommissioning data from past projects is a prevalent roadblock to developing predictive models. Historical decommissioning data are often scarce and descriptive of platforms that are sparsely distributed across various locations (Fowler et al. 2014; Kaiser and Narra 2018; Vidal et al. 2022). Regarding the availability of decommissioning cost data in the public domain, Kaiser et al. (2003) observed

153

that most of the reported values represent pre-job estimates as opposed to actual post-job cost data and particular care must be taken to ensure their accuracy before usage. Their assertion appears to suggest that estimates from credible experts are a viable alternative to historical data, and such decommissioning cost estimates exist in literature for offshore platforms in California's Pacific Outer Continental Shelf (Bernstein et al. 2010; TSB 2016b). The dataset includes financial costs for decommissioning the twenty-three fixed-steel jacket platforms in this location with the Complete Removal option along with descriptive information about the platforms' features. Therefore, mathematically linking these costs and platform features will enable estimation of decommissioning costs for the case study and other platforms with similar characteristics and location as the POCS platforms.

7.3. Modelling the Relationship Between Decommissioning Options Costs and Platform Features

Sufficient information will be available to mathematically model the relationship between the costs of different decommissioning options and platform features after these costs are determined. Equation 7.1 can then be re-written to Equation 7.2.

 $Cost_i = f(Substructure weight, water depth, platform age) + \in_{i,j}$ (7.2)

Where $Cost_i$ is the financial expenditure from using decommissioning option i for a project, f(Substructure weight, water depth, platform age) is a mathematical function which requires as argument the substructure weight, water depth and age of the platform to be decommissioned, and $\epsilon_{i,j}$ is the error term which accounts for randomness in data.

Recall that the nature of the model equation depends on the type of mathematical modelling technique used for its development. Machine Learning technique, which is used in this research, yields a non-parametric or "black box" model. Hence, despite such model's physical system behaviour

not being directly visible from Equation 7.2, it would be flexible and defined by the available training data (Salvador 2017).

7.3.1. Machine Learning Regression Analysis for Decommissioning Options Cost Modelling

Regression analysis is the machine learning technique that constitutes the primary concern of this research because the nature of most historical data pertaining to decommissioning is continuous with real numerical values. For example, the cost of decommissioning North-West Hutton platform was £245m and total weight of topsides and jacket materials removed to shore was 28,427 tonnes (Jee 2014). In regression analysis, the goal is to try to find a relationship between several predictor (explanatory) variables and a continuous response variable (outcome) to enable prediction of an outcome for other values of the predictor variables. Within the field of machine learning, the predictor variables are commonly called independent variables. Therefore, regression analysis entails using data to determine empirical relationships between independent and dependent variables and using those relationships to predict the value of a dependent variable that corresponds to an independent variable.

Within the context of this research, this interprets to establishing an empirical relationship between the known decommissioning options costs and features of platforms (Equation 7.2) and using this relationship to forecast the decommissioning options costs of other platforms which have known features. Note that the empirical relationship or forecasting model will exist as a "black box" because machine learning yields a non-parametric model.

Regression is data-oriented in that it focuses on the data used for its development with no consideration for the underlying process of the system being analysed. Nevertheless, this technique introduced by Legendre (1805) is well-developed, and details of its scientific application abound in the literature (Ray 2019; Tai 2021). Additionally, several machine learning algorithms exist for implementing regression analysis such as Linear

Regression, Random Forest, and Support Vector Regression algorithms (Doan and Kalita 2015) and these are either classed as single output or multioutput depending on the number of predicted variables. However, the current research focuses on multioutput regression due to the nature of the use case which is such that the predictor variables are the substructure weight, water depth and age of the platform under consideration while the predicted variables are the individual decommissioning options costs for the project (see Figure 7.2).



Figure 7.2: Input/Output variables relationship for decommissioning costing model

The requirement in a multi-output problem is to predict n number of outputs synchronically. In situations where no correlation exists between the outputs, this type of regression problem is solved by building n independent models, i.e., one for each output, and then using those models to independently predict each one of the n outputs. However, in situations like the current research where the parameters being considered (i.e., the substructure weight, water depth and age of a platform and the decommissioning options costs for the platform) are known to be correlated, a better approach is to build a single model capable of simultaneously predicting all *n* outputs. The benefits of using multi-output regression include lower training time since only a single estimator is built, and likelihood of increased generalization accuracy of the resulting estimator (Pedregosa et al. 2011).

Further information about multioutput regression is available in the literature (Borchani et al. 2015; Xu et al. 2019; Schmid et al. 2022) but this is outside the remits of this research.

Determining the most-suitable machine learning regression algorithm for developing the cost model is an iterative process which entails applying different machine learning methods, comparing their results, and selecting the most appropriate method based on the observed prediction performance (Ray 2019). Owing to this iterative process, machine learning traditionally requires large volume of data with number of required samples typically at a ratio of 15:1 to the number of predictor variables for multioutput regression (Harrell 2015). Additionally, limited amount of data results in a more severe bias/variance trade-off, hence making the model development more challenging. Therefore, the low volume of available data for this research (twenty-three samples) adversely impacts the applicability of machine learning to the model development. Thus, necessitating the inclusion of a resampling method called cross-validation for mitigating this challenge.

7.3.2. Cross Validation

Cross-validation is a method used by data scientists to measure and improve model accuracy while ensuring that minimal assumptions are made on the statistics of the data. Berrar (2018) defines cross-validation as a data resampling method for assessing the generalization ability of predictive models and preventing overfitting. The method was first formally proposed by Mosteller and Tukey (1968). Further information about its working procedure and reviews are available in the literature (Stone 1978; Camstra and Boomsma 1992; Browne 2000; Little et al. 2017).

157

Ensuring accuracy of the developed model is a predominant concern when using supervised machine learning. In this regard, problems with accuracy encountered during machine learning modelling are classified into underfitting and overfitting (Berrar 2018; Isakova 2019). Underfitting occurs when the developed model fails to adequately capture the relationship between the system parameters and is likely to occur when using simpler models such as Ordinary Least Squares, even though such models are less prone to noise in the data. This contrasts with overfitting in which the model is perfectly adapted to the data used for its development while also being unable to generalize well to new data (Burnham and Anderson 2002). Overfitting occurs when the model correlates too closely to the training dataset such that it not only reflects the relationship between the system parameters but also captures the inherent noise in the data as though this noise is part of the underlying structure of the model. Nonetheless, it is pertinent to seek the right balance between underfitting and overfitting due to the polar nature of these two accuracy problems.

For this reason, the standard approach for modelling with supervised machine learning is to split the available data into two sets such that one set (training data) is used to build the model while the other set (testing or validation data) is used to evaluate the model accuracy (Berrar 2018). However, this becomes a challenge when there is a limited quantity of data such as in this research where the available dataset contains only twenty-three records. Moreso, it is important to use as much of the data as possible for training the model, but this would result in the detrimental situation of only being able to obtain a noisy estimate of the model's predictive performance (Isakova 2019). Hence there was a critical need in this research to maximise usage of the small volume of available data by including cross-validation in the model development process.

Fundamentally, cross-validation involves splitting the available data into x number of equal parts, withholding the first part as test data, and training a model with all data samples comprising the remaining x-1 parts before testing this model's accuracy with the withheld data and recording the performance

158

score. This procedure is repeated for x number of times and the average of all the obtained performance scores is calculated at the end, implying that all the data samples both serve as training and testing data at separate times. There are several types of cross-validation methods including hold-out method, leave-one-out cross-validation (LOOCV), K-fold cross-validation and stratified k-fold cross-validation.

Nevertheless, this research restricts itself to LOOCV method, a type of crossvalidation best suited for cases where there is limited data, and in which x=N, where N is the total number of data samples (Berrar 2018). The use of LOOCV implies that hyper-parameter tuning during model development will require high computational cost because the computing machine will iterate through the entire code for N times to assess just one value of a hyper-parameter, and this process will be repeated severally before finding the optimal value of that hyper-parameter. Therefore, it was decided that the machine learning models will be developed with default values of the hyper-parameters, especially as various models were being investigated to find the optimal model and these models consist of several hyper-parameters.

7.4. Decommissioning Cost Estimation and Analysis

As highlighted in Chapter two, cost estimation for an offshore decommissioning project is a challenging task which often requires information about platform features that might not be readily available. To aid generation of decommissioning cost estimates, operators are constrained to perform several studies, some of which become more expensive as the project execution time draws nearer especially if there is some time constraint. Cost-savings can be realized if operators know what platform information influences decommissioning costs and start collecting these data much earlier. Furthermore, early knowledge of decommissioning cost is important to the operator for reasons such as budgeting, asset profitability evaluation and setting of lease transfer terms. Hence the industry will benefit from innovative techniques for easily generating initial estimates of

decommissioning costs before detailed engineering analysis (Andrawus et al. 2011).

A fit-for-purpose decommissioning cost estimating model for performing cost analysis and generating early cost estimates would be useful to operators, regulatory bodies, and other project stakeholders in reducing the complexity of planning decommissioning projects. Moreso, it would enable companies that set aside some part of their revenue towards amortization of their decommissioning liabilities to keep track of the progress being made in this regard.

7.5. Cost Analysis for Decommissioning Case Study Platform

Detailed cost estimates by the USA0 Department of the Interior's Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement (BSEE) for decommissioning offshore oil and gas platforms in the Pacific Outer Continental Shelf (POCS) of California with the Complete Removal option are detailed in TSB (2016b). The dataset consists of only the costs of completely removing the platforms and this is subdivided into thirteen decommissioning phases. The costs of the well plugging and abandonment phase are not included in this analysis to reduce complexity. These platforms share similarities with the case study platform in that they are all fixed steel jacket-type platforms and situated in same location. Hence, it is feasible to forecast the cost for decommissioning the case study from this costing information. The methodology developed in this research for this purpose is shown in Figure 7.3.


Figure 7.3: Methodology for forecasting decommissioning costs for case study platform from historical cost data

The first step is to precondition or normalise the dataset into a useable form. This is followed by the application of engineering judgement and assumptions based on decommissioning knowledge to estimate the costs of executing the projects with different options. Next, cost model which generates the costs for decommissioning a platform with different options based on the structure's features is developed from the now-enlarged cost dataset. Finally, the costs for using different options for decommissioning the case study platform are forecasted with the aid of the cost model since the platform's features are already known.

This methodology will be logically followed in Chapter eight of this thesis to forecast decommissioning options costs for the case study platform before integrating these into the decommissioning decision model.

7.6. Summary

This chapter described the procedure for integrating historical data into the decision model developed in this research. Firstly, the application of machine learning mathematical modelling to historical data of decommissioning was identified to be beneficial for predictive purposes. Next, the integration of cross-validation into machine learning regression analysis for the purpose of developing a model for costing decommissioning options is discussed. The chapter concludes by outlining a scheme for developing the costing model and using it to predict decommissioning costs for the case study platform introduced in Chapter five. This methodology is systematically implemented in the next chapter.

Chapter 8 : INTEGRATION OF DECOMMISSIONING COST DATA INTO DEVELOPED DECISION MODEL

As highlighted in Chapter two of this thesis, a robust decision model should have the capability for improving the quality of its results as more accurate information becomes available. This capability was incorporated as a key requirement of the decommissioning decision model (DDM).

To demonstrate this capability, this chapter describes the integration of decommissioning costs into the DDM after predicting these using a costing model developed from the methodology described in Chapter seven.

8.1. Normalizing Existing Decommissioning Cost Data

The California POCS Platforms were separated by TSB (2016b) into project groupings based on operator obligation, geographic location and working season before obtaining the decommissioning cost estimates. Altogether there are six groups. Platforms within the same group equally share the costs of two decommissioning phases: Permitting and Regulatory Compliance, and Mobilization and Demobilization of Derrick Barges. Whereas cost sharing within groups is a cost optimisation strategy, the costs of these two phases cannot be used in their raw state for the analysis in this research and hence require to be normalised. This entails apportioning the full cost of Mobilization and Demobilization of Derrick Barges, for example, to a single platform instead of what this would be in a Campaign approach scenario.

The BSEE cost estimates were developed with the assumption that topsides are removed by reverse installation while the substructures are removed with either single lift or piece-large method depending on structural weights involved.

In addition, it is assumed that only two heavy lift vessels (HLVs) are available for the projects. These vessels can be mobilized from Southeast Asia and their normalised mobilization and demobilization costs are shown in Table 8.1.

Vessel ID	Lift Capability (tons)	Mobilization and Demobilization Cost (\$)
DB500	500	14,850,000
DB2000	2000	18,810,000

Table 8.1: Derrick Mobilization and Demobilization Costs for HLVs

8.2. Derivation of Other Decommissioning Options

Costs from Complete Removal Cost

Deriving the partial removal and leave in place decommissioning options costs from the complete removal cost was achieved in this research by considering each decommissioning phase i.e., bottoms-up approach. This method, though more data intensive than a top-down approach, is known to produce more accurate results (Kaiser and Liu 2014). Moreso, the decommissioning phases were considered individually before aggregation because the unit costs of some of the phases for a project remain unchanged irrespective of the adopted removal option.

The three-stage process for deriving the costs of other decommissioning options from Complete Removal cost follows the methodology described in Section 7.5. For ease of analysis, future liability such as maintenance and inspection costs have not been considered.

 Stage 1: The differences between Complete Removal and the other options for each decommissioning phase are identified from engineering knowledge as shown in Table 8.2. The costs of the decommissioning phases were modified with the aid of simplifying assumptions to reflect these differences for each option. The newly derived costs were then aggregated for each platform with respect to each of the decommissioning options to obtain the cost estimate for decommissioning platforms with the options. Table 8.2: Derivation of Partial Removal Cost from Complete Removal Cost for Decommissioning Phases (adapted from Bressler and Bernstein (2015)).

Decommissioning Cost	Differences Between	Differences Between
Element	Complete Removal	Complete Removal
	Option and Partial	Option and Leave in
	Removal Options	Place Option
Permitting and	None. Same in both	None. Same in both
Regulatory Compliance,	options	options
Platform Preparation,		
Pipeline		
Decommissioning, Power		
Cable Removal, Site		
Clearance		
Conductor Removal	Conductors removed in	None. Same in both
	partial Removal options	options
	only to the depth of cut	
	below mean sea level as	
	specified by the Partial	
	Removal option.	
Mobilization &	Smaller and less	Smaller and less
Demobilization of Derrick	expensive lifting	expensive lifting
Barge	equipment for Partial	equipment for leave in
	Removal options	place option depending
	beaviest single tenside's	tonsido's modulo (or
	module (or section) lift of	copside's module (of
	nlatform	section) intorplation
Platform Removal	lacket and niles removed	Only Tonsides are
	only to the depth of cut	removed
	below mean sea level	removed.
	specified by the Partial	
	Removal options	
Materials Disposal	Less mass to be	Less mass to be
	transported and disposed	transported and disposed
	for Partial Removal	(i.e., mass of the
	options.	topsides) for Leave in
		Place option.
Weather Contingency,	Lower costs for Partial	Lower costs for Leave in
Miscellaneous Work	Removal options.	Place option. Calculated
Provision, Project	Calculated as percentages	as percentages of other
Management Engineering	of other decommissioning	decommissioning phases.
and Planning	phases.	

 Stage 2: The costs for the Conductor Removal, Platform Removal and Material Disposal phases for partial removal options were calculated for each platform based on the estimated quantity of residual material, that is, the amount of structural material that would be left in place after the removal process. For a platform, this is mathematically expressed as shown in Equation 8.1.

$$PR_X = CR_X - RM_X \tag{8.1}$$

Where for a project phase X, PR_X is the cost incurred when decommissioning the platform with a partial removal option. CR_X is the cost incurred when decommissioning the platform with the Complete Removal option (this is specified in the BSEE dataset). RM_X is the cost avoided due to leaving some residual materials.

Note that the Leave in Place option is a special case of the Partial Removal Option where only the topsides of the platform are removed during decommissioning. Therefore, Equation 8.1 will only apply to the Platform Removal and Material Disposal phases in that scenario.

The RM_X is calculated for conductors, jacket, and piles from Equation 8.2.

$$RM_{X} = CR_{X} x \ \% Weight x \ \frac{Height \ of \ component \ in \ Residual \ Material}{Height \ of \ component \ removed \ in \ Complete \ Removal \ option}$$
(8.2)

Where,

%Weight is a factor which represents the weight proportions of the platform components and described in Table 8.3.

Table 8.3: %Weight for Platform Components.

Component	%Weight		
Conductor*	1		
Topsides	Topsides Weight		
	Estimated Removal Weight **		
Jacket	Jacket Weight		
	Estimated Removal Weight		
Piles	Weight of Piles		
	Estimated Removal Weight		

*All conductor-related costs are accounted for in the Conductor Removal phase.

**Estimated Removal Weight for a platform comprises the weights of Topsides, Jacket, and Piles down to 15 feet below the seabed.

The following assumptions apply when using equations 8.1 and 8.2 because only the topsides weight, jacket weight and height of each platform are known with confidence.

- Complete Removal option entails removal of all topsides, jackets down to the seabed, and piles and conductors down to a depth of 15 feet below the seabed.
- ii. Removal costs can be reduced to \$/ton.
- iii. There is a uniform weight distribution across the substructure height.
- iv. Jacket extends to 5 meters or 16.404 feet above the mean sea level (Byrd, Miller and Wiese 2014).
- All piles are considered as main piles which are installed through the jacket legs, as against skirt piles which are placed adjacent to the platform legs.
- vi. On average, conductors extend to 65 feet above the mean sea level (TSB 2016b).
- Stage 3: The costs of individual project phases for each decommissioning option were aggregated across the platforms to obtain cumulative phase costs for all five options as shown in Figure 8.1. There are no cost savings in the Permitting and Regulatory Compliance, Platform Preparation, Pipeline Decommissioning, Power Cable Removal and Site Clearance phases irrespective of the option used. However, significant cost savings are realised from other project phases when partial removal decommissioning options are used. This is because of the optiondependent nature of these phases.



Figure 8.1: Variations in costs of project phases for different decommissioning options

Decommissioning options costs for individual platforms were then calculated by summing the costs of all project phases under an option for each platform. These costs are shown in Figure 8.2 in which platforms have been sorted in order of increasing jacket weight. Further details about the physical features and the decommissioning options costs of the platforms are respectively shown in appendix 1 and appendix 6 of this thesis.



Figure 8.2: Costs of decommissioning POCS platforms using different options.

Project cost-savings due to options used varies across all platforms although the cost of Complete Removal is always more than that of any of the other options considered. The cumulative costs of using the decommissioning options across all the twenty-three platforms are compared in Figure 8.3.



Figure 8.3: Costs of decommissioning all POCS platforms using different options.

It is observed from Figure 8.3 that Complete Removal of the platforms will cumulatively cost \$1.67 billion. However, decommissioning all platforms with the Leave in Place option will cost just under \$1 billion which is equivalent to a significant cost savings of 44%. Partial Removal of all platforms to 85 feet results to a cost of \$1.08 billion, that is, a cost-savings of about 35% in comparison to Complete Removal. On the other hand, the option with the lowest potential cost-savings when compared to Complete Removal is Partial Removal to Top of the Footings. Using this option results to a cumulative cost

of \$1.49 billion which represents a cost-savings of about 11% on the cost of the Complete Removal decommissioning option.

8.3. Modelling the Relationship Between Decommissioning Options Costs and Platform Features

8.3.1. Developed Decommissioning Options Cost Models

Ten multioutput machine learning regression algorithms with capability for handling multi-output problems were investigated in this research for modelling decommissioning options costs. The investigated algorithms included Decision Tree, Elastic Net, Gradient Boosting, K Nearest Neighbour (KNN), Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (LASSO), Multiple Linear, Multivariate Adaptive Regression Splines (MARS), Random Forest, Ridge, and Support Vector regression algorithms.

The algorithms were each used to regress the decommissioning options costs for the twenty-three platforms against their substructure weight, water depth and age. The dataset compiled for this purpose is shown in appendix 6. It comprises the physical features of the platforms from TSB (2016b) and their decommissioning options costs which were statistically derived in section 8.2.

8.3.2. Performance Evaluation of Developed Machine Learning Models

Following the development of these regression models, their prediction accuracies were evaluated graphically using cross-plots and quantitatively using accuracy metrics. The purpose of this performance evaluation was to investigate the accuracy of the developed models to identify the most suitable for forecasting the decommissioning options costs for the case study. Graphical evaluation of a prediction model provides a quick way of visually assessing its performance. Quantitative evaluation, on the other hand, is more tedious and requires some statistical analysis but generates more precise and objective numerical output as compared to those of graphical evaluation.

8.3.2.1. Graphical Evaluation of Machine Learning Regression Models' Performance using Cross-Plots

Graphical evaluation of the developed models entailed examining cross-plots of the actual versus predicted decommissioning options costs for the training and testing data. A cross-plot is a plot of predicted values from a model against the corresponding actual values of the modelled system, equated with a unit slope line or y=x line which is representative of the ideal model. In interpreting a model's cross-plot, the distance between the datapoints and the y=x line provides an indication of the accuracy of the model. Therefore, high predictive capability and accuracy of the model is inferred when substantial amounts of the datapoints are in proximity with this diagonal line (Balogun 2021). Conversely, deviations of the datapoints from the y=x line indicates predictions error in the model. Usually, a good model has datapoints scattered symmetrically around the y=x line.

The developed regression models and their graphically illustrated cross-plots are discussed below.

 Decision Tree Regression: This is a supervised learning method that works by creating a model which predicts the values of target variables by learning simple decision rules inferred from the data features (Pedregosa et al. 2011). The implementation of Decision Trees to regression problems is achieved by using the DecisionTreeRegressor class of the Python scikit-learn library. Figure 8.4 shows the cross-plot of the cost estimation model developed using this algorithm.



Figure 8.4: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS platforms (decision tree regression)

 Elastic Net Regression: This regression method assumes a linear relationship between the input and target variables and is trained by regularisation of the coefficients (Friedman, Hastie and Tibshirani 2010). For multi-output regression problems, this relationship can be conceptualised as a hyperplane which connects the input variables to the target variable. The method is particularly useful when there are multiple features that are correlated with one another. Figure 8.5 shows the cross-plot of the cost estimation model developed using this algorithm.



Figure 8.5: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS platforms (elastic net regression)

 Gradient Boosting Regression: This regression method is a generalization of boosting to arbitrary differentiable loss functions which can be applied to regression problems by using the GradientBoostingRegressor class of the Python scikit-learn library (Hastie et al. 2017). The Gradient Boosting estimator builds an additive model in a forward stage-wise fashion where a regression tree is fit on the negative gradient of the given loss function in each stage. Figure 8.6 shows the cross-plot of the cost estimation model developed using this algorithm.



Figure 8.6: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS platforms (gradient boost regression)

 KNN Regression: This regression method works based on distance metrics by finding a predefined number of training samples closest in distance to the new point and predicting the label or target variables from these (Hastie et al. 2017). The KNeighborsRegressor class of the Python scikit-learn library implements this learning based on the nearest neighbours of each query point, where k is an integer value specified by the user or set to the value of 5 by default. Figure 8.7 shows the cross-plot of the cost estimation model developed using this algorithm.



Figure 8.7: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS platforms (k-nearest neighbour regression)

 LASSO Regression: This regression method estimates sparse coefficients and mathematically consists of a linear model with an added regularization term (Hastie et al. 2017). The Lasso class of the Python scikit-learn library implements this method by using coordinate descent as the algorithm to fit the coefficients. Figure 8.8 shows the cross-plot of the cost estimation model developed using this algorithm.



Figure 8.8: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS platforms (LASSO regression)

 Multiple Linear Regression: This regression method assumes a linear relationship between the input and target variables and works by minimising the residual sum of squares between the observed targets in the dataset, and the targets predicted by the linear approximation (Maxwell 1975). It is an extension of linear Ordinary Least Square regression with the only difference being that it attempts to simultaneously account for the variations of the explanatory variables in the target variables (Uyanık and Güler 2013). Figure 8.9 shows the cross-plot of the cost estimation model developed using this algorithm.



Figure 8.9: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS platforms (multiple linear regression)

 MARS Regression: This is a regression method for solving multivariate non-linear regression problems and works by finding a set of simple linear functions that results in the best prediction performance when aggregated (Hastie et al. 2017). It can be conceptualised as a generalization of stepwise linear regression where there is an ensemble of linear functions. Figure 8.10 shows the cross-plot of the cost estimation model developed using this algorithm.



Figure 8.10: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS platforms (MARS regression)

 Random Forest Regression: Random Forest is an extension of the Decision Trees that works by using an ensemble of trees where each tree in the ensemble is built from a sample drawn with replacement from the training set (Biau and Scornet 2016). The combination of decision tress enables Random Forest to achieve reduced variance in the model predictions, though this can sometimes be accompanied by a slight increase in bias, and this variance reduction is often significant hence yielding an overall better model than that of the Decision Trees. Figure 8.11 shows the cross-plot of the cost estimation model developed using this algorithm.



Figure 8.11: Cross-plot of decommissioning cost model for POCS platforms (random forest regression)

 Ridge Regression: This is a linear regression method that improves upon the Ordinary Least Squares regression by imposing a penalty on the size of the coefficients (Avila and Hauck 2017). By minimising a penalized residual sum of squares, Ridge regressions derives coefficients that are more robust to collinearity than the Ordinary Least Squares regression. Figure 8.12 shows the cross-plot of the cost estimation model developed using this algorithm.



Figure 8.12: Decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS platforms (ridge regression)

 Support Vector Regression: This regression method works by using support vector machines to build a prediction model which depends only on a subset of the training data and has a cost function which ignores samples whose prediction is close to their target (Smola and Schölkopf 2004). It is implemented by the "svm" class of the Python scikit-learn library. Figure 8.13 shows the cross-plot of the cost estimation model developed using this algorithm.



Figure 8.13: Decommissioning cost model predictions for POCS platforms (support vector regression)

The concentration of datapoints around the y=x line for all the investigated models indicate that they make predictions that are accurate to a reasonable degree. However, it is challenging to decipher the best performing model based on the cross-plots alone. Hence their quantitative evaluation was deemed necessary.

8.3.2.2. Quantitative Evaluation of Machine Learning Regression Models' Performance using Accuracy Metrics

Quantitative evaluation of a model entails comparing the model predictions with actual data and measuring the degree of deviation between both sets of values. Root mean square error, mean absolute error, mean absolute percentage error (MAPE), and R-Squared are some popular metrics used for evaluating machine learning models.

For metrics with values ranging between zero and infinity, a common drawback is that their value does not say much about the performance of the regression with respect to the distribution of the ground truth elements (Chicco, Warrens and Jurman 2021). In addition, since the order of magnitude of decommissioning costs is quite high (typically in millions of dollars), failure to assess the model's accuracy with performance metrics that are based on relative measurements is likely to lead to misinterpretations. Therefore, this research elected to evaluate the developed models with relative measurement metrics i.e., scale-free accuracy metrics whose values are bounded between 0 and 1 (or 0-100%). This includes Mean Absolute Percentage Error (MAPE), R-Squared, and Adjusted R-Squared.

 MAPE: MAPE has emerged as one of the most used accuracy metrics since the start of the 21st century (Gneiting 2011; Botchkarev 2018).
 MAPE is a unitless metric determined as shown in Equation 8.3 and expressed as a percentage (Velasco-Gallego and Lazakis 2020).

$$MAPE = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| \frac{y_i - \hat{y}_i}{y_i} \right|$$
(8.3)

Where *n* corresponds to the sample size, and y_i and \hat{y}_i represents the *i*-th occurrence of the actual and the predicted values, respectively.

One disadvantage of using MAPE is that its value is undefined when the observed value is zero. Nevertheless, it is beneficial for a problem domain like decommissioning costing which has a varying and sometimes unclear scale and context.

R-Squared: The coefficient of determination, R², is a metric calculated as expressed in Equation 8.4 and defined as the proportion of variations in the data explained by the linear regression model (Montgomery, Peck and Vining 2021). It can be interpreted for a multioutput regression model as the proportion of the total variation in the set of predicted/dependent variables that is accounted for by the set of observed/independent variables (Dharumarajan et al., 2017).

$$R^{2} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (p_{I} - \overline{p_{I}})^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (o_{I} - \overline{o_{I}})^{2}}$$
(8.4)

Where p_I and o_I are the predicted and observed values, and \bar{p} and $\bar{o_I}$ are the means of the predicted and observed values.

A model's accuracy is indicated by the nearness of its R^2 to one. Conversely, the R^2 value becomes zero in the absence of any linear relationship between the sets of response and predictor variables. However, this metric poorly handles addition of new predictor variables to the model.

Adjusted R-Squared: The adjusted R-Squared, R²_{adj} is another metric used for assessing the goodness-of-fit of a model. This accuracy metric modifies the R² value by compensating for the number of predictor variables included in the model (Montgomery, Peck and Vining 2021). The formula for calculating R²_{adj} from R² is shown in Equation 8.5 (Harrell 2017) from which it can be deduced that the R²_{adj} value of a model will always be less than or equal to its R².

$$R^{2}_{adj} = 1 - (1 - R^{2}) \frac{n - 1}{n - x - 1}$$
(8.5)

Where n and x are respectively the number of observations and the number of independent variables in the data.

Table 8.4 shows the values of the MAPE, R-Squared and Adjusted R-Squared for all the developed regression models.

Accuracy Metric							
Regression	ΜΑΡΕ	R-Squared	Adjusted R-				
Algorithm	(Lower	(Higher value	Squared				
	value is desirable)	is desirable)	(figher value is desirable)				
Decision Tree	13.541%	0.882	0.864				
Elastic Net	12.319%	0.931	0.921				
Gradient Boosting	10.103%	0.935*	0.925*				
KNN	9.394%*	0.863	0.842				
LASSO	12.322%	0.931	0.921				
Multiple Linear	12.322%	0.931	0.921				
MARS	13.814%	0.903	0.887				

Table 8.4: Performance Metrics Values for Developed Regression Models

Random Forest	9.781%	0.924	0.912
Ridge	12.322%	0.931	0.921
Support Vector	10.744%	0.836	0.810

*Best performance with respect to accuracy metric.

Based on the performance evaluation results, Gradient Boosting is observed to be the most adequate for modelling the decommissioning options costs based on its R-squared and Adjusted R-squared values. Although the KNNbased model preformed best in terms of MAPE, Gradient Boosting performed best in terms of R-Squared (and Adjusted R-Squared) which has been identified as being more informative than other accuracy metrics, particularly for regression analysis evaluation (Chicco, Warrens and Jurman 2021). Consequently, the regression model developed using Gradient Boosting algorithm was adopted as the machine learning model for forecasting decommissioning options costs. The python script for developing this model is presented in appendix 7.

8.4. Predicting Decommissioning Options Costs for the Case Study using the Costing Model

From Equation 7.2, the substructure weight, water depth, and age of a platform are the input required by the developed machine learning costing model to predict the costs of decommissioning the platform with different options. These platform features for the case study are

- Substructure weight = 8,774 tons + 2,363 tons = 11,137 tons
- Water depth = 406 feet
- Platform age = 43 years

Inputting these data into the machine learning model yields the costs of decommissioning the case study platform with different decommissioning options as shown in Table 8.5.

Table 8.5: Pr	redicted Decomi	missionina O	ptions C	Costs for (Case S	Studv
		moole o		.0313 101 .	cuse .	Juuy

Cost	of	Cost	of	Cost	of	Cost	of	Cost	of
Complete		Partial		Partia	I	Partial		Leave	in
Removal		Removal	to	Remo	val to	Removal	to	Place (5)
(\$)		85 feet (\$	5)	IMO	Depth	Тор	of		
				(\$)		Footings (\$)		

With the decommissioning costs for the case study platform forecasted, data scaling was applied to transform these values into a range that is compatible with the LIKERT scale input data of the decommissioning decision model.

8.4.1. Data Scaling of Forecasted Decommissioning Options Costs for the Case Study

Applying the data scaling equation (Equation 3.9) to the decommissioning options cost values for the case study produces the LIKERT-scale equivalent values shown in Table 8.6.

Decommissioning Option	Cost (\$)	LIKERT Scale Equivalent
Complete Removal	77,931,854	6.391
Partial Removal to 85 feet	63,816,150	7.070
Partial Removal to IMO Depth	69,470,612	6.798
Partial Removal to Top of	69,693,463	6.788
Footings		
Leave in Place	55,745,763	7.458

 Table 8.6: LIKERT Scale Equivalent of Decommissioning Options Costs

Because cost-savings is desirable during decommissioning, the most expensive decommissioning option in Table 8.6 is observed to be equivalent to the least value on the LIKERT scale while the cheapest option has the highest equivalent value.

The values in Table 8.6 can effectively be inputted into the DDM as a more accurate replacement for the expert opinion data pertaining to the cost criteria as obtained from the decommissioning survey in this research. Thus, demonstrating the model's capability to support the incorporation of historical data as input as this information becomes available.

8.5. Summary

This chapter discussed the development of a decommissioning options costing model with the aid of machine learning regression algorithm and a decommissioning costing dataset in the public domain. The costing model predicts the decommissioning options costs from the features of the platform to be decommissioned, namely the substructure weight, water depth and age. Results from the graphical and quantitative performance evaluation of the model both indicated a high prediction accuracy. The costing model was used to forecast the costs of using five options for decommissioning the case study platform. These costs were then scaled into their equivalent values in the Likert scale range to facilitate direct integration into the decommissioning decision model. Thus, demonstrating that the decision model supports the integration of historical data when this becomes available.

The next chapter provides a conclusion to this research and recommendations for future research in the knowledge domain.

Chapter 9 : CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This chapter concludes this report by summarising the information presented in all the preceding chapters and highlighting the golden thread that links all the chapters. It begins by presenting an evaluative summary of the conducted research in form of its conclusions and findings. Next, the impact of the research is discussed to highlight the implications of the conclusions to the broader context within which the research belongs. A critical appraisal of the research limitations and challenges encountered while conducting the research are also outlined. The chapter closes by providing recommendations for future works in the knowledge domain of the research.

9.1. Conclusion and Findings

The overarching aim of this research was to develop decision support for assisting decision-makers to determine the best available option for decommissioning their offshore platform. However, the achievement of this aim entailed meeting several targets as captured by the research objectives. Completion of this research contributes to the body of knowledge by providing a better understanding of the key elements and decision-making process of determining the optimal decommissioning option for offshore platforms. Hence, stating its conclusion requires a careful reflection on the completed work and its significant contributions vis a vis the aim and objectives.

In performing this research, the researcher has

Completed a robust literature review of current practices in offshore decommissioning with focus on the main decommissioning options and key considerations for choosing an option for a project. These considerations or decision criteria were identified to be safety, environmental impact, technical feasibility, financial cost, and public perception. Existing approaches for evaluating decommissioning options for offshore platforms and identified their limitations and strengths have also been reviewed. Through this critical review, the primary desirable capabilities of a robust decision model for identifying the optimal option for a decommissioning project were also established. These capabilities comprise the ability to

188

account for qualitative and quantitative data, clarity and structure in use of expert opinion when required, and use of Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis. Lastly, the Analytic Hierarchy Process was identified as the most suitable Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis technique for solving the multicriteria problem of decommissioning options evaluation. This technique was combined with Likert scale to overcome the AHP limitations of having a cumbersome number of judgements and matrix inconsistency issues.

- ii. Developed a novel decision model for determining the optimal option for decommissioning an offshore platform. Also demonstrated the applicability of the same by applying it to a case study with information from a decommissioning survey as input. This analysis provided better understanding of the decision-making process of options selection and the complex interaction of the decision criteria. The decision model comprises of four phases and supports efficient identification of the optimal decommissioning option for an offshore platform as demonstrated by the result of its application to a case study.
- iii. Validated the survey input data, logical structure, and results of applying the decommissioning decision model with the aid of sensitivity analysis, comparison to similar studies and expert opinion, respectively. All three validation schemes yielded positive outcomes, strongly supporting the fitness-for-purpose and fitness-for-use of the developed model. On this basis, the model is proposed for adoption by the decommissioning industry.
- iv. Applied machine learning to an existing dataset to develop a model for estimating decommissioning options costs and subsequently integrating historical data into the decision model. The costing model uses the substructure weight, water depth and age of a platform to predict the costs of its decommissioning under five different scenarios with reasonable accuracy. It was implemented by identifying platform features which highly influence choice of decommissioning option for a project and applying machine learning regression with secondary data to these features to develop a decommissioning options costing model with reasonable prediction accuracy. The costs of decommissioning the case study under five different scenarios were then predicted using the developed costing model and integrated into the decision model, thus replacing the survey input data and minimising bias from human judgement.

These findings represent a significant advancement on the current understanding of decision-making during the decommissioning of offshore platforms with regards to determining the optimal option for a project. The DDM is valuable for improving the efficiency of future decommissioning projects as demonstrated by its successful application to a case study and positive outcomes from its validation. As such, its industry use is expected to improve decommissioning decision-making in that the model's logical process will infuse engineering rationality into the options assessment process, thus reducing bias and minimising conflicts between project stakeholders.

9.2. Wider Impact of Research

This work represents a novel approach to the optimisation of offshore decommissioning that is focused on decision-making during the project planning stage. Its outcomes improve on existing decommissioning option selection approaches by developing a more efficient approach. It is also expected to reduce the cost of future decommissioning projects by aiding effective and timely estimation of the financial costs of using different options.

There are several significant impacts of the research, some of which are described below.

i. The decommissioning decision model can serve as an unbiased basis for justifying the choice of a decommissioning option for an offshore asset by establishing traceable steps in the decision-making process. Hence, reducing the traditionally rife conflict between stakeholders of decommissioning projects. The model's structured handling of expert opinion minimises the subjectivity of human judgement, thus increasing the likelihood of arriving at a balanced and logically sound decision as demonstrated by the case study analysis. Additionally, the outcome of the decision-making process can be easily traced back to the beginning if there is a need for auditing the decision. Industry adoption of the decision model will result to significant reduction of time, resources and efforts spent in decision-making during decommissioning. The proposed framework for decommissioning option selection streamlines the entire process of identifying the optimal option for a project. Also, the DDM identifies the key elements of the decision-making and their interplay vis a vis decision

criteria comparisons and influence on decommissioning options performance for a project. The model is easily adaptable and therefore can be applied to platform wells, subsea tiebacks and bundles, and pipelines with little modification. Given adequate information supply, the model can facilitate detailed decision-making analysis of assets and components that are more complex than the case study used in this research.

- ii. The decommissioning options costing model developed using machine learning regression represents a novel contribution. Its use will improve accuracy in early determination of the potential exposure to decommissioning costs for decommissioning, reporting, asset trading and budget purposes. A paramount aspect of the costing model's novelty relates to its capacity to predict the costs of using five different options for decommissioning a platform while only requiring the substructure weight, water depth, and age of the platform as input. Hence, it is expected to be a game-changer in the decommissioning industry due to its usefulness, particularly at the preliminary stages of decommissioning projects when data is scarce and cost estimates are highly uncertain. Moreover, the model represents the first attempt to concurrently predict the costs of using five different options for decommissioning a platform. Hence, it is expected to be extremely useful to asset owners for preliminary cost evaluation purposes prior to detailed engineering cost estimation.
- iii. The elaborate literature review of offshore decommissioning and comparison of decommissioning perception by individuals in different offshore regions can serve as a catalyst for driving policymakers to improve upon existing decommissioning legislation and practices. Highlighting differences in legislations of countries is likely to increase the possibility that governing authorities will identify and correct flaws in their state's current approach to decommissioning. The wide variation in the location of the decommissioning survey participants was invaluable in this regard, especially considering the fragmented nature of decommissioning practice in the world. Even more, this research can support decommissioning policy formulation by countries like Nigeria with ageing infrastructure but no comprehensive decommissioning regulation system.
- iv. The relative comparison which established weights of decision criteria and sub-criteria for the case study can support asset owners to effectively

develop a scale of preference for these decision elements, and subsequently optimise resource allocation to aspects of the data gathering. Moreso, this research represents a pioneering effort to prioritise platform features in terms of their relevance to decommissioning options selection and relating the prioritised features to options cost. This streamlines data gathering for supporting decommissioning decisions and contributes towards valuable use of historical data. The AHP hierarchy structure used for applying the DDM to the case study was developed from extensive review of literature. It provides a template for collection of decommissioning information from completed projects and using these to realise process improvements in future projects. This is likely to benefit platform owners by improving the efficiency of knowledge transfer between their projects. It can also benefit the offshore decommissioning industry by fostering information sharing which is likely to catalyse process improvements.

v. The completed research work as documented in this report represents the addition of an educational reference to the existing body of offshore decommissioning knowledge. The review of literature pertinent to offshore decommissioning, decision model development, analysis of the case study and integration of historical data to improve the accuracy of decision-making are some of the obvious areas where this work will benefit future research endeavours.

Therefore, this research represents an original contribution to the domain of offshore decommissioning despite making use of existing research elements. This is encapsulated in both the methodological context (i.e., unique combination of quantitative and qualitative research tools to optimise offshore decommissioning), and the application context (i.e., novel approach to decommissioning options selection that builds on the limitations of existing works, is reusable across various locations, and supports integration of historical data) of the research.

9.3. Critical Appraisal of Completed Work

Throughout the conduction of this research, considerable effort was directed towards ensuring achievement of the aim and systematic integration of different expert opinions to arrive at consensus that mitigates extreme outcomes. In this regard, an assessment of some issues of concern in the research is subsequently presented.

- i. DDM applicability to more complex scenarios than the case study: Several types of offshore platforms are in existence (see Figure 2.1), but the developed decision model was only applied to a single fixed-steel jacket platform in this research. This limited example is acknowledged as a potential source of bias in determining the usefulness of the model and its application to a more complex platform (and varying legislative requirements) is likely to be more cumbersome. Notwithstanding, the decision model's flow process is generic and hence readily adaptable to varying complexities and levels of analysis detail, provided that sufficient data is made available to the decision-maker. For example, it is expected that the decision criteria will always remain the same when applying the DDM although there might be need to consider a wider range of sub-criteria than those considered in the case study analysis depending on the application context. In essence, the decision-maker's requirements, platform features and available information influence the accuracy of the DDM results.
- ii. Use of Work Experience to gauge expertise level of survey respondents: In determining the relative importance or priorities of platform features to decommissioning option selection, the opinion of survey respondents with more years of work experience was weighed more than those of individuals with less work experience. This assumption is a possible source of bias because some individuals who have worked for a limited number of years may possess extensive knowledge of decommissioning from other formal or informal sources. Conversely, it is possible that an individual with more work experience only possesses knowledge of decommissioning relating to a very specific part of such projects. In retrospect, the survey analysis would have benefitted from using a factor which combines the respondent's Work Experience, Level of Education, and Perceived Level of Confidence in Judgement instead of Work Experience alone.
- iii. Appropriateness of DDM and Results Validation: Despite the efforts that have been made to logically develop and validate the decommissioning decision model, it is worth noting that the model still possesses some level

of subjectivity. This, however, does not diminish the value of applying the model to decommissioning option selection. As highlighted by the literature review in Chapter two, MCDA approaches are suited for decommissioning decision-making due to vast knowledge gaps even though complete verification of the accuracy of the results obtained from such approaches is impossible due to their conceptual nature.

- iv. Research Challenges: Two major challenges were encountered during this research due to the uniqueness and relative infancy of the research domain.
 - Scope definition challenge: Decommissioning is multifaceted. It can be viewed from engineering, social, economics, policy-making and environmental science perspectives and each of these perspectives have their unique considerations. Additionally, there is a wide range of offshore structures and each of these, to an extent, has varying decommissioning procedures. Moreso, developing a solution that is reusable across various locations is not straightforward because of the regional differences in decommissioning practice in terms of regulations and perspectives of stakeholders. Hence it was challenging to define boundaries for this research. Addressing this challenge necessitated a careful trade-off between the breadth and depth of analysis in this research. Literature review guided the researcher to choose to focus on fixed-steel platforms located in California while developing a robust solution that is reusable for other offshore structures and adaptable to other locations. In addition, the location-based differences in stakeholders' approach to offshore decommissioning was explored during analysis of the industry survey carried out as part of this research.
 - Data-related challenges: Obtaining either live project or historical decommissioning data to support the analysis in this research proved to be an arduous task. Where such data existed for public use e.g., UKCS publicly available decommissioning data (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/oil-and-gas-decommissioning-of-offshore-installations-and-pipelines), there were significant inconsistencies in the procedure followed and documented results. Also, it was observed that data for furnishing most qualitatively

194

assessed decision criteria and sub-criteria were non-existent despite being mentioned in the literature, possibly because these had neither been adopted by the offshore industry nor documented for past projects. Adopting the workaround strategy of demonstrating the decommissioning decision model's applicability using a theoretical case study and input data from a decommissioning survey enabled the researcher to overcome this challenge. Also, in developing the decommissioning options costing model, the researcher used secondary data from literature and was able to apply machine learning regression despite the limited volume of this data by incorporating the Leave-One-Out cross validation technique.

9.4. Recommendations for Future Research

Despite the achievements of the current work, prospects for further research in offshore decommissioning abounds. Hence, some recommendations are presented for future research endeavours in this knowledge domain.

- i. Research is needed in understanding the implications of the currently ongoing energy industry net-zero transition to offshore decommissioning. Offshore platforms are a significant contributor to atmospheric emissions due to their running and maintenance operations, and their removal will result to a decrease in the generation of greenhouse gases although the machinery used for such projects also emit pollutant gases. Research in this area can focus on development of more environmental-friendly decommissioning procedures and options. It can also be directed towards catalysing the adoption of repurposing as an alternative to complete platform removal during decommissioning.
- ii. In future research, it would be interesting to apply the developed decision model to the decommissioning of other types of offshore structures like concrete gravity-based platforms, FPSO platforms, and tension leg platforms. More decommissioning options such as toppling and deep-sea disposal can also be investigated for platforms as there are countries where the overseeing regulations permit these options. Also, future research can apply the DDM to a platform with similar features to the case study platform in this research but situated in a different location such as the North Sea.

Comparing the outcomes will help to unlock a deeper understanding of the differences in approaches to offshore decommissioning by different countries alongside the attendant strengths and weaknesses.

- iii. In the future, the DDM and the options costing model developed in this research can be adapted to a software tool which implements their functionality with minimum human interference. Such tool was not developed in the current work due to time constraints but is expected to be economically viable and beneficial to the decommissioning industry.
- iv. Future research is required in developing innovative strategies to promote data sharing and improving the consistency of documenting decommissioning projects. Progress in this area will likely result to improvements to the current decommissioning practices by fostering more objective research and development of innovative solutions. Given adequate access to industry data, it would be interesting to investigate the application of the decision model to an actual project and objectively quantify how much improvement can be realised through its use as compared to a similar project completed with the current industry approach.
- v. As more decommissioning data becomes available, future research in platform features prioritisation will benefit from taking the more formal computing approach of principal component analysis (Jolliffe and Cadima 2016). This technique is useful for reducing the dimensionality of large datasets and increasing their interpretability while concurrently minimizing information loss. Similarly, gradient boosting algorithm was identified in this research to be the best algorithm for developing a decommissioning options cost forecasting model. However, due to time constraints the model developed from this algorithm was not optimised before using it to forecast costs. Future research can investigate optimisation of the costing model through hyper-parameters tuning to improve its prediction accuracy.

In summary, the aim of this research has been achieved. The research, despite its completion at this stage, has created opportunities for further research in other areas of decommissioning decision-making. Therefore, there is room to extend and build upon the findings from this research towards further optimisation of offshore decommissioning.

196
REFERENCES

ABB, 2015. Offshore Oil and Gas Decommissioning, A Technical Report. Available at: https://library.e.abb.com/public/d689c2f70f0c447586610ac566c9aa7e/ABB-Offshore-Oil-and-Gas- Decommissioning-2015.pdf. [Assessed 4 July 2022].

ABU-SHABEEN, N.N., 2008. *Development of multi-criteria decision analysis models for bidding and contractor selection*. PhD Thesis, Edinburgh Napier University.

AHIAGA-DAGBUI, D.D., LOVE, P.E.D., WHYTE, A. and BOATENG, P., 2017. Costing and technological challenges of offshore oil and gas decommissioning in the UK North Sea. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 143(7).

AKADIRI, O.P., 2011. Development of a multi-criteria approach for the selection of sustainable materials for building projects.

AKANBI, O.A., AMIRI, I.S. and FAZELDEHKORDI, E., 2015. A machine-learning approach to phishing detection and defense. Syngress.

AL-GHURIBI, T.M.Q., LIEW, M.S., ZAWAWI, N.A. and AYOUB, M.A., 2016. Decommissioning decision criteria for offshore installations and well abandonment. In: *Engineering Challenges for Sustainable Future: Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Civil, Offshore and Environmental Engineering (ICCOEE 2016, Malaysia, 15–17 Aug 2016)*. p. 81.

ALHABABI, H.H.M.H., 2015. Development of decision support tool for advising on selecting ballast water treatment system.

ALMOND, P. and ESBESTER, M., 2016. Il/Legitimate risks? Occupational health and safety and the public in Britain, c. 1960–2015. In: *Governing Risks in Modern Britain*. Springer. pp. 277–296.

ANDRAWUS, J.A, SUN M., and STEEL, J.A., 2011. A platform for analysis: Decision-making process for decommissioning\ offshore installations. *Institute of Asset Management Journal*, May 2011, 14–15.

ANDRAWUS, J.A., STEEL, J.A. and WATSON, J.F., 2009. A hybrid approach to assess decommissioning options for offshore installations. In: *Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition*. OnePetro.

ANIFOWOSE, B., LAWLER D.M., VAN DER HORST, D. and CHAPMAN, L., 2016. A systematic quality assessment of Environmental Impact Statements in the oil and gas industry. *Science of the Total Environment*, 572, pp. 570–585.

ARASU, B.S., SEELAN, B.J.B. and THAMARAISELVAN, N., 2020. A machine learning-based approach to enhancing social media marketing. *Computers & Electrical Engineering*, 86, p. 106723.

ASADABADI, M.R., CHANG, E. and SABERI, M., 2019. Are MCDM methods useful? A critical review of analytic hierarchy process (AHP) and analytic network process (ANP). *Cogent Engineering*, 6(1), p. 1623153.

AUSTRALIAN PETROLEUM PRODUCTION & EXPLORATION ASSOCIATION (APPEA), 2016. Offshore Oil and Gas Decommissioning Decision-making Guidelines. Available online at https://www.stfs.com.au/wpcontent/uploads/2016/12/APPEA-Decommissioning-Guidelines.pdf.

AVILA, J. and HAUCK, T., 2017. *Scikit-learn cookbook: over 80 recipes for machine learning in Python with scikit-learn*. Packt Publishing Ltd.

BAI, L., LIU, Y. and CHAO, N., 2017. The Comprehensive Evaluation for Nuclear Facility Decommissioning Scheme Based on AHP-DEA Method. In: *International Conference on Nuclear Engineering*. American Society of Mechanical Engineers. p. V004T06A021.

BALL, H.L., 2019. Conducting online surveys. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 35(3), pp. 413–417.

BALOGUN, Y., 2021. *Numerical and experimental study of the impact of temperature on relative permeability in an oil and water system.* PhD Dissertation, Robert Gordon University.

BARKER, T.J. and ZABINSKY, Z.B., 2011. A multicriteria decision making model for reverse logistics using analytical hierarchy process. *Omega*, 39(5), pp. 558–573.

BAXTER, T., 2016. Decommissioning- The Sustainability Challenge. In: *Fourth Decommissioning and Wreck Removal Workshop* – "*Influence, Educate and Un*-*Lock Potential* – *Bringing Industry and Science Together".* Glasgow: MASTS (Marine Alliance for Science and Technology for Scotland) and the Society for Underwater Technology (SUT). BELL, E., HARLEY, B. and BRYMAN, A., 2022. *Business research methods*. Sixth Edition. Oxford University Press.

BELTON, V. and STEWART, T., 2002. *Multiple criteria decision analysis: an integrated approach*. Springer Science & Business Media.

BEMMENT, R., 2001. Decommissioning topic strategy.

BENÍTEZ, J., DELGADO-GALVÁN, X., IZQUIERDO, J. and PÉREZ-GARCÍA, R., 2011. Achieving matrix consistency in AHP through linearization. *Applied Mathematical Modelling*, 35(9), pp. 4449–4457.

BERNSTEIN, B.B., BRESSLER, A., CANTLE, P., HENRION, M., JOHN, D., KRUSE, S., PONDELLA, D., SCHOLZ, A., SETNICKA, T. and SWAMY, S., 2010. Evaluating alternatives for decommissioning California's oil and gas platforms: A technical analysis to inform state policy. California Ocean Science Trust.

BERNSTEIN, B.B., 2015. Evaluating alternatives for decommissioning California's offshore oil and gas platforms. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, 11(4), pp. 537–541.

BERRAR, D., 2018. Cross-Validation. *Encyclopedia of Bioinformatics and Computational Biology*.

BIAU, G. and SCORNET, E., 2016. A random forest guided tour. *Test*, 25(2), pp. 197–227.

BIRCHENOUGH, S.N.R. and DEGRAER, S., 2020. Science in support of ecologically sound decommissioning strategies for offshore man-made structures: Taking stock of current knowledge and considering future challenges. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 77(3), pp. 1075–1078.

BLAIR, J., CZAJA, R.F. and BLAIR, E.A., 2013. *Designing surveys: A guide to decisions and procedures*. Sage Publications.

BOEM AND BSEE, 2022. Selected BOEM & BSEE-Funded Research Informing Oil & Gas Decommissioning Offshore California.

BORCHANI, H., VARANDO, G., BIELZA, C., and LARRAÑAGA, P., 2015. A survey on multi-output regression. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery*, 5(5), pp. 216–233.

BORENSTEIN, D., 1998. Towards a practical method to validate decision support systems. *Decision Support Systems*, 23(3), pp. 227–239.

BOTCHKAREV, A., 2018. Performance metrics (error measures) in machine learning regression, forecasting and prognostics: Properties and typology. *ArXiv Preprint ArXiv:1809.03006*.

BRESSLER, A. and BERNSTEIN, B.B., 2015. A costing model for offshore decommissioning in California. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, 11(4), pp. 554–563.

BROUGHTON, P., DAVIES, R. and GREEN, M., 2004. Dismantling the Maureen platform—an overview. In: *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers-Civil Engineering*. Thomas Telford Ltd. pp. 79–85.

BROWNE, M.W., 2000. Cross-validation methods. *Journal of Mathematical Psychology*, 44(1), pp. 108–132.

BRUNELLI, M., 2015. Introduction to the analytic hierarchy process. Springer.

BULL, A.S. and LOVE, M.S., 2019. Worldwide oil and gas platform decommissioning: a review of practices and reefing options. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 168, pp. 274–306.

BUREAU VERITAS, 2018. Decommissioning on the UK Continental Shelf-an overview of regulations.

BURGE, S., 2014. The Systems Engineering Tool Box. The Analytic HierarchyProcess(AHP).Availableonline:https://www.burgehugheswalsh.co.uk/Uploaded/1/Documents/Analytic-Hierarchy-Process-Tool-v1.pdf.

BURNHAM, K.P. and ANDERSON, D.R., 2002. Model Selection and Multimodel Inference A Practical Information-Theoretic Approach Second Edition., 1998 Springer-Verlag New York, Inc.

BYRD, R.C., MILLER, D.J. and WIESE, S.M., 2014. Cost estimating for offshore oil & gas facility decommissioning. *AACE International Technical Paper*, pp. 1–30.

BYRD, R.C., SMITH, J.B. and SPEASE, S.J., 2018. The Challenges Facing the Industry in Offshore Facility Decommissioning on the California Coast. In: *Offshore Technology Conference*. OnePetro.

ÇALIŞKAN, E., AKSAKAL, E., ÇETINYOKUŞ, S. and ÇETINYOKUŞ, T., 2019. Hybrid use of Likert scale-based AHP and PROMETHEE methods for hazard analysis and consequence modeling (HACM) software selection. *International Journal of Information Technology & Decision Making*, 18(05), pp. 1689–1715.

CAMSTRA, A. and BOOMSMA, A., 1992. Cross-validation in regression and covariance structure analysis: An overview. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 21(1), pp. 89–115.

CANTLE, P. and BERNSTEIN, B., 2015. Air emissions associated with decommissioning California's offshore oil and gas platforms. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, 11(4), pp. 564–571.

CAPOBIANCO, N., BASILE, V., LOIA, F. and VONA, R., 2021. Toward a sustainable decommissioning of offshore platforms in the oil and gas industry: a PESTLE analysis. *Sustainability*, 13(11), p. 6266.

ÇETINYOKUŞ, S., ÇALIŞKAN, E., AKSAKAL, E. and ÇETINYOKUŞ, T., 2020. Group decision making for hazard analysis and consequence modelling software selection with AHP. *Iranian Journal of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering (IJCCE)*, 39(3), pp. 303–318.

CHANDLER, J., WHITE, D., TECHERA, E.J., GOURVENEC, S. and DRAPER, S., 2017. Engineering and legal considerations for decommissioning of offshore oil and gas infrastructure in Australia. *Ocean Engineering*, 131, pp. 338–347.

CHANDRASEKARAN, S., 2018. *Dynamic analysis and design of offshore structures*. Second Edition. Springer.

CHANG, Y., DOU, H.E., CHEN, C., WANG, X. and LIU, K., 2006. An Innovative Method: Risk Assessment for Exploration and Development of Oil and Gas. In: *SPE Eastern Regional Meeting*. OnePetro.

CHAUDHARY, K., ALAM, M., AL-RAKHAMI, M.S. and GUMAEI, A., 2021. Machine learning-based mathematical modelling for prediction of social media consumer behavior using big data analytics. *Journal of Big Data*, 8(1), pp. 1–20.

CHEN, H. and KOCAOGLU, D.F., 2008. A sensitivity analysis algorithm for hierarchical decision models. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 185(1), pp. 266–288.

CHENG, J.C., TAN, Y., SONG, Y., LIU, X. and WANG, X., 2017. A semi-automated approach to generate 4D/5D BIM models for evaluating different offshore oil and gas platform decommissioning options. *Visualization in Engineering*, 5(1), pp. 1–13.

CHICCO, D., WARRENS, M.J. and JURMAN, G., 2021. The coefficient of determination R-squared is more informative than SMAPE, MAE, MAPE, MSE and RMSE in regression analysis evaluation. *PeerJ Computer Science*, 7, p. e623.

CINELLI, M., COLES, S.R. and KIRWAN, K., 2014. Analysis of the potentials of multi criteria decision analysis methods to conduct sustainability assessment. *Ecological Indicators*, 46, pp. 138–148.

CLAISSE, J.T., PONDELLA, D.J., LOVE, M., ZAHN, L.A., WILLIAMS, C.M., WILLIAMS, J.P. and BULL, A.S., 2014. Oil platforms off California are among the most productive marine fish habitats globally. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(43), pp. 15462–15467.

CLAISSE, J.T., PONDELLA, D.J., LOVE, M., ZAHN, L.A., WILLIAMS, C.M. and BULL, A.S., 2015. Impacts from partial removal of decommissioned oil and gas platforms on fish biomass and production on the remaining platform structure and surrounding shell mounds. *PloS One*, 10(9), p. e0135812.

CNRI, 2012. MURCHISON DECOMMISSIONING COMPARATIVE ASSESSMENT REPORT. MURDECOM-CNR-PM-REP-00225.

CNRI, 2013. Murchison field decommissioning programmes. MURDECOM-CNR-PM-REP-00232.

COLLIS, J. and HUSSEY, R., 2013. *Business research: A practical guide for undergraduate and postgraduate students*. Fourth Edition. Springer.

COOLEN, J.W., 2017. *North Sea reefs: benthic biodiversity of artificial and rocky reefs in the southern North Sea.* Doctorate Dissertation, Wageningen University.

CROWE, S., Cresswell, K., Robertson, A., HUBY, G., AVERY, A. and SHEIKH, A. 2011. The case study approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 11(1), pp. 1–9.

CVITANOVIC, C., HOBDAY, A.J., VAN KERKHOFF, L., WILSON, S.K., DOBBS, K. and MARSHALL, N.A., 2015. Improving knowledge exchange among scientists and decision-makers to facilitate the adaptive governance of marine resources: a

review of knowledge and research needs. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 112, pp. 25–35.

CZAJA, R. and BLAIR, J., 2005. *Designing surveys: A guide to decisions and procedures*. vol. 9. Pine Forge Press.

DANIEL, L. and GLENN, M., 2008. An Introduction to Mathematical Modelling, Bioinformatics and Statistics, Scotland.

DECISION, O., 1998. 98/3 on the Disposal of Disused Offshore Installations. In: Ministerial Meeting of the OSPAR Commission, OSPAR Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic, London, UK.

DECOM NORTH SEA, 2014. *Decommissioning in the North Sea. Review of Decommissioning Capacity*. London.

DEHE, B. and BAMFORD, D., 2015. Development, test and comparison of two Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis (MCDA) models: A case of healthcare infrastructure location. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 42(19), pp. 6717–6727.

DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS ENERGY AND INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY (BEIS), 2018. Guidance notes — Decommissioning of Offshore Oil and Gas Installations and Pipelines.

DHARUMARAJAN, S., HEGDE, R. and SINGH, S.K., 2017. Spatial prediction of major soil properties using Random Forest techniques-A case study in semi-arid tropics of South India. *Geoderma Regional*, 10, pp. 154–162.

DOAN, T. and KALITA, J., 2015. Selecting machine learning algorithms using regression models. In: *2015 IEEE International Conference on Data Mining Workshop (ICDMW)*. IEEE. pp. 1498–1505.

DODGSON, J.S., SPACKMAN, M., PEARMAN, A. and PHILLIPS, L.D., 2009. Multicriteria analysis: a manual.

DOWDING, K.J. and RUTHERFORD, B.M., 2003. *An approach to model validation and model-based prediction--polyurethane foam case study.* Sandia National Laboratories (SNL), Albuquerque, NM, and Livermore, CA

DUKE, J.M. and AULL-HYDE, R., 2002. Identifying public preferences for land preservation using the analytic hierarchy process. *Ecological Economics*, 42(1–2), pp. 131–145.

EDELMAN INTELLIGENCE, 2019. Edelman Trust Barometer global report. *Retrieved November*, 2(2021), pp. 2012–2019.

EKE, E., IYALLA, I., ANDRAWUS, J. and PRABHU, R., 2020. Optimising Offshore Structures Decommissioning-A Multicriteria Decision Approach. In: *SPE Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition*. OnePetro.

EKE, E., IYALLA, I., ANDRAWUS, J. and PRABHU, R., 2021. Optimisation of Offshore Structures Decommissioning–Cost Considerations. In: *SPE Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition*. OnePetro.

EKE, E., IYALLA, I., ANDRAWUS, J. and PRABHU, R., 2022. Investigating Decommissioning Options Selection: A Survey-Driven Approach. In: *Structures in the Marine Environment 2022, Edinburgh*.

EKINS, P., VANNER, R. and FIREBRACE, J., 2006. Decommissioning of offshore oil and gas facilities: A comparative assessment of different scenarios. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 79(4), pp. 420–438.

VAN ELDEN, S., MEEUWIG, J.J., HOBBS, R.J. and HEMMI, J.M., 2019. Offshore oil and gas platforms as novel ecosystems: A global perspective. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6, p. 548.

ENRIGHT, S.R. and BOTELER, B., 2020. The ecosystem approach in international marine environmental law and governance. In: *Ecosystem-Based Management, Ecosystem Services and Aquatic Biodiversity*. Springer, Cham. pp. 333–352.

ENYINDA, C.I., BLANKSON, C., CAO, G. and ENYINDA, I.E., 2022. Why cannot we all just get along? Resolving customer-focused team interface conflicts in a B2B firm leveraging AHP-based multi-criteria decision-making. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, (ahead-of-print).

ERTUĞRUL, İ. and KARAKAŞOĞLU, N., 2008. Comparison of fuzzy AHP and fuzzy TOPSIS methods for facility location selection. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, 39(7), pp. 783–795.

FAM, M.L., KONOVESSIS, D., ONG, L.S. and TAN, H.K., 2018. A review of offshore decommissioning regulations in five countries–Strengths and weaknesses. *Ocean Engineering*, 160, pp. 244–263.

FERRIS, J. and TJEA, J., 2015. Using Comparative Assessment Methods to Determine Preferred Options in Pipeline and Jacket Decommissioning. In: *Indo*

Decomm 2015 - The 2nd Indonesia Decommissioning, Abandonment and Site Restoration Conference. 13-14 August 2015. Bandung, Indonesia: BMT.

FOWLER, A.M., MACREADIE, P.I., JONES, D.O.B. and BOOTH, D.J. 2014. A multicriteria decision approach to decommissioning of offshore oil and gas infrastructure. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 87, pp. 20–29.

FOWLER, A.M., JØRGENSEN, A.M., SVENDSEN, J.C., MACREADIE, P.I., JONES, D.O., BOON, A.R., BOOTH, D.J., BRABANT, R., CALLAHAN, E., CLAISSE, J.T. and DAHLGREN, T.G., 2018. Environmental benefits of leaving offshore infrastructure in the ocean. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 16(10), pp. 571–578.

FOWLER, A.M., JØRGENSEN, A.M., COOLEN, J.W., JONES, D.O., SVENDSEN, J.C., BRABANT, R., RUMES, B. and DEGRAER, S., 2020. The ecology of infrastructure decommissioning in the North Sea: what we need to know and how to achieve it. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 77(3), pp. 1109–1126.

FRANEK, J. and KRESTA, A., 2014. Judgment scales and consistency measure in AHP. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 12, pp. 164–173.

FRIEDMAN, J., HASTIE, T. and TIBSHIRANI, R., 2010. Regularization paths for generalized linear models via coordinate descent. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 33(1), p. 1.

GASS, S.I., 1983a. Decision-aiding models: validation, assessment, and related issues for policy analysis. *Operations Research*, 31(4), pp. 603–631.

GASS, S.I., 1983b. Decision-aiding models: validation, assessment, and related issues for policy analysis. *Operations Research*, 31(4), pp. 603–631.

GENESIS AND CATALYZE, 2015. *Comparative Assessment in Decommissioning Programmes: Worked Example.* London.

GERRING, J., 2017. *Case study research: Principles and practices*. Second Edition. Cambridge University Press.

GNEITING, T., 2011. Making and evaluating point forecasts. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 106(494), pp. 746–762.

GOURVENEC, S., 2018. Shaping the offshore decommissioning agenda and nextgeneration design of offshore infrastructure. *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers-Smart Infrastructure and Construction*, 171(2), pp. 54–66. GOVINDAN, K. and JEPSEN, M.B., 2016. ELECTRE: A comprehensive literature review on methodologies and applications. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 250(1), pp. 1–29.

GOV.UK, 2022. *Oil and gas: decommissioning of offshore installations and pipelines.* Available from: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/oil-and-gas-decommissioning-of-offshore-installations-and-

pipelines?utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications-

topic&utm_source=806be8cc-765b-406b-8f95-

baeb11b2c0ac&utm_content=daily#overview.

GUEVARA, M.J., 1998. A Decommissioning Alternative for Offshore Structures in Venezuela: Artificial Reefs. In: *SPE International Conference on Health, Safety, and Environment in Oil and Gas Exploration and Production*. OnePetro.

GULDI, J. and ARMITAGE, D., 2014. *The history manifesto*. Cambridge University Press.

HAAG, F., AUBERT, A.H. and LIENERT, J., 2022. ValueDecisions, a web app to support decisions with conflicting objectives, multiple stakeholders, and uncertainty. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 150, p. 105361.

HALL, R., JOÃO, E. and KNAPP, C.W., 2020. Environmental impacts of decommissioning: Onshore versus offshore wind farms. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 83, p. 106404.

HAMURCU, M. and EREN, T., 2019. An application of multicriteria decision-making for the evaluation of alternative monorail routes. *Mathematics*, 7(1), p. 16.

HANCOCK, D.R. and ALGOZZINE, B., 2021. Doing case study research: A practical guide for beginning researchers.

HARLACHER, J., 2016. An Educator's Guide to Questionnaire Development. REL 2016-108. *Regional Educational Laboratory Central*.

HARRELL, F.E., 2015. Multivariable Modeling Strategies. In: Jr. HARRELL FRANK E., ed. *Regression Modeling Strategies: With Applications to Linear Models, Logistic and Ordinal Regression, and Survival Analysis*. Cham: Springer International Publishing. pp. 63–102. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-19425-7_4.

HARRELL, F.E., 2017. Regression modeling strategies. Bios, 330(2018), p. 14.

HASTIE, T., TIBSHIRANI, R., FRIEDMAN, J.H. and FRIEDMAN, J.H., 2017. *The elements of statistical learning: data mining, inference, and prediction*. Second Edition. Edited by (corrected 12th printing Jan 2017). Springer.

HEALTH AND SAFETY EXECUTIVE (HSE) UK, 2013. *Guidance on Risk Assessment for Offshore Installations.* London.

HEERY, E.C., BISHOP, M.J., CRITCHLEY, L.P., BUGNOT, A.B., AIROLDI, L., MAYER-PINTO, M., SHEEHAN, E.V., COLEMAN, R.A., LOKE, L.H., JOHNSTON, E.L. and KOMYAKOVA, V., 2017. Identifying the consequences of ocean sprawl for sedimentary habitats. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 492, pp. 31–48.

HENRION, M., BERNSTEIN, B. and SWAMY, S., 2015. A multi-attribute decision analysis for decommissioning offshore oil and gas platforms. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, 11(4), pp. 594–609.

HERATH, G., 2004. Incorporating community objectives in improved wetland management: the use of the analytic hierarchy process. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 70(3), pp. 263–273.

HO, W. and MA, X., 2018. The state-of-the-art integrations and applications of the analytic hierarchy process. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 267(2), pp. 399–414.

HOSSAIN, M.F., ADNAN, Z.H. and HASIN, M.A.A., 2014. Improvement in weighting assignment process in Analytic Hierarchy Process by introducing suggestion matrix and Likert scale. *International Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 3(4), pp. 91–95.

INTERAGENCY DECOMMISSIONING WORKING GROUP (IDWG), 2019. A Citizen's Guide to Offshore Oil and Gas Decommissioning in Federal Waters Off California.

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF OIL AND GAS PRODUCERS (IOGP), 2017. Overview of International Offshore Decommissioning Regulations. Volume 1 -Facilities. London.

INVERNIZZI, D.C., LOCATELLI, G., LOVE, P.E.D. and BROOKES, N.J., 2018. Decommissioning Projects in Europe: What Can the Offshore Oil & Gas and Nuclear Industries Learn from Each Other? *2018 IRNOP–A Skilled Hand and a Cultivated Mind*, p. 16.

207

INVERNIZZI, D.C., LOCATELLI, G., VELENTURF, A., LOVE, P.E., PURNELL, P. and BROOKES, N.J., 2020. Developing policies for the end-of-life of energy infrastructure: Coming to terms with the challenges of decommissioning. *Energy Policy*, 144, p. 111677.

ISAKOVA, O., 2019. *Application of machine learning algorithms for classification and regression problems for mobile game monetization*. Masters Thesis, Hochschule Mittweida, University of Applied Sciences.

ISHIZAKA, A., 2019. Analytic hierarchy process and its extensions. In: *New Perspectives in Multiple Criteria Decision Making*. Springer. pp. 81–93.

ISLAM, R. and SAATY, T.L., 2010. The analytic hierarchy process in the transportation sector. In: *Multiple Criteria Decision Making for Sustainable Energy and Transportation Systems*. Springer. pp. 79–91.

JANSSEN, R., GOOSEN, H., VERHOEVEN, M.L., VERHOEVEN, J.T., OMTZIGT, A.Q.A. and MALTBY, E., 2005. Decision support for integrated wetland management. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 20(2), pp. 215–229.

JEE, 2014. North West Hutton Decommissioning Programmme: Close-Out Report. Aberdeen.

JOLLIFFE, I.T. and CADIMA, J., 2016. Principal component analysis: a review and recent developments. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 374(2065), p. 20150202.

JØRGENSEN, D., 2012. OSPAR's exclusion of rigs-to-reefs in the North Sea. *Ocean* & *Coastal Management*, 58, pp. 57–61.

JOSHI, A., KALE, S., CHANDEL, S. and PAL, D.K., 2015. Likert scale: Explored and explained. *British Journal of Applied Science & Technology*, 7(4), p. 396.

KAISER, M.J., 2022. Offshore oil and gas records circa 2020. *Ships and Offshore Structures*, 17(1), pp. 205–241.

KAISER, M.J. and LIU, M., 2014. Decommissioning cost estimation in the deepwater US Gulf of Mexico–Fixed platforms and compliant towers. *Marine Structures*, 37, pp. 1–32.

KAISER, M.J. and NARRA, S., 2018. A hybrid scenario-based decommissioning forecast for the shallow water US Gulf of Mexico, 2018–2038. *Energy*, 163, pp. 1150–1177.

KAISER, M.J., PULSIPHER, A.G. and BYRD, R.C., 2003. Decommissioning cost functions in the Gulf of Mexico. *Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal, and Ocean Engineering*, 129(6), pp. 286–296.

KANMKAMNERD, J., PHANICHTRAIPHOP, P. and PORNSAKULSAKDI, L., 2016. NEBA application for jacket decommissioning techniques. In: *International Petroleum Technology Conference*. OnePetro.

KEENEY, R.L., 1968. Evaluating multidimensional situations using a quasiseparable utility function. *IEEE Transactions on Man-Machine Systems*, 9(2), pp. 25–28.

KENNEDY, R.C., XIANG, X., MADEY, G.R. and COSIMANO, T.F., 2005. Verification and validation of scientific and economic models. In: *Proc. Agent*. Citeseer. pp. 177–192.

KERR, L.A. and GOETHEL, D.R., 2014. Simulation modeling as a tool for synthesis of stock identification information. In: *Stock Identification Methods*. Elsevier. pp. 501–533.

KHAN, M.R., SADEED, A., KALAM, S., ABU-KHAMSIN, S., ABDULRAHEEM, A., KHAN, R.A. and ABBASI, A., 2022. Integration of Formation and Drilling Parameters to Generate a Deterministic ROP Model. In: *Offshore Technology Conference*. OnePetro.

KIM, S.-K. and SONG, O., 2009. A MAUT approach for selecting a dismantling scenario for the thermal column in KRR-1. *Annals of Nuclear Energy*, 36(2), pp. 145–150.

KLABBERS, J., 2017. The redundancy of soft law. In: *Sources of International Law*. Routledge. pp. 189–204.

KULOVIC, N., 2021. U.S. makes the first step towards decommissioning of oil & gas assets off California. Offshore Energy.

KUMAR, A., SAH, B., SINGH, A.R., DENG, Y., HE, X., KUMAR, P. and BANSAL, R.C., 2017. A review of multi criteria decision making (MCDM) towards sustainable

renewable energy development. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 69, pp. 596–609.

KUMAR, S., SIDEK, M.A., AGI, A., JUNIN, R., JAAFAR, M.Z., GBADAMOSI, A., GBONHINBOR, J., OSEH, J. and YAKASAI, F., 2021. Decommissioning of Offshore Oil and Gas Facilities: A Comparative Study Between Malaysia Practices and International Standards. In: *SPE Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition*. OnePetro.

KUMAR, S., SIDEK, M.A., AGI, A., JUNIN, R., JAAFAR, M.Z., GBADAMOSI, A., GBONHINBOR, J., OSEH, J. and YAKASAI, F., 2013. Decision and simulation modeling in systematic reviews.

LAKHAL, S.Y., KHAN, M.I. and ISLAM, M.R., 2009. An "Olympic" framework for a green decommissioning of an offshore oil platform. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 52(2), pp. 113–123.

LAU, C., 2018. Exploring Understandings of Different Decommissioning Options for Offshore Oil and Gas Structures in the South Taranaki Bight of New Zealand.

LAWRENCE, J.M. and FERNANDES, P.G., 2022. A typology of North Sea oil and gas platforms. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), pp. 1–7.

LEGENDRE, A.M., 1805. New methods for the determination of orbits of comets. *Courcier, Paris*.

LITTLE, M.A., VAROQUAUX, G., SAEB, S., LONINI, L., JAYARAMAN, A., MOHR, D.C. and KORDING, K.P., 2017. Using and understanding cross-validation strategies. Perspectives on Saeb et al. *GigaScience*, 6(5), pp. 1–6.

LIU, L., LIU, J., ZHOU, Q. and HUANG, D., 2022. Machine learning algorithm selection for windage alteration fault diagnosis of mine ventilation system. *Advanced Engineering Informatics*, 53, p. 101666.

LIVING NORTH SEA INITIATIVE (LINSI), 2015. The cost of decommissioning jackets in the North Sea. An assessment of alternative approaches and the estimated potential cost savings. Amsterdam.

LUSSEAU, D., PATERSON, J. and NEILSON, R., 2016. Is it really best for the environment to remove all traces of oil and gas production in the North Sea?

MACREADIE, P.I., FOWLER, A.M. and BOOTH, D.J., 2011. Rigs-to-reefs: will the deep sea benefit from artificial habitat? *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 9(8), pp. 455–461.

MAHMOUD, H.F.F., 2019. Parametric versus semi and nonparametric regression models. *ArXiv Preprint ArXiv:1906.10221*.

MANJUNATHA, C.M., SATHISH, K. and SAHANA, T., 2016. COMPARATIVE STUDY AND DESIGN OF FIXED OFFSHORE DECK STRUCTURE BY IS-800-2007AND AISC 360-10.

MARDANI, A., ZAVADSKAS, E.K., KHALIFAH, Z., ZAKUAN, N., JUSOH, A., NOR, K.M. and KHOSHNOUDI, M., 2017. A review of multi-criteria decision-making applications to solve energy management problems: Two decades from 1995 to 2015. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 71, pp. 216–256.

MARTINS, I.D., MORAES, F.F., TÁVORA, G., SOARES, H.L.F., INFANTE, C.E., ARRUDA, E.F., BAHIENSE, L., CAPRACE, J. and LOURENÇO, M.I., 2020. A review of the multicriteria decision analysis applied to oil and gas decommissioning problems. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 184, p. 105000.

MAXWELL, A.E., 1975. Limitations on the use of the multiple linear regression model. *British Journal of Mathematical and Statistical Psychology*, 28(1), pp. 51–62.

MCCANN, B., HENRION, M. and BERNSTEIN, B., 2016. A decision support model for platform decommissioning: Successful applications in California and implications for worldwide use. In: *SPE International Conference and Exhibition on Health, Safety, Security, Environment, and Social Responsibility*. OnePetro.

MCCANN, B.M., HENRION, M., BERNSTEIN, B. and HADDAD, R.I., 2017. Decision Support Models to Integrate Market and Non-Market Value Attributes for Platform Decommissioning: An Effective Approach for Resolving Challenges at the Nexus of Science and Regulatory Policymaking. In: *The 27th International Ocean and Polar Engineering Conference*. OnePetro.

MCGINNIS, M.V., 2001. *The Politics, Economics, and Ecology of Decommissioning Offshore Oil and Gas Structures: Final Technical Summary; Final Technical Report.* Minerals Management Service, Pacific OCS Region. MERROUNI, A.A., ELALAOUI, F.E., MEZRHAB, A., MEZRHAB, A. and GHENNIOUI, A., 2018. Large scale PV sites selection by combining GIS and Analytical Hierarchy Process. Case study: Eastern Morocco. *Renewable Energy*, 119, pp. 863–873.

MEYER-GUTBROD, E.L., LOVE, M.S., SCHROEDER, D.M., CLAISSE, J.T., KUI, L. and MILLER, R.J., 2020. Forecasting the legacy of offshore oil and gas platforms on fish community structure and productivity. *Ecological Applications*, 30(8), p. e02185.

MOISIL, I., 2010. Validation and uncertainty in analysis decision support. *Environmental Systems-Volume III*, p. 78.

MONDAL, H., MONDAL, S., GHOSAL, T. and MONDAL, S., 2018. Using Google forms for medical survey: A technical note. *Int J Clin Exp Physiol*, 5(4), pp. 216–218.

MONTGOMERY, D.C., PECK, E.A. and VINING, G.G., 2021. *Introduction to linear regression analysis*. John Wiley & Sons.

MOSLEM, S., 2020. Analyzing public involvement in urban transport decision making by MCDM methodology.

MOSTELLER, F. and TUKEY, J.W., 1968. Data analysis, including statistics in G. Lindzey and E. Aronson, eds,. In: *G. Lindzey and E. Aronson, Eds, 'Handbook of Social Psychology''*. Addison–Wesley.

MOUNT, P.B. and VOSKANIAN, M.M., 2005. Offshore California Facility Decommissioning: Past, Present, Future. In: *SPE/EPA/DOE Exploration and Production Environmental Conference*. OnePetro.

MRS ENVIRONMENTAL INC, 2019. Air emissions associated with decommissioning operations for Pacific Outer Continental Shelf oil and gas platforms.

MU, E. and PEREYRA-ROJAS, M., 2018. Practical decision making using Super Decisions v3.

MURRAY, F., NEEDHAM, K., GORMLEY, K., ROUSE, S., COOLEN, J.W., BILLETT, D., DANNHEIM, J., BIRCHENOUGH, S.N., HYDER, K., HEARD, R. and FERRIS, J.S., 2018. Data challenges and opportunities for environmental management of North Sea oil and gas decommissioning in an era of blue growth. *Marine Policy*, 97, pp. 130–138.

MYERS, M.D., 2019. Qualitative research in business and management. Sage.

NA, K.L., LEE, H.E., LIEW, M.S. and ZAWAWI, N.W.A., 2017. An expert knowledge based decommissioning alternative selection system for fixed oil and gas assets in the South China Sea. *Ocean Engineering*, 130, pp. 645–658.

NATIONAL AUDIT OFFICE (NAO), 2019. *Oil and gas in the UK – offshore decommissioning*. London.

NICOLETTE, J., TRAVERS, M. and PRICE, D., 2014. Utilizing a Net Environmental Benefit Analysis Approach to Support the Selection of Offshore Decommissioning Alternatives.[PowerPoint presentation]. In: *Proceedings of the 21st International Petroleum Environmental Conference, (Houston, TX)*.

NISHANTH, R., JOHN, K.V. and WHYTE, A., 2016. Dynamic behaviour of FPSO in Kikeh field under different loading conditions. *Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences*, 11(4), pp. 2302–2307.

NIXON, B., 2019. *The challenges of offshore decommissioning.* Available from Oil and Gas Middle East: https://www.oilandgasmiddleeast.com/article-12286-the-challenges-of-offshoredecommissioning. [Accessed 4 July 2022].

NNAJI, C.C. and BANIGO, A., 2018. Multi-criteria evaluation of sources for selfhelp domestic water supply. *Applied Water Science*, 8(1), pp. 1–13.

NORDQUIST, M., 2011. United Nations Convention on the law of the sea 1982, Volume VII: a commentary. Brill.

VAN NUFFEL, L., Cihlarova, P., Forestier, O., Bolscher, H., Howes, C., Morgan, J., Nesse, S., Purcell, M., Beks., R. and Frandsen, J.L., 2022. *Study on Decommissioning of offshore oil and gas installations: a technical, legal and political analysis*. Luxembourg.

OBERKAMPF, W.L. and TRUCANO, T.G., 2008. Verification and validation benchmarks. *Nuclear Engineering and Design*, 238(3), pp. 716–743.

O'CONNOR, P.E., CORR, B.R., PALMER, S. and BYRD, R.C., 2004. Comparative assessment of decommissioning applications of typical north sea and gulf of mexico approaches to several categories of offshore platforms in the middle east. In: *The Fourteenth International Offshore and Polar Engineering Conference*. OnePetro.

213

OFFSHORE ENGINEER, 2016. *IHS: Decom spend to hit \$13 billion/yr by 2040.* Houston, TX. Available from: http://www.oedigital.com/pipelines/item/14055-y [Accessed 04 July 2022].

OFFSHORE PETROLEUM REGULATOR FOR ENVIRONMENT AND DECOMMISSIONING (OPRED), 2019. The Offshore Petroleum Production and Pipelines (Assessment of Environmental Effects) Regulations 1999 (as amended) – A Guide. Revision 5. London: Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy. London.

OHANYERE, I.J. and ABILI, N., 2015. Reassessment of Subsea processing Technology to Maximize Recovery on Offshore Marginal Field Developments. In: *Offshore Technology Conference*. OnePetro.

OIL AND GAS AUTHORITY (OGA), 2021. UKCS Decommissioning Cost Estimate 2021 Report. London.

OIL AND GAS UK (OGUK), 2015. *Guidelines for Comparative Assessment in Decommissioning Programmes.* London.

OIL AND GAS UK (OGUK), 2017. *Decommissioning of Steel Piled Jackets in the North Sea Region*. London.

OIL AND GAS UK (OGUK), 2018. Decommissioning insight 2018. London.

OIL AND GAS UK (OGUK), 2022. Decommissioning Insight 2021. London.

OLEWNIK, A.T. and LEWIS, K., 2005. On validating engineering design decision support tools. *Concurrent Engineering*, 13(2), pp. 111–122.

OSPAR COMMISSION, 2019. OSPAR Inventory of Offshore Installations - 2019. London, UK: OSPAR Commission.

OWEN, P. and RICE, T., 1999. *Decommissioning the Brent Spar*. CRC Press.

OZDEMIR, S. and SAHIN, G., 2018. Multi-criteria decision-making in the location selection for a solar PV power plant using AHP. *Measurement*, 129, pp. 218–226.

PALANDRO, D. and AZIZ, A., 2018. Overview of Decommissioning Option Assessment: A Case for Comparative Assessment. In: *SPE Symposium: Decommissioning and Abandonment*. OnePetro.

PEDREGOSA, F., VAROQUAUX, G., GRAMFORT, A., MICHEL, V., THIRION, B., GRISEL, O., BLONDEL, M., PRETTENHOFER, P., WEISS, R., DUBOURG, V. and

VANDERPLAS, J., 2011. Scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python. *The Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 12, pp. 2825–2830.

PONTO, J., 2015. Understanding and evaluating survey research. *Journal of the Advanced Practitioner in Oncology*, 6(2), p. 168.

PROSERV OFFSHORE, 2009. Review of the State of the Art for Removal of GoM US OCS Oil & Gas Facilities in Greater than 400Water Depth. US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service, Houston, Texas.

RACHAIN, J., 2017. Summary of Comparison between Piled Offshore Platform Structures VS Concrete Gravity Structures. *Available from DrillingFormulas. Com: Http://Www. Drillingformulas. Com/Summaryof-Comparison-between-Piled-Offshore-Platform-Structures-vs-Concrete-Gravity-Structures/[Accessed 04 July* 2022].

RAHMAN, M.M. and SZABÓ, G., 2021. A Geospatial Approach to Measure Social Benefits in Urban Land Use Optimization Problem. *Land*, 10(12), p. 1398.

RASCHKA, S. and MIRJALILI, V., 2019. *Python machine learning: Machine learning and deep learning with Python, scikit-learn, and TensorFlow 2*. Packt Publishing Ltd.

RAY, S., 2019. A quick review of machine learning algorithms. In: 2019 International Conference on Machine Learning, Big Data, Cloud and Parallel Computing (COMITCon). IEEE. pp. 35–39.

REDPATH, S.M., ARROYO, B.E., LECKIE, F.M., BACON, P., BAYFIELD, N., GUTIERREZ, R.J. and THIRGOOD, S.J., 2004. Using decision modeling with stakeholders to reduce human–wildlife conflict: a raptor–grouse case study. *Conservation Biology*, 18(2), pp. 350–359.

REPSOL, 2017. Rev UKCS Decommissioning Project. Rev UKCS Comparative Assessment Report. Document Number: REV01-27338-Z-RA-0002.

REPSOL, 2020. Auk, Fulmar and Auk North Subsea and Pipelines Infrastructure Comparative Assessment Report.

RESNIK, D.B., 2015. *What is ethics in research & why is it important*. vol. 1. December.

RIDDER, H.G., 2017. The theory contribution of case study research designs. *Business Research*, 10(2), pp. 281–305.

ROBERTS, C. and HYATT, L., 2019. *The Dissertation Journey: A Practical and Comprehensive Guide to Planning, Writing, and Defending Your Dissertation*. Third Edition. Corwin Press.

SAATY, T.L. and VARGAS, L.G., 2012. Models, methods, concepts & applications of the analytic hierarchy process (Vol. 175): Springer Science & Business Media.

SAATY, T.L., 1977. A scaling method for priorities in hierarchical structures. *Journal of Mathematical Psychology*, 15(3), pp. 234–281.

SAATY, T.L. and PENIWATI, K., 2013. *Group decision making: drawing out and reconciling differences*. RWS Publications.

SAEED, A., 2016. *Identify and handle safety challenges during decommissioning of offshore installations*. Master's Thesis, Submitted June 2016., The University of Stavanger.

SALEM, O., SALMAN, B. and GHORAI, S., 2018. Accelerating construction of roadway bridges using alternative techniques and procurement methods. *Transport*, 33(2), pp. 567–579.

SALVADOR, J., 2017. Example-Based super resolution. Academic Press.

SARHAN, O. and RASLAN, M., 2021. Offshore petroleum rigs/platforms: An overview of analysis, design, construction and installation. *International Journal of Advanced Engineering, Sciences and Applications*, 2(1), pp. 7–12.

SAUNDERS, M., LEWIS, P. and THORNHILL, A., 2020. *Research methods for business students*. Eight Edition. Pearson Education.

SCHMID, L., GERHARZ, A., GROLL, A. and PAULY, M., 2022. Machine Learning for Multi-Output Regression: When should a holistic multivariate approach be preferred over separate univariate ones? *ArXiv Preprint ArXiv:2201.05340*.

SCHROEDER, D.M. and LOVE, M.S., 2004. Ecological and political issues surrounding decommissioning of offshore oil facilities in the Southern California Bight. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 47(1–2), pp. 21–48.

SCOTTISH ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION AGENCY (SEPA), 2018. SEPA Guidance. Regulation of Offshore Oil and Gas Waste. Version 1. WST-G-059. Available online: https://www.sepa.org.uk/media/369293/wst-g-059-offshore-og-guidance.pdf (Accessed 7, July 2022].

SEA, D.N. and ENTERPRISE, S., 2014. Decommissioning in the North Sea. *Review* of *Decommissioning Capacity*.

SHAMOO, A.E. and RESNIK, D.B., 2022. *Responsible conduct of research*. Fourth Edition. Oxford University Press.

SHAPIRA, A. and GOLDENBERG, M., 2005. AHP-based equipment selection model for construction projects. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 131(12), pp. 1263–1273.

SHARMA, J., 2018. Economics of decision making: exploring analytical hierarchical process (AHP). *Theoretical Economics Letters*, 8(14), p. 3141.

SHAW, D., 1999. *Deconstruction and Disposal of Offshore Platform Topsides.* Engineering doctorate Thesis, The University of Manchester Institute of Science and Technology.

SHAW, J., SEARES, P. and NEWMAN, S.J., 2018. *Decommissioning Offshore Infrastructure: A Review of Stakeholder Views and Science Priorities*. Western Australian Marine Science Institution.

SHELL U.K. LIMITED, 2017. BRENT ALPHA JACKET DECOMMISSIONING: TECHNICAL DOCUMENT. Shell Report Number BDE-A-JKT-BA-5801-00001. Available online: https://www.shell.co.uk/sustainability/decommissioning/brentfield-decommissioning/brent-field-decommissioning-

programme/_jcr_content/par/.

SIGSGAARD, K.V., AGERGAARD, J.K., BERTRAM, C.A., MORTENSEN, N.H., SOLEYMANI, I., KHALID, W., HANSEN, K.B. and MUELLER, G.O., 2020. Structuring and contextualizing historical data for decision making in early development. In: *Proceedings of the Design Society: DESIGN Conference*. Cambridge University Press. pp. 393–402.

SINCLAIR, M., O'TOOLE, J., MALAWARAARACHCHI, M. and LEDER, K., 2012. Comparison of response rates and cost-effectiveness for a community-based survey: postal, internet and telephone modes with generic or personalised recruitment approaches. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 12(1), pp. 1–8.

217

SIRAJ, S., LEONELLI, R.C., KEANE, J.A. and MIKHAILOV, L., 2013. Priest: a tool to estimate priorities from inconsistent judgments. In: *2013 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics*. IEEE. pp. 44–49.

SMITH, A., PARRINO, L., VRBOS, D., NICOLINI, G., BUCCHI, M., CARR, M., CHEN, J., DENDLER, L., KRISHNASWAMY, K., LECCHINI, D. and LÖFSTEDT, R., 2019. Communicating to and engaging with the public in regulatory science. *Efsa Journal*, 17, p. e170717.

SMITH, E.D., SZIDAROVSZKY, F., KARNAVAS, W.J. and BAHILL, A.T., 2008. Sensitivity analysis, a powerful system validation technique. *The Open Cybernetics* & *Systemics Journal*, 2(1).

SMOLA, A.J. and SCHÖLKOPF, B., 2004. A tutorial on support vector regression. *Statistics and Computing*, 14(3), pp. 199–222.

SOMMER, B., FOWLER, A.M., MACREADIE, P.I., PALANDRO, D.A., AZIZ, A.C. and BOOTH, D.J., 2019. Decommissioning of offshore oil and gas structures– Environmental opportunities and challenges. *Science of the Total Environment*, 658, pp. 973–981.

SONG, B. and KANG, S., 2016. A Method of Assigning Weights Using a Ranking and Nonhierarchy Comparison. *Advances in Decision Sciences*.

SRIRAM, S., RAMACHANDRAN, M., CHINNASAMY, S. and MATHIVANAN, G., 2022. A Review on Multi-Criteria Decision-Making and Its Application. *REST Journal on Emerging Trends in Modelling and Manufacturing*, 7(4), pp. 101–107.

STAKE, R.E., 1995. The art of case study research. Sage.

STATISTA, 2018. Number of offshore rigs worldwide as of January 2018 by region.

STEELE, K., CARMEL, Y., CROSS, J. and WILCOX, C., 2009. Uses and misuses of multicriteria decision analysis (MCDA) in environmental decision making. *Risk Analysis: An International Journal*, 29(1), pp. 26–33.

STOJČIĆ, M., ZAVADSKAS, E.K., PAMUČAR, D., STEVIĆ, Ž. and MARDANI, A., 2019. Application of MCDM methods in sustainability engineering: A literature review 2008–2018. *Symmetry*, 11(3), p. 350.

STONE, M., 1978. Cross-validation: A review. *Statistics: A Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 9(1), pp. 127–139.

STRUKTS, 2012. *Types of Offshore Platforms*. Available at: https://www.strukts.com/2012/05/types-of-offshore-platforms_70.html. [Accessed 4 July 2022].

TAI, Y., 2021. A Survey Of Regression Algorithms And Connections With Deep Learning. *ArXiv Preprint ArXiv:2104.12647*.

TAN, Y., LI, H.X., CHENG, J.C., WANG, J., JIANG, B., SONG, Y. and WANG, X., 2021. Cost and environmental impact estimation methodology and potential impact factors in offshore oil and gas platform decommissioning: A review. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 87, p. 106536.

TOWERS, D.A., EDWARDS, D. and HAMSON, M., 2020. *Guide to mathematical modelling*. Bloomsbury Publishing.

TREVISANUT, S., 2020. Decommissioning of offshore installations: a fragmented and ineffective international regulatory framework. In: *The Law of the Seabed*. Brill Nijhoff. pp. 431–453.

TRUCHON, S.P., BRZUZY, L.P., FAWCETT, D. and FONSECA, M., 2015. Innovative assessments for selecting offshore-platform-decommissioning alternatives. *Oil and Gas Facilities*, 4(05), pp. 47–55.

TSB OFFSHORE, 2016a. Decommissioning Methodology and Cost Evaluation. US Department of the Interior Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement, Virginia.

TSB OFFSHORE, 2016b. Decommissioning cost update for Pacific Outer Continental Shelf region facilities. Volumes 1 and 2. Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement contract E14P X00014.

TSIMPLIS, M., DBOUK, W. and WEAVER, J.L., 2019. Regulating the safety of offshore oil and gas operations. In: *Managing the Risk of Offshore Oil and Gas Accidents*. Edward Elgar Publishing. pp. 18–103.

TUNG, A., 2020. A comparison of stakeholder engagement strategies for offshore decommissioning projects in the United Kingdom and Australian landscape. In: *Offshore Technology Conference*. OnePetro.

TUNG, A. and OTTO, C., 2019. Lessons Learnt from Ospar and the North Sea: The Importance of Establishing a Regional Decommissioning Agreement in the South

China Sea Region. In: *SPE Symposium: Decommissioning and Abandonment*. OnePetro.

TWACHTMAN SNYDER & BYRD INCORPORATED, 2000. STATE OF THE ART OF REMOVING LARGE PLATFORMS LOCATED IN DEEP WATER.

TWACHTMAN SNYDER AND BYRD INCORPORATED (TSB), 2000. State of The Art of Removing Large Platforms Located in Deep Water – Final report, presented to United States Minerals Management Service.

UYANIK, G.K. and GÜLER, N., 2013. A study on multiple linear regression analysis. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 106, pp. 234–240.

VASANTHA RAJU, N. and HARINARAYANA, N.S., 2016. Online survey tools: A case study of Google Forms. In: *National Conference on Scientific, Computational & Information Research Trends in Engineering, GSSS-IETW, Mysore*.

VELASCO-GALLEGO, C. and LAZAKIS, I., 2020. Real-time data-driven missing data imputation for short-term sensor data of marine systems. A comparative study. *Ocean Engineering*, 218, p. 108261.

VELASQUEZ, M. and HESTER, P.T., 2013. An analysis of multi-criteria decisionmaking methods. *International Journal of Operations Research*, 10(2), pp. 56–66.

VIDAL, P.D.C.J., GONZÁLEZ, M.O.A., DE MELO, D.C., DE OLIVEIRA FERREIRA, P., SAMPAIO, P.G.V. and LIMA, L.O., 2022. Conceptual framework for the decommissioning process of offshore oil and gas platforms. *Marine Structures*, 85, p. 103262.

VOIGT, P. and VON DEM BUSSCHE, A., 2017. The eu general data protection regulation (gdpr). *A Practical Guide, 1st Ed., Cham: Springer International Publishing*, 10(3152676), pp. 10–5555.

VRÅLSTAD, T., SAASEN, A., FJÆR, E., ØIA, T., YTREHUS, J.D. and KHALIFEH, M., 2019. Plug & abandonment of offshore wells: Ensuring long-term well integrity and cost-efficiency. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 173, pp. 478–491.

WAN, Z., YONGLING, Z. and JUNJIE, C., 2016. Application of the Analytic Hierarchy Process to Quantitative Evaluation of Nuclear Reactors Decommissioning. In: *International Conference on Nuclear Engineering*. American Society of Mechanical Engineers. p. V004T11A011.

WANG, C.N., TSAI, H.T., HO, T.P., NGUYEN, V.T. and HUANG, Y.F., 2020. Multicriteria decision making (MCDM) model for supplier evaluation and selection for oil production projects in Vietnam. *Processes*, 8(2), p. 134.

WILKINSON, W.B., BAKKE, T., CLAUSS, G.F., CLEMENTS, R., DOVER, W.D., RULLKÖTTER, J. and SHEPHERD, J.G., 2016. Decommissioning of large offshore structures–The role of an Independent Review Group (IRG). *Ocean Engineering*, 113, pp. 11–17.

XODUS GROUP, 2017. *Merlin Field Subsea Infrastructure Comparative Assessment. FFL-DUN-MER-HSE-01-RPT-00001*.

XODUS GROUP, 2018. Dunlin Alpha Decommissioning. Comparative Assessment Report. Document Number: P0005-BMT-EN-REP-00001.

XODUS GROUP, 2020. Heimdal to Brae Alpha Condensate Pipeline PL301 - Decommissioning Comparative Assessment. Document Number: A-400300-S00-REPT-005.

XU, D., SHI, Y., TSANG, I.W., ONG, Y.S., GONG, C. and SHEN, X., 2019. Survey on multi-output learning. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems*, 31(7), pp. 2409–2429

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Dataset for Derivation of the Features of the Case Study Platform from Features of Platforms in Pacific Outer Continental Shelf, California

Platform_Na	Age_(Conductors_	Topsides_	Jacket_W	Piles_We	Substructure	Structural_	Water_D	Distance_from_
me	Years)	Weight_(t)	Weight_(t)	eight_(t)	ight_(t)	_Weight_(t)	Weight_(t)	epth_(ft)	Shore_(miles)
A	53	1,439	1,357	1,500	600	2,100	3,457	188	5.8
В	53	1,502	1,357	1,500	600	2,100	3,457	190	5.7
С	44	2,261	1,357	1,500	600	2,100	3,457	192	5.7
Edith	38	518	4,134	3,454	450	3,904	8,038	161	8.5
Ellen	41	2,065	5,300	3,200	1,100	4,300	9,600	265	8.6
Elly	41	0	4,700	3,300	1,400	4,700	9,400	255	8.6
Eureka	37	4,377	8,000	19,000	2,000	21,000	29,000	700	9.0
Gail	34	7,064	7,693	18,300	4,000	22,300	29,993	739	9.9
Gilda	40	3,251	3,792	3,220	1,030	4,250	8,042	205	8.8
Gina	41	374	447	434	125	559	1,006	95	3.7
Grace	42	4,684	3,800	3,090	1,500	4,590	8,390	318	10.5
Habitat	40	2,047	3,514	2,550	1,500	4,050	7,564	290	7.8
Harmony	32	21,424	9,839	42,900	12,350	55,250	65,089	1,198	6.4
Harvest	36	6,110	9,024	16,633	3,383	20,016	29,040	675	6.7
Henry	42	1,174	1,371	1,311	150	1,461	2,832	173	4.3
Heritage	32	12,996	9,826	32,420	13,950	46,370	56,196	1,075	8.2
Hermosa	36	3,538	7,830	17,000	2,500	19,500	27,330	603	6.8
Hidalgo	35	2,334	8,100	10,950	2,000	12,950	21,050	430	5.9
Hillhouse	52	2,734	1,200	1,500	400	1,900	3,100	190	5.5
Hogan	54	1,426	2,259	1,263	150	1,413	3,672	154	3.7
Hondo	45	5,928	8,450	12,200	2,900	15,100	23,550	842	5.1
Houchin	53	1,388	2,591	1,486	150	1,636	4,227	163	4.1
Irene	36	1,662	2,500	3,100	1,500	4,600	7,100	242	4.7

Mean*	42	3926	4,715	8,774	2,363	11,137	15,852	406	7
(Average									
Value)									
Defines the physical features of the theoretical case study platform									

Appendix 2: Questionnaire for Application of the Decommissioning Decision Model to Case Study Platform

Introduction

This survey is part of a doctoral research study aimed at the development of a decision support model for offshore decommissioning options selection. The study is being conducted by Emmanuel Eke at the Robert Gordon University, Aberdeen UK.

You have been selected to take part in this survey because you are deemed to be knowledgeable in the subject matter of offshore decommissioning.

The survey is designed to capture the judgements of decommissioning stakeholders across different offshore regions of the world about the performance of decommissioning options. Additionally, analysis of the results is intended to uncover new insights into the decision-making process of decommissioning options selection for a project.

Your participation in this survey is voluntary, therefore you can decide to discontinue at any stage. If you are happy to take part, kindly answer the questions that follow. Confidentiality is paramount in this study; hence your answers shall be treated as such. There are no ethical concerns with the survey as it does not require any personal information, Nevertheless, such information, if divulged, shall be kept anonymous in any future research-related output.

For further information, kindly contact Emmanuel by email via <u>e.eke@rgu.ac.uk</u>.

This survey should take about 15 minutes to complete. Your input is much appreciated.

Page 2

Section 1: Demographics

The responses to questions from this section are for understanding the composition of survey respondents.

1. Which of the following offshore regions best describes your main geographic region of operation?

- Gulf of Mexico
- O Pacific Outer Continental Shelf
- North Sea
- Offshore Africa
- \bigcirc Asian Seas
- Offshore Australia
- \bigcirc Caribbean Seas
- Offshore South America
- \bigcirc Other

1.a. If you selected Other, please specify:

2. What is your highest level of education?

- Vocational/Technical Education
- Secondary School Certificate
- Bachelor's Degree/ Diploma
- Master's Degree
- Doctorate Degree
- \bigcirc Other

2.a. If you selected Other, please specify:

3. How long have you worked in the offshore oil and gas industry?

- \bigcirc 0 3 years
- \bigcirc 4 7 years
- 8 11 years
- 12 15 years
- \bigcirc >15 years

4. Which of the following best describes your current organisation's affiliation to offshore decommissioning?

- Operator
- \bigcirc Service Company
- $\,\odot\,$ Academia and Research Organisation
- $\,\odot\,$ Government Organisation and Regulatory Body
- Interest Group
- \bigcirc Other

4.a. If you selected Other, please specify:

(5.) What aspect of offshore decommissioning would you consider yourself to be most knowledgeable about?

- □ Safety
- Environmental Impact
- Technical Feasibility
- Cost
- Public Perception
- □ None of the above

Page 3

Section 2: Comparisons and Judgements

Please use your best judgement to provide responses to the set of questions in Sections 2(A) and 2(B) with reference to a hypothetical case study platform.

A factsheet containing background information about the case study platform is first presented to provide the decision-maker with contextual knowledge of the platform and hence promote an informed opinion.

The problem hierarchy structure is also presented to show all relevant elements of the decisionmaking problem. The goal is to select the optimal decommissioning option from a list of five different options by considering five distinct decision criteria.

Please carefully go through this information before proceeding to answer the next set of questions.

Case Study Platform Factsheet

Location: Pacific Outer Continental Shelf, California						
Platform type: Fixed steel jacket structure	Water depth: 406 feet (124 metres)					
Topsides weight: 4,715 tons	Jacket weight: 8,774 tons					
Piles weight: 2,363 tons	Number of piles: 16 (8-main and 8-skirt piles)					
Conductors weight: 3,926 tons	Distance from land: 7 miles (11 kilometres)					
Year of installation: 1979 (42 years)	End of economic life?: Yes					

Problem Hierarchy Structure



Section 2(A): Criteria and Sub-Criteria Weighting

The responses to questions from this section are for assigning weights of importance to the decision criteria and sub-criteria. Note that, in order to accommodate situations where there are no differences in perceived importance, the same ranking can be assigned to up to two criteria/sub-criteria for a given question.

Illustration of the Criteria and Sub-Criteria for Decommissioning Options Selection



6. How would you rank the importance of the following criteria in determining the optimal decommissioning option for the case study? ***** *Required*

	Least Important	Less Important	Moderately Important	Highly Important	Extremely Important
Safety					
Environmental Impact					
Technical Feasibility					
Cost					
Public Perception					

7. How would you rank the importance of the following sub-criteria in assessing the SAFETY of using a decommissioning option for the case study? ***** *Required*

	Least Important	Less Important	Moderately Important	Highly Important	Extremely Important
Risk to onshore personnel					
Risk to offshore personnel					
Risk to other sea users					

8. How would you rank the importance of the following sub-criteria in assessing the ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT of using a decommissioning option for the case study? * *Required*

	Least Important	Less Important	Moderately Important	Highly Important	Extremely Important
Energy use					
Air emissions					
Waste generation					
Impacts on fish stocks					
Loss of the developed community					
Water pollution					
Physical disturbance to the seabed					
Long-term impacts					

9. How would you rank the importance of the following sub-criteria in assessing the TECHNICAL FEASIBILITY of using a decommissioning option for the case study? * *Required*

	Least Important	Less Important	Moderately Important	Highly Important	Extremely Important
Probability of a major technical failure					
Use of proven technology and equipment					
Ease of recovery from an excursion					
Logistic requirements					
Structural integrity					

10. How would you rank the importance of the following sub-criteria in assessing the FINANCIAL COST of using a decommissioning option for the case study? ***** *Required*

	Least Important	Less Important	Moderately Important	Highly Important	Extremely Important
Financial expenditure					
Revenue generation					
Future liability					

11. How would you rank the importance of the following sub-criteria in assessing the PUBLIC PERCEPTION of using a decommissioning option for the case study?

	Least Important	Less Important	Moderately Important	Highly Important	Extremely Important
Employment					
Ocean access					
Recreational use					
Tax concessions					
Page 5

Section 2(B): Decommissioning Options Scoring

The responses to questions in this section are for assigning scores to the decommissioning options for the case study platform with reference to the decision criteria. Note that no two decommissioning options can have the same ranking for a given criteria as all options are distinct.



Illustration of Differences in Removal Depth of Decommissioning Options

*The removed portion of the platform is assumed to be taken to shore for recycling, reuse or disposal for all scenarios.

12. With reference to SAFETY, how would you rate the performance of the following decommissioning options for the case study? ***** *Required*

	Worst	Poor	Medium	Good	Best
Leave in Place					
Partial Removal to 85 feet					
Partial Removal to IMO-Approved Depth					
Partial Removal to Top of Footings					
Complete Removal					

13. With reference to ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT, how would you rate the performance of the following decommissioning options for the case study? ***** *Required*

	Worst	Poor	Medium	Good	Best
Leave in Place					
Partial Removal to 85 feet					
Partial Removal to IMO-Approved Depth					
Partial Removal to Top of Footings					
Complete Removal					

14. With reference to TECHNICAL FEASIBILITY, how would you rate the performance of the following decommissioning options for the case study? ***** *Required*

	Worst	Poor	Medium	Good	Best
Leave in Place					
Partial Removal to 85 feet					
Partial Removal to IMO-Approved Depth					
Partial Removal to Top of Footings					
Complete Removal					

15. With reference to FINANCIAL COST, how would you rate the performance of the following decommissioning options for the case study? ***** *Required*

	Worst	Poor	Medium	Good	Best
Leave in Place					
Partial Removal to 85 feet					
Partial Removal to IMO-Approved Depth					
Partial Removal to Top of Footings					
Complete Removal					

16. With reference to PUBLIC PERCEPTION, how would you rate the performance of the following decommissioning options for the case study? ***** *Required*

	Worst	Poor	Medium	Good	Best
Leave in Place					
Partial Removal to 85 feet					
Partial Removal to IMO-Approved Depth					
Partial Removal to Top of Footings					
Complete Removal					

Page 6

Section 3: Additional Information

The responses to questions in this section are for gaining deeper insights into the decommissioning options selection process from offshore decommissioning experts based on their domain knowledge and expertise.

17. Suggest additional SAFETY sub-criteria that should be included in the decision support model.

18. Suggest additional ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT sub-criteria that should be included in the decision support model.

19. Suggest additional TECHNICAL FEASIBILITY sub-criteria that should be included in the decision support model.

20. Suggest additional FINANCIAL COST sub-criteria that should be included in the decision support model.

21. Suggest additional PUBLIC PERCEPTION sub-criteria that should be included in the decision support model.

Appendix 3: Likert-AHP Calculations

Pre-Processing of Likert Scale Input Data

A. Calculation of Relative Ratings (R_i/R_{i-1})

A1. Weighting of Decision Criteria							
	Rating* Relative Rating						
Safety	8.2673	-					
Environment	6.8016	0.8227					
Technical	6.4642	0.9504					
Cost	4.9862	0.7714					
Public	4.2251	0.8474					

B. Development of Suggestion Matrices**

	Decision Criteria	Safety	Environment	Technical	Cost	Public
	Safety	1.0000	1.2155	1.2789	1.6580	1.9567
	Environment	0.8227	1.0000	1.0522	1.3641	1.6098
►	Technical	0.7819	0.9504	1.0000	1.2964	1.5300
	Cost	0.6031	0.7331	0.7714	1.0000	1.1801
	Public	0.5111	0.6212	0.6536	0.8474	1.0000

A2. Scoring of Decommissioning Options*** for the Decision Criteria

-with reference to Safety

	Rating	Relative Rating
LIP	3.3994	-
PR1	4.6000	1.3532
PR2	5.2215	1.1351
PR3	4.5719	0.8756
CR	2.5315	0.5537

-with reference to Environmental Impact

	Rating	Relative Rating	
LIP	2.9022	-	
PR1	4.7194	1.6262	
PR2	5.4293	1.1504	
PR3	4.5785	0.8433	
CR	2.7756	0.6062	

Safety	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR
LIP	1.0000	0.7390	0.6511	0.7436	1.3428
PR1	1.3532	1.0000	0.8810	1.0062	1.8171
PR2	1.5360	1.1351	1.0000	1.1421	2.0626
PR3	1.3449	0.9939	0.8756	1.0000	1.8060
CR	0.7447	0.5503	0.4848	0.5537	1.0000
Environment	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR
LIP	1.0000	0.6149	0.5345	0.6339	1.0456
PR1	1.6262	1.0000	0.8692	1.0308	1.7003
PR2	1.8708	1.1504	1.0000	1.1858	1.9561
PR3	1.5776	0.9702	0.8433	1.0000	1.6496
CR	0.9564	0.5881	0.5112	0.6062	1.0000

-with reference t	o Technica	al Feasibility							
	Rating	Relative Rating		Technical	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR
LIP	5.3750	-		LIP	1.0000	0.9357	1.0157	1.4031	3.5600
PR1	5.7445	1.0688		PR1	1.0688	1.0000	1.0856	1.4996	3.8048
PR2	5.2917	0.9212	>	PR2	0.9845	0.9212	1.0000	1.3814	3.5048
PR3	3.8307	0.7239		PR3	0.7127	0.6668	0.7239	1.0000	2.5372
CR	1.5098	0.3941		CR	0.2809	0.2628	0.2853	0.3941	1.0000
-with reference t	o Cost								
	Rating	Relative Rating		Cost	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR
LIP	6.0308	-		LIP	1.0000	1.0251	1.1045	1.6550	4.5055
PR1	5.8832	0.9755		PR1	0.9755	1.0000	1.0774	1.6145	4.3953
PR2	5.4604	0.9281		PR2	0.9054	0.9281	1.0000	1.4984	4.0794
PR3	3.6441	0.6674		PR3	0.6042	0.6194	0.6674	1.0000	2.7224
CR	1.3385	0.3673		CR	0.2219	0.2275	0.2451	0.3673	1.0000
-with reference t	o Public Po	erception							
	Rating	Relative Rating		Public	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR
LIP	1.2129	-		LIP	1.0000	0.3662	0.2357	0.1830	0.1759
PR1	3.3124	2.7311		PR1	2.7311	1.0000	0.6436	0.4997	0.4804
PR2	5.1463	1.5536		PR2	4.2431	1.5536	1.0000	0.7763	0.7464
PR3	6.6289	1.2881		PR3	5.4655	2.0012	1.2881	1.0000	0.9614
CR	6.8951	1.0402		CR	5.6850	2.0816	1.3398	1.0402	1.0000

*Aggregation of the numerical equivalent of survey responses, calculated as the geometric mean of the values

**Developed from applying transitivity and reciprocity rules to the relative ratings, replaces the AHP Pairwise Comparison Matrices

***Decommissioning Options Key

LIP Leave in place

PR1 Partial removal to 85 feet

PR2 Partial removal to IMO-approved depth

PR3 Partial removal to top of footings

CR Complete removal

Synthesis of AHP Pairwise Comparisons Matrices (i.e., Suggestion Matrices)

Matrix size = 5

Standardised Matrix*

A1. AHP Matrix for Weighting of Decision Criteria

	Safety	Environment	Technical	Cost	Public
Safety	1.0000	1.2155	1.2789	1.6580	1.9567
Environment	0.8227	1.0000	1.0522	1.3641	1.6098
Technical	0.7819	0.9504	1.0000	1.2964	1.5300
Cost	0.6031	0.7331	0.7714	1.0000	1.1801
Public	0.5111	0.6212	0.6536	0.8474	1.0000
Column Total	3.7188	4.5202	4.7561	6.1659	7.2767

De	ecision Criteria	Safety	Environment	Technical	Cost	Public	Priority (Wi)**
	Safety	0.2689	0.2689	0.2689	0.2689	0.2689	0.2689
	Environment	0.2212	0.2212	0.2212	0.2212	0.2212	0.2212
	Technical	0.2103	0.2103	0.2103	0.2103	0.2103	0.2103
	Cost	0.1622	0.1622	0.1622	0.1622	0.1622	0.1622
	Public	0.1374	0.1374	0.1374	0.1374	0.1374	0.1374

A2. AHP Matrix for Scoring of Decommissioning Options*** for the Decision Criteria -with reference to Safety

	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR
LIP	1.0000	0.7390	0.6511	0.7436	1.3428
PR1	1.3532	1.0000	0.8810	1.0062	1.8171
PR2	1.5360	1.1351	1.0000	1.1421	2.0626
PR3	1.3449	0.9939	0.8756	1.0000	1.8060
CR	0.7447	0.5503	0.4848	0.5537	1.0000
Column Total	5.9787	4.4183	3.8925	4.4455	8.0285

Safety	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR	Priority (Sij)
LIP	0.1673	0.1673	0.1673	0.1673	0.1673	0.1673
PR1	0.2263	0.2263	0.2263	0.2263	0.2263	0.2263
PR2	0.2569	0.2569	0.2569	0.2569	0.2569	0.2569
PR3	0.2249	0.2249	0.2249	0.2249	0.2249	0.2249
CR	0.1246	0.1246	0.1246	0.1246	0.1246	0.1246

-with reference to Environmental Impact

	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR
LIP	1.0000	0.6149	0.5345	0.6339	1.0456
PR1	1.6262	1.0000	0.8692	1.0308	1.7003
PR2	1.8708	1.1504	1.0000	1.1858	1.9561
PR3	1.5776	0.9702	0.8433	1.0000	1.6496
CR	0.9564	0.5881	0.5112	0.6062	1.0000
Column Total	7.0309	4.3237	3.7583	4.4567	7.3516

Enviro	nment	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR	Priority (Sij)
	LIP	0.1422	0.1422	0.1422	0.1422	0.1422	0.1422
	PR1	0.2313	0.2313	0.2313	0.2313	0.2313	0.2313
	PR2	0.2661	0.2661	0.2661	0.2661	0.2661	0.2661
	PR3	0.2244	0.2244	0.2244	0.2244	0.2244	0.2244
	CR	0.1360	0.1360	0.1360	0.1360	0.1360	0.1360

-with reference to Technical Feasibility

Technical	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR	Technica	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR	Priority (Sij)
LIP	1.0000	0.9357	1.0157	1.4031	3.5600	LIF	0.2471	0.2471	0.2471	0.2471	0.2471	0.2471
PR1	1.0688	1.0000	1.0856	1.4996	3.8048	PR1	0.2641	0.2641	0.2641	0.2641	0.2641	0.2641
PR2	0.9845	0.9212	1.0000	1.3814	3.5048	PR2	0.2433	0.2433	0.2433	0.2433	0.2433	0.2433
PR3	0.7127	0.6668	0.7239	1.0000	2.5372	PR3	0.1761	0.1761	0.1761	0.1761	0.1761	0.1761
CR	0.2809	0.2628	0.2853	0.3941	1.0000	CR	0.0694	0.0694	0.0694	0.0694	0.0694	0.0694
Column Total	4.0468	3.7865	4.1106	5.6783	14.4068							
-with reference t	o Cost											
Cost	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR	Cost	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR	Priority (Sij)
LIP	1.0000	1.0251	1.1045	1.6550	4.5055	LIF	0.2697	0.2697	0.2697	0.2697	0.2697	0.2697
PR1	0.9755	1.0000	1.0774	1.6145	4.3953	PR1	0.2631	0.2631	0.2631	0.2631	0.2631	0.2631
PR2	0.9054	0.9281	1.0000	1.4984	4.0794	→ PR2	0.2442	0.2442	0.2442	0.2442	0.2442	0.2442
PR3	0.6042	0.6194	0.6674	1.0000	2.7224	PR3	0.1630	0.1630	0.1630	0.1630	0.1630	0.1630
CR	0.2219	0.2275	0.2451	0.3673	1.0000	CR	0.0599	0.0599	0.0599	0.0599	0.0599	0.0599
Column Total	3.7071	3.8001	4.0944	6.1352	16.7027							
-with reference t	o Public Perc	eption										
Public	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR	Public	LIP	PR1	PR2	PR3	CR	Priority (Sij)
LIP	1.0000	0.3662	0.2357	0.1830	0.1759	LIF	0.0523	0.0523	0.0523	0.0523	0.0523	0.0523
PR1	2.7311	1.0000	0.6436	0.4997	0.4804	PR1	0.1428	0.1428	0.1428	0.1428	0.1428	0.1428
PR2	4.2431	1.5536	1.0000	0.7763	0.7464	► PR2	0.2219	0.2219	0.2219	0.2219	0.2219	0.2219
PR3	5.4655	2.0012	1.2881	1.0000	0.9614	PR3	0.2858	0.2858	0.2858	0.2858	0.2858	0.2858
CR	5.6850	2.0816	1.3398	1.0402	1.0000	CR	0.2973	0.2973	0.2973	0.2973	0.2973	0.2973
Column Total	19.1248	7.0026	4.5072	3.4992	3.3641							

*Calculated for each cell in the standardised matrix by dividing the corresponding cell value in the AHP pairwise matrix by its column total

**Calculated for each row in the standardised matrix as the average of row values

***Decommissioning Options Key

- LIP Leave in place
- PR1 Partial removal to 85 feet
- PR2 Partial removal to IMO-approved depth
- PR3 Partial removal to top of footings
- CR Complete removal

<u> </u>	C . I		~	(-		• • •
Calculation	of the	Weighted	Scores	of Deco	mmissioning	Options

			Leave in P	lace	Partial Rei	moval - 85ft	Partial Rei	moval - IMO	Partial Rer Footings	noval - Top of	Complete	Removal
Decision Criteria	Weight of Importance (Wi)	Criteria Option	Option score (S _{ij})	Weighted score (W _i S _{ij})	Option score (S _{ij})	Weighted score (W _i S _{ij})	Option score (S _{ij})	Weighted score (W _i S _{ij})	Option score (Sij)	Weighted score (W _i S _{ij})	Option score (Sij)	Weighted score (W _i S _{ij})
Safety	0.269	Safety	0.167	0.045	0.226	0.061	0.257	0.069	0.225	0.060	0.125	0.033
Environment	0.221	Environment	0.142	0.031	0.231	0.051	0.266	0.059	0.224	0.050	0.136	0.030
Technical	0.210	Technical	0.247	0.052	0.264	0.056	0.243	0.051	0.176	0.037	0.069	0.015
Cost	0.162	Cost	0.270	0.044	0.263	0.043	0.244	0.040	0.163	0.026	0.060	0.010
Public	0.137	Public	0.052	0.007	0.143	0.020	0.222	0.030	0.286	0.039	0.297	0.041

		Weighted					
		Score					
Total	1.000	$\sum (W_i S_{ij})$	0.1793	0.2299	0.2492	0.2129	0.1287

Appendix 4: Calculated Sub-Criteria Weights for the Case Study

Decision Criteria	Sub-Criteria	Local Priority	Local Rank
Safety	Risk to onshore personnel	0.3037	3
	Risk to offshore personnel	0.3876	1
	Risk to other sea users	0.3088	2
Environmental	Energy use	0.0938	8
Impact	Air emissions	0.1120	5
	Waste generation	0.1328	3
	Impacts on fish stocks	0.1229	4
	Loss of the developed community	0.1098	6
	Water pollution	0.1717	1
	Physical disturbance to seabed	0.0953	7
	Long-term impacts	0.1617	2
Technical Feasibility	Probability of a major technical failure	0.2687	1
	Use of proven technology and equipment	0.1839	3
	Ease of recovery from excursion	0.1722	4
	Logistic requirement	0.1446	5
	Structural integrity	0.2305	2
Cost	Financial expenditure	0.4030	1
	Revenue generation	0.2091	3
	Future liability	0.3879	2
Public Perception*	-	-	-

* No suitable sub-criteria were identified from the literature for this criterion.

Appendix 5: Questionnaire for Validation of Decommissioning Decision Model Logical Structure

Part A: Details of Respondent

Profession:	
Academic	
Qualification:	
Current	Job
Designation:	
Years	of
Decommissio	ning-
Related	Work
Experience:	

Section B: Responses

Question	Options	Tick/Comment as
		Appropriate
Does the model address an important issue in offshore decommissioning?	 a) Yes, quite significant b) Yes, but not significant 	
	 c) No, would make no difference 	
	 d) Not sure of its significance 	
	Comments (if any):	
Accuracy: How closely do	a) Very close	
the obtained results match what, in your best	b) Slightly close	
knowledge, would have been	c) Not close	
obtained from evaluating	d) Not sure of the match	
decommissioning options for the case study?	Comments (if any):	

Completeness: How	a) Very complete	
complete is the model's flow process with respect to the problem it seeks to solve?	 b) Somewhat complete c) Incomplete d) Not sure of its completeness Comments (if any): 	
Comprehensibility: Do you	a) Yes	
think the model simple,	b) No	
clear, and easy to	Comments (if any):	
little or no practical		
difficulties?		
Cost-effectiveness: What is	a) Would be too	
your opinion on the	implement	
resources needed to	 b) Benefits of using the model justifies 	
implement the model in	any resource	
actual decommissioning	requirements	
projects?		
Please provide any other	Comment (if any):	
comments that you have on		
the model or suggestions for		
its improvement		

Thank you very much for your time.

NB: Confidentiality and anonymity are guaranteed as no personal data will be publicly divulged. All information collected will conform to the University's Human Research Ethical procedure.

Appendix 6: Decommissioning Options Costs for Platforms in Pacific Outer Continental Shelf, California

Platform_Name	Complete_Removal _(\$)	Partial_Removal_to_85ft _(\$)	Partial_Removal_to _IMO_Depth_(\$)	Partial_Removal_to_Top _of_Footings(\$)	Leave_in_Place _(\$)
A	44,170,000	35,350,000	42,860,000	34,190,000	29,900,000
В	39,470,000	30,830,000	38,190,000	29,810,000	25,620,000
С	38,350,000	30,460,000	37,160,000	29,680,000	26,280,000
Edith	45,080,000	41,000,000	45,080,000	38,270,000	35,310,000
Ellen	46,170,000	38,090,000	41,690,000	40,220,000	32,630,000
Elly	42,900,000	38,780,000	40,380,000	39,730,000	36,390,000
Eureka	132,100,000	72,010,000	80,550,000	119,060,000	61,160,000
Gail	116,260,000	61,680,000	68,350,000	105,130,000	52,750,000
Gilda	59,880,000	52,970,000	57,440,000	52,440,000	46,330,000
Gina	26,320,000	25,990,000	26,320,000	26,320,000	23,700,000
Grace	55,860,000	45,050,000	48,410,000	49,670,000	39,790,000
Habitat	45,610,000	39,590,000	41,600,000	41,710,000	36,300,000
Harmony	190,000,000	70,170,000	78,510,000	175,480,000	58,350,000
Harvest	112,620,000	64,320,000	70,910,000	101,720,000	55,600,000
Henry	35,490,000	33,130,000	35,490,000	32,090,000	30,120,000
Heritage	172,320,000	71,130,000	78,410,000	158,480,000	59,960,000
Hermosa	109,230,000	62,850,000	70,380,000	97,350,000	53,290,000
Hidalgo	88,670,000	61,260,000	67,700,000	78,190,000	52,980,000
Hillhouse	40,170,000	31,650,000	39,040,000	30,660,000	26,610,000
Hogan	38,400,000	35,280,000	38,400,000	32,780,000	30,330,000
Hondo	108,350,000	64,320,000	68,960,000	100,540,000	57,960,000
Houchin	37,540,000	34,320,000	37,540,000	32,340,000	29,730,000
Irene	48,950,000	42,040,000	45,130,000	43,170,000	37,190,000

Appendix 7: Python Script for Machine Learning Model Development from Cost Data with Gradient Boosting Algorithm

```
# -*- coding: utf-8 -*-
#Gradient Boosting Regression
#Importing the Libraries
import numpy as np
import matplotlib.pyplot as plt
import pandas as pd
from sklearn import ensemble
from sklearn.multioutput import MultiOutputRegressor
from sklearn.model selection import LeaveOneOut
#Importing the dataset
dataset = pd.read csv("Decom Data2.csv")
X = dataset.iloc[:, [1,3,4]].values
y cost = dataset.iloc[:, 5:10].values
#Executing Leave-One-Out Cross-Validation
loo = LeaveOneOut()
loo.get n splits(X)
predictions = []
for train_index, test_index in loo.split(X):
    X_train, X_test = X[train_index], X[test_index]
    y_cost_train, y_cost_test = y_cost[train_index], y_cost[test_index]
    regressor = ensemble.GradientBoostingRegressor(random state = 0)
    regressor = MultiOutputRegressor(regressor)
    regressor.fit(X train, y cost train)
    y pred = regressor.predict(X test)
    predictions.extend(y pred)
predictions = np.array(predictions)
#Assigning variable names to the decommissioning options costs
#Complete Removal
CR = predictions[:, 0]
#Partial Removal to 85ft
PR1 = predictions[:, 1]
#Partial Removal to IMO-approved Depth (55m/180ft)
PR2 = predictions[:, 2]
#Partial Removal to Top of Footings
PR3 = predictions[:, 3]
#Leave in Place
LIP = predictions[:, 4]
#Evaluating the Accuracy of Model Predictions
#Quantitative Model Evaluation
#Calculating R-Squared and Adjusted R-Squared Values
from sklearn.metrics import r2 score
rsquared = r2 score(y cost, predictions, multioutput='variance weighted')
print('R-Squared Value: %.3f' % rsquared)
Adj_rsquared= 1 - (1-rsquared) * (len(y_cost)-1)/(len(y_cost)-X.shape[1]-1)
print('Adjusted R-Squared Value: %.3f' % Adj rsquared)
#Calculating MAPE
MAPE = np.mean(np.abs((y cost - predictions)/y cost))*100
print('Mean Absolute Percentage Error: %.3f' % MAPE, "\b%")
```

```
#Graphical Model Evaluation
#Crossplotting actual vs predicted decommissioning options costs
model="Gradient Boosting Regression"
plt.figure(figsize=(15,10))
plt.rcParams["font.weight"] ="bold"
plt.rcParams["axes.labelweight"] ="bold"
plt.scatter(CR, y cost[:, 0], marker='x', label='Complete Removal')
plt.scatter(PR1, y_cost[:, 1], marker='8', label='Partial Removal to 85ft')
plt.scatter(PR2, y_cost[:, 2], marker='P', label='Partial Removal to IMO')
plt.scatter(PR3, y_cost[:, 3], marker='*', label='Partial Removal to ToF')
plt.scatter(LIP, y_cost[:, 4], marker='X', label='Leave in Place')
plt.title(model,fontweight = 'bold', fontsize = 20, loc='center')
plt.xlabel('Actual Cost ($)', fontweight = 'bold', fontsize = 18)
plt.ylabel('Predicted Cost ($)', fontweight = 'bold', fontsize = 18)
plt.legend(fontsize = 16, loc='lower right')
plt.xlim(left=0, right=2E8)
plt.ylim(bottom=0, top=2E8)
plt.plot([0, 2E8], [0, 2E8])
plt.savefig(model, bbox_inches = 'tight')
plt.show()
#Predicting Decommissioning Options Costs for the Case Study platform
features = [[43, 11137, 406]]
costs = regressor.predict(features)
print('The cost of decommissioning the platform with', "\n",
         'Complete Removal: $', costs[0,0], "\n",
         'Partial Removal to 85 Feet: $', costs[0,1], "\n",
         'Partial Removal to IMO Depth: $', costs[0,2], "\n",
         'Partial Removal to Top of Footings: $', costs[0,3], "\n",
         'Leave in Place: $', costs[0,4])
```

Appendix 8: Glossary

A _i	Weighted score of decommissioning option i			
BTC _i	Benefit-to-cost ratio of decommissioning option i			
CI	Consistency index			
Cost _i	Financial expenditure from using decommissioning option i for a project			
CR	Consistency ratio			
CR_X	Cost incurred in project phase x when decommissioning the platform with a Complete Removal option			
E _{ij}	Value of the element in cell in row i and column j of matrix E			
f (Substructure weight, water depth, platform age) Mathematical function whic				
	requires as argument the			
	substructure weight, water depth			
	and age of the platform to be			

decommissioned.

J Number of judgements for populating a matrix

MAPE Mean Absolute Percentage Error

- *n* Number of elements in a comparison matrix
- *NMAX*_i Maximum scaled value of parameter i
- *NMIN_i* Minimum scaled value of parameter i
- *NPV*_i Net present value of decommissioning option i
- *OMAX*_i Maximum actual value of parameter i
- *OMIN*_i Minimum actual value of parameter i
- *P* Priority vector
- PR_X Cost incurred in project phase x when decommissioning the platform with a partial removal option
- *R*² Coefficient of determination
- R^{2}_{adj} Adjusted coefficient of determination

RI_n	Random	index	number
11			

- RM_X Cost avoided in project phase x due to leaving some residual materials
- *Score*_{*i*,*j*} Performance score of decommissioning option i, with reference to criterion (or sub-criteria) j
- *S_{ij}* Performance rating or Score of decommissioning option i with reference to criterion j
- *U_i* Scaled value of element i
- *V* Actual value of a parameter
- *V'* Scaled value of a parameter
- %*Weight* Factor which represents the weight proportions of the platform components
- *X*_{best} Best possible value of element i
- *X_i* Actual value of element i
- *X_s* Scaled value of parameter X
- *X_{worst}* Worst possible value of element i
- W_j Weight of importance of criterion j

Greek Symbols

- $\epsilon_{i,i}$ Error term which accounts for noise and randomness in the data.
- λ_{max} Maximum eigenvalue

Appendix 9: Publications

- 1. EKE, E., IYALLA, I., ANDRAWUS, J. and PRABHU, R., 2020. Optimising Offshore Structures Decommissioning-A Multicriteria Decision Approach. In: *SPE Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition*. OnePetro.
- 2. EKE, E., IYALLA, I., ANDRAWUS, J. and PRABHU, R., 2021. Optimisation of Offshore Structures Decommissioning–Cost Considerations. In: *SPE Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition*. OnePetro.
- 3. EKE, E., IYALLA, I., ANDRAWUS, J. and PRABHU, R., 2022. Investigating Decommissioning Options Selection: A Survey-Driven Approach. In: *Structures in the Marine Environment 2022, Edinburgh.*